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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC

PART

Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the Safe Harbor Provision of the Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995

Forward-Looking Statements

All dollar amounts are in thousands unless otherwise indicated

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe harbor for forward-looking statements

we make- We may from time to time make written or verbal forward-looking statements Generally the

inclusion of the words believe expect intend estimate anticipate will guidance forecast

plan outlook and similar expressions in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC
in our press releases and in oral statements made by our representatives identify statements that constitute

forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the

Securities Act and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act and

are intended to come within the safe harbor protection provided by those sections The forward-looking

statements are based upon managements current views and assumptions regarding future events and operating

performance and are applicable only as of the dates of such statements We undertake no obligation to update or

revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

By their nature forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainties that could cause our actual results

to differ materially from anticipated results Examples of forward-looking statements include but are not limited

to

projections of revenues cost of raw materials income or loss earnings or loss per share capital

expenditures growth prospects dividends the effect of currency translations capital structure and

other financial items

statements of plans strategies and objectives made by our management or board of directors including

the introduction of new products cost savings initiatives or estimates or predictions of actions by

customers suppliers competitors or regulating authorities

statements of future economic performance and

statements regarding the ability to obtain amendments under our debt agreements or to obtain

additional funding in the future

We caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements Factors that could cause

actual results to differ materially from these forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those

factors discussed under Item IA Risk Factors Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Conditions and Results of Operations and Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data and the

following general factors

our ability to maintain and generate liquidity to meet our operating needs as well as our ability to fund

and implement business strategies acquisitions and restructuring plans

the fact that lead major constituent in most of our products experiences significant fluctuations in

market price and is hazardous material that may give rise to costly environmental and safety claims

our debt service requirements which may restrict our operational and financial flexibility as well as

impose significant interest and financing costs

restrictive loan covenants may impact our ability to operate our business and pursue business

strategies

the litigation proceedings to which we are subject or may in the future become subject to the results of

which could have material adverse effect on us and our business



our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on our variable debt

the realization of the tax benefits of our net operating loss carry forwards which is dependent upon

future taxahle income and which are subject to limitation as result of changes in ownership of the

Company

our ability to successfully pass along increased material costs to our customers

failure of our customers to renew supply agreements

competitiveness of the battery markets in North America Europe and Asia

the substantial management time and financial and other resources needed for the consolidation and

rationalization of acquired entities

political economic and social changes or acts of terrorism or war

successful collective bargaining with our unionized workforce

risks involved in our foreign operations such as disruption of markets changes in import and export

laws currency restrictions currency exchange rate fluctuations and possible terrorist attacks against the

United States interests

we may have additional impairment charges

our ability to acquire goods and services and/or fulfill labor needs at budgeted costs

economic conditions or market changes in certain market sectors in which we conduct business

uncertainty in financial markets

our success or timing of new product development

impact of any changes in our management

changes in our product mix

success of productivity initiatives including rationalizations relocations or consolidations

costs of our compliance with environmental laws and regulations and resulting liabilities and

our ability to protect our proprietary intellectual property and technology

Reportable Segments

The Companys sole business segment is the Standby Power Division

Item Business

Overview

CD Technologies Inc together with its operating subsidiaries we the Company our or CD
is leading manufacturer marketer and distributor of electrical power storage systems for the standby power

storage market We primarily manufacture and market integrated reserve power systems and components for the

standby power market which include telecommunications unintenuptible power supply UPS cable services

and utilities and renewable energies Integrated reserve power systems monitor and regulate electric power flow

and provide backup power in the event of primary power loss or interruption We also produce the individual

components of these systems including reserve batteries power rectifiers system monitors power boards and

chargers Major applications of these products include wireless and wirelinc telephone infrastructurc cable

television CATV signal powering corporate data center powering computer network backup for use during

power outages and renewable energy integration

We market our products through independent manufacturers representatives national and global

distributors specialty resellers and our own sales personnel to end users and original equipment manufactures

OEMs



Recent Developments

On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the

Companys common stock par value $01 per share Common Stock from 75000000 to 600000000 and to

effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of Common Stock would be combined and

reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having been determined by the Board of Directors

of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock were

increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share outstanding

On December 23 2010 we announced that CD had completed its offers to exchange the Exchange

Offer its outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 the 2006 Notes and 5.25% Convertible

Senior Notes due 2025 the 2005 Notes and together with the 2006 Notes the Notes for Common Stock on

the terms and subject to the conditions in CDs effective registration statement on Form S-4 File No 333-

170056 as amended the Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933

Approximately 98.91% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2005 Notes and approximately

97.62% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate of approximately 97.99% of

the outstanding principal of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with the terms set forth therein at 1159 PM EST on December 20

2010 The consummation of the Exchange Offer was conditioned upon among other things at least 95% of the

aggregate principal amount of the Notes being tendered and not withdrawn In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split described herein In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split described herein

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that our

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to effect reverse stock split of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of the Company at reverse stock split ratio of l-for-35 and ii to

decrease the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common Stock from 600000000 to 25000000

The reverse stock split was effective on March 14 2011 As result of the reverse stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares

outstanding All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented was initially adjusted

retrospectively to reflect the forward stock split and has since been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the reverse

stock split

History

We were organized in 1985 to acquire all the assets of CD Power Systems Division of Allied Corporation

which along with its predecessors had been manufacturing batteries for more than 50 years We have global

manufacturing platform with plants located in the United States Mexico and China and sell our products globally

to thousands of customers We have become one of the largest providers of lead acid batteries used in standby

power systems in North America

During fiscal year 2002 we sold our Power Electronics Division and certain assets of our Motive Power

Division Our business is now focused on the standby power market

We primarily manufacture market and distribute lead acid batteries and standby power systems that

integrate lead acid batteries with electronic components which are used to provide backup or standby power for

electrical equipment in the event of power loss from the primary power source Our broad product offering

includes flooded lead acid batteries flooded valve-regulated lead acid VRLA batteries large format



lithium battery systems and power rectifiers and other related power distribution and monitoring equipment

Standby power systems are used in UPS systems wireless and wireline telecommunications CATY systems

utilities and other applications

To meet the needs of our customers we sell our batteries and other standby power systems components in

wide variety of sizes configurations and electrical capacities Specifically we sell lead acid batteries in two

broad categories flooded and VRLA Flooded batteries which require periodic watering and maintenance are

typically used in UPS telecommunications and utility applications VRLA or sealed batteries which are often

smaller and require less maintenance are used in wireless cell sites CATV systems corporate data centers and

computer networks and other applications Power rectifiers convert or rectify external AC power into DC

power at the required level and quality of voltage necessary to constantly charge the standby battery or recharge

renewable energy storage battery Our batteries and standby power systems are marketed and sold under the

DYNASTY MAXRATE msENDUR LIBERTY and SAGEON brands

Fiscal Year Reporting

Our fiscal year ends on the last day of January Any references to fiscal year means the 12-month period

ending January 31 of the fiscal year mentioned Dollar amounts included herein in Item are presented in

thousands unless otherwise indicated

Products and Customers

We primarily manufacture and market integrated reserve power systems and components for the standby

power market which includes telecommunications UPS military cable utilities nuclear power plant

renewahle energy pipeline oil and gas
and other process industries Integrated reserve power systems monitor

and regulate electric power flow and provide backup power in the event of primary power loss or interruption

We also produce the individual components of these systems including reserve batteries power rectifiers

system monitors power boards and chargers Major applications of these products include wireless and wireline

telephone infrastructure CATV signal powering corporate data center network backup for use during power

outages and power for utility switching stations during periods of power interruption Our customers include

industry-leading OEMs broadband and telecommunications providers large investor owned utilities as well as

large end user customers across all industries including banking retail healthcare and manufacturing

We primarily manufacture lead acid batteries for use in reserve power systems We sell these batteries in

wide range of sizes and configurations in two broad categories

flooded batteries and

VRLA sealed type

Flooded batteries require periodic watering and maintenance VRLA batteries require less maintenance and

are often smaller

To meet the needs of our customers our reserve power systems include wide range of power electronics

products consisting principally of power rectifiers and distribution and monitoring equipment Our power

rectifiers convert or rectify external AC power into DC power at the required level and quality of voltage

necessary to constantly charge reserve battery or recharge the renewable
energy storage battery For

installations with end applications that require varied power levels from l2Amps to 6000Amps our power

control and distribution equipment distributes the rectified power for each of the applications

UPS We produce batteries for UPS systems which provide instant battery backup in the event of primary

power loss or interruption thereby permitting an orderly shutdown of equipment or continued operation for

limited period of time until another power source comes back on-line We offer distinct product families to meet

the needs and requirements of this growing industry Our DYNASTY High Rate Max VRLA Series batteries



have been engineered specifically for UPS applications and deliver extended life and improved runtime in the

same space as alternatives while complying with rigorous industry standards Our flooded XT products are

utilized for large system backup in major data centers and critical 24/7 applications As critical component

supplier to overall power backup solutions we continue to work closely with major global UPS OEMs to design

cost-effective reliable products to meet customer expectations

Telecommunications As with UPS we produce battery solutions to fill the many application needs of

todays telecommunications industry Designed specifically for our telecommunications customers need for long

life and extended runtime our flooded MCTTM and LCTTM family of products have become the battery of choice

for central office and critical back up applications With the addition of our facility in Reynosa Mexico in fiscal

year 2004 we have added the VRLA MSEM and msENDUR II family of products designed for wireless

applications as well as other applications for non-flooded requirements In addition our CD Tel Series VRLA

Long Duration batteries are designed to Telcordia standards an independent standards and testing company for

telecommunications systems to meet the demanding requirements of telecommunications applications These

batteries operate in wide variety of environmental conditions meet prolonged run time needs so as to maintain

operations during power loss and protect sophisticated electronics equipment Our telecommunications customers

use the majority of our standby power products in applications such as central telephone exchanges microwave

relay stations private branch exchange PBX systems and wireless telephone systems Our major

telecommunications customers include national long distance companies competitive local exchange carriers

wireline and wireless system operators paging systems and PBX telephone locations using fiber optic

microwave transmission or traditional copper-wired systems

CA TV Signal Powering and Broadband DYNASTY Broadband Series batteries are designed for

demanding standby float applications in abusive environments These batteries have been designed to offer the

best combination of run time and service life for CATV signal powering and broadband applications Our gelled

electrolyte technology provides excellent heat transfer properties which enable these batteries to perform in high

temperature environments Unlike other competitive gel technologies the DYNASTY Broadband Series does

not require cycling subsequent to delivery to meet 100% of rated capacity Our DYNASTY Broadband Series

of batteries is considered the market leader for CATV powering in North America

Modular Power Plants We offer several modular power plants which are type of integrated reserve

power system These products which are referred to as the SAGEON Series Power Plant integrate advanced

rectifiers with virtually maintenance-free valve-regulated batteries These plants are designed to fit virtually any

application that demands stable reliable and easily expandable DC power

Equipment for Electric Utilities Industrial Control Applications and Renewable Energy Applications We

produce rectifiers batteries and integrated systems used in reserve power and energy storage systems for

switchgear and instrumentation control systems used in electric utilities industrial control and renewable energy

applications These power systems provide auxiliary power that enables fossil fuel hydro and nuclear power

generating stations switching substations offshore platforms and other industrial control facilities to be shut

down in an orderly fashion during emergencies or power failures until power source comes back on-line as

well as providing storage medium to enable renewable energy resources to be aligned with demand

Sales Installation and Servicing

The sales installation and servicing of certain products are performed through our networks of independent

manufacturers representatives located around the world Most of our independent manufacturers representatives

or contractors in the case of installation or service operate under contracts providing for compensation on

commission basis or as distributor with product purchased for resale

In addition to these networks of independent manufacturers representatives and distributors we employ

internal sales management consisting of regional sales managers account specific sales persons and product



market specialists The regional sales managers are each responsible for managing number of independent

manufacturers representatives and distributors for developing long-term relationships with large end users

OEMs and national accounts

We have internal product management and marketing personnel to manage the development of new

products from the initial concept definition and management approval stages through the engineering production

and sales processes They are also responsible for applications engineering technical training of sales

representatives and the marketing communications function

We maintain branch sales and service facilities in North America Europe and Asia with the support of our

headquarters personnel and have business relationships with sales representatives and distributors throughout the

world

One of our customers Emerson Electric Company and Subsidiaries accounted for 9.4% 12.9% and 17.4%

of our net sales for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively We typically sell our

products with terms requiring payment in full within 30 days We warrant our battery products for various

periods of time depending on the type of product and its application The longest warranties for periods up to 20

years generally are applicable to flooded standby power batteries

Backlog

The level of unfilled orders at any given date during the fiscal year may be materially affected by the timing

and product mix of orders customer requirements and taking into account considerations of manufacturing

capacity and flexibility the speed with which we fill those orders Period-to-period comparisons may not be

meaningful Occasionally orders may be canceled by the customer prior to shipment

Our order backlog at March 31 2011 and 2010 from North American operations was $36441 and $37976

respectively We expect to fill virtually all of the March 31 2011 backlog orders during fiscal year 2012

Manufacturing and Raw Materials

We manufacture our products at four domestic plants one plant in China and one plant in Mexico We
manufacture most key product lines at single focused plant in order to optimize manufacturing efficiency asset

management and quality control

The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of our products include lead steel copper plastics

printed circuit boards and electronic components all of which are generally available from multiple suppliers

We use number of suppliers to satisfy our raw materials needs

International Organization for Standardization ISO certification assures customers that our internal

processes and systems meet internationally recognized standards We are ISO 90012000 standard certified at the

majority of our locations

Competition

The standby power market is highly competitive and has experienced substantial consolidation both among

competitors who manufacture and sell Standby Power batteries and among customers who purchase standby

power batteries Our competitors range from start up companies to major domestic and international

corporations We also compete with other energy storage technologies

Our products compete on the basis of

product quality and reliability

technology

reputation



value

delivery capability and

customer service

We offer competitive pricing and highly value our relationships with our customers In addition we believe

that we have certain competitive advantages in specific product lines

We believe that we are one of the largest producers in the standby power market in North America We
believe that the ability to provide single source for design engineering manufacturing and service is an

important element in our competitive position We compete with Exide Technologies Exide Enersys East

Penn Manufacturing NorthStar and FIAMM amongst others in the standby power market

When lead prices rise certain of our battery competitors that own smelting operations may have lower lead

costs than ours However when lead prices decline the high fixed costs associated with these operations may

provide us with cost advantage

Research and Development

Research and development expenses from operations for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and

2009 were $6487 $7555 and $6940 respectively

We maintain extensive technology departments concentrating on electrochemical and electronics

technologies We focus on

research into lead-acid and other energy storage technologies

design and development of new products

development and improvement of existing products

sustaining engineering

production engineering including quality testing and managing the changes in production capacity

and

evaluation of competitive products including alternative chemistries

During fiscal year 2010 CD established research and development center in our Shanghai facility

focused on serving the rapidly expanding market for power storage in Asia This center complements our

extensive RD resources in North America

variety of new products were released in fiscal year 2011 including several private label products for use

in cycling and heavy duty anti-idling markets and the HC and MSE lines of 2V VRLA products The

LIBERTY HC line designed and developed in our new Shanghai RD center is intended for the demanding

requirements of telecommunication systems in areas with unreliable AC power and high ambient temperatures

The MSE line also developed in Shanghai is designed for UPS applications in controlled temperature

environments

In addition to new product launches the RD organization also reviews the designs of existing products

Several of these products were redesigned to improve material efficiencies and increase power output and to

incorporate new more cost effective and efficient components The organization also works with customers and

end users to develop solutions for faster and more reliable installation and startup of battery and electronic

products



Additionally the organization strives to partner with companies and organizations that can potentially

provide breakthrough technologies for our existing and new markets We established number of such

arrangements during fiscal year 2011

International Operations

Along with our domestic manufacturing facilities we have international manufacturing facilities in China

and Mexico Our 67% joint venture facility in Shanghai China manufactures industrial batteries that are sold

primarily in China Europe and the Middle East International sales accounted for 28% 24% and 19% of net sales

for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Patents and Trademarks

We own and license certain patents and trademarks that we consider to be of importance to our business

However we believe that the growth of our business will depend primarily upon the quality and reliability of our

products and our relationships with our customers rather than the extent of our patent and trademark protection

While we believe that patents and trademarks are important to our business the loss of any single or several

patents or trademarks would not have material adverse effect on our Company The principal trademarks of the

Company which we regard as being of substantial value in the marketing of our products include CD CD
TECHNOLOGIES CD TECHNOLOGIES POWER SOLUTIONS DYNASTY LIBERTYLIBERTY
SERIES MAXRATE msENDUR and SAGEON

Employees

On January 31 2011 we employed approximately 1500 people Of these employees approximately 1100

were employed in manufacturing and approximately 400 were employed in field sales technology

manufacturing support sales support marketing and administrative activities Our management considers our

employee relations to be satisfactory Employees at two North American plants are represented by two different

unions under collective bargaining agreements

Environmental Regulations

Our operations are subject to extensive and evolving environmental laws and regulations regarding the

clean-up and protection of the environment worker health and safety and the protection of third parties These

laws and regulations include but are not limited to the following

requirements relating to the handling storage use and disposal of lead and other hazardous materials

used in manufacturing processes and contained in solid wastes

record keeping and periodic reporting to governmental entities regarding the use and disposal of

hazardous materials

monitoring and permitting of air emissions and water discharge and

monitoring worker exposure to hazardous substances in the workplace and protecting workers from

impermissible exposure to hazardous substances including lead used in our manufacturing process

We operate under comprehensive environmental health and safety compliance program which is headed

by an environmental director and staffed with trained environmental professionals As part of our program we

prepare environmental and health and safety practice manuals and policies

conduct employee training

develop and implement waste minimization initiatives

undertake periodic internal and oversee external audits of our operations and environmental and health

and safety programs



practice and engage in routine sampling and monitoring of employee chemical and physical exposure

levels

engage in sampling and monitoring of potential points of environmental emissions and

prepare andlor review internal reports to regulatory bodies and interface with them regarding

environmental safety and other issues

In addition we also have installed certain pollution abatement equipment to reduce emissions and

discharges of regulated pollutants into the environment Our program monitors and seeks to resolve potential

environmental liabilities that result from or may arise from current and historic hazardous materials handling

and waste disposal practices We have spent product recapture and recycling program in place for our facilities

and our customers

While we believe that we are in material compliance with the applicable environmental requirements we

have received and in the future may receive citations and notices from governmental regulatory authorities that

certain of our operations are not in compliance with our permits or applicable environmental requirements

Occasionally we are required to pay penalty or fine to install control technology or to make equipment or

process changes or combination thereof as result of the non-compliance or changing regulatory

requirements When we become aware of any non-compliance or change in regulatory requirements we take

immediate steps to correct and resolve the issues To date the costs associated therewith have not had material

adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations

Notwithstanding our efforts to maintain compliance with applicable environmental requirements if injury or

damage to persons or the environment arises from hazardous substances used generated or disposed of in the

conduct of our business or that of predecessor to the extent we are not indemnified therefor we may be held

liable for certain damages the costs of investigation and remediation and fines and penalties which could have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations However under the terms of

the purchase agreement with Allied Coijoration Allied for the acquisition the Acquisition of them the

Acquisition Agreement Allied was obligated to indemnify us for any liabilities of this type resulting from

conditions existing at January 28 1986 that were not disclosed by Allied to us in the schedules to the

Acquisition Agreement These obligations have since been assumed by Allieds successor in interest Honeywell

Honeywell

We are participating in the investigation of contamination at several lead smelting facilities Third Party

Facilities to which we allegedly made scrap lead shipments for reclamation prior to the date of the Acquisition

Pursuant to 1996 Site Participation Agreement as later amended in 2000 we and several other potentially

responsible parties PRPs agreed upon cost sharing allocation for performance of remedial activities

required by the United States Environmental Protection Agency EPA Administrative Order Consent Decree

entered for the design and remediation phases at the former NL Industries site in Pedricktown New Jersey Third

Party Facility In April 2002 one of the original PRPs Exide filed for relief under Chapter II of Title 11 of the

United States Code In August 2002 Exide notified the other PRPs that it would no longer be taking an active

role in any further action at the site and discontinued its financial participation resulting in pro rata increase in

the cost participation of the other PRPs including us for which our allocated share rose from 5.25% to 7.79%

In August 2002 we were notified of our involvement as PRP at NL Industries Inc.s NL Atlanta

Northside Drive Superfund site NL and Norfolk Southern Railway Company have been conducting removal

action on the site preliminary to remediation We along with other PRPs continue to negotiate with NL at this

site regarding our share of the allocated liability

We have terminated operations at our Huguenot New York facility and have completed facility

decontamination and disposal of chemicals and hazardous wastes remaining at the facility following termination



of operations in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements We are also aware of the existence of soil

and groundwater contamination at the Huguenot New York facility which is expected to require expenditures

for further investigation and remediation The Company is currently investigating the presence of lead

contamination in soils at and adjacent to the facility Additionally the site is listed by the New York State

Department of Environmental Conservation NYSDEC on its registry of inactive hazardous waste disposal

sites due to the presence of fluoride and other contaminants in and underlying lagoon used by the former owner

of this site Avnet Inc for disposal of wastewater Contamination is present at concentrations that exceed state

groundwater standards In 2002 the NYSDEC issued Record of Decision ROD for the soil remediation

portion of the site ROD for the ground water portion has not yet been issued by the NYSDEC In 2005 the

NYSDEC also requested that the parties engage in Feasibility Study which the parties have conducted in

accordance with NYSDEC approved work plan In February 2000 we filed suit against Avnet Inc and in

December 2006 the parties executed settlement agreement which provides for cost sharing arrangement with

Avnet Inc bearing majority of the future costs associated with the investigation and remediation of the lagoon-

related contamination

We together with Johnson Controls Inc JCI are conducting an assessment and remediation of

contamination at and near our facility in Milwaukee Wisconsin The majority of the on-site soil remediation

portion of this project was completed as of October 2001 Under the purchase agreement with JCI we are

responsible for one-half of the cost of the on-site assessment and remediation with maximum liability of

$1750 ii any environmental liabilities at the facility that are not remediated as part of the ongoing clean-up

project and iii environmental liabilities for any new claims made after the fifth anniversary of the closing i.e

March 2004 that arise from migration from pre-closing condition at the Milwaukee facility to locations other

than the Milwaukee facility but specifically excluding liabilities relating to pre-closing off-site disposal JCI

retained the environmental liability for the off-site assessment and remediation of lead In March 2004 we

entered into an agreement with JCI to continue to share responsibility as set forth in the original purchase

agreement We continue to share with JCI the allocation of costs for assessment and remediation of certain

off-site chlorinated volatile organic compounds in groundwater

In February 2005 we received request from the EPA to conduct exploratory testing to determine if the

historical municipal landfill located on our Attica Indiana property is the source of elevated levels of

trichloroethylene detected in two city wells downgradient of our property In 2009 the EPA determined that the

impact to the two city wells was from sources unrelated to the Companys property The EPA also advised that it

believes the former landfill is subject to remediation under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act

RCRA corrective action program We conducted testing in accordance with an investigation work plan and

submitted the test results to the EPA The EPA thereafter notified us that they also wanted us to embark upon

more comprehensive RCRA investigation to determine whether there have been any releases of other hazardous

waste constituents from our Attica facility and if so to determine what corrective measure may be appropriate

In January 2007 we agreed to an Administrative Order on Consent with the EPA to investigate and remediate if

necessary site conditions at the facility The Company has timely complied with all required investigative and

remedial actions required by EPA

We have conducted site investigations at our Conyers Georgia facility and have detected chlorinated

solvents in groundwater and lead in soil both on-site and off-site We have recently initiated further assessment

of groundwater conditions temporarily suspending remediation of the chlorinated solvents which had been

initiated in accordance with Corrective Action Plan approved by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources

in January 2007 modified Corrective Action Plan will be submitted upon completion of the assessment

Additionally we have completed remediation of lead impacted soils identified in the site investigations In

September 2005 an adjoining landowner filed suit against us alleging among other things that we were allowing

lead contaminated stormwater runoff to leave our property and contaminate the adjoining property In November

2008 the parties entered into final settlement agreement pursuant to which we agreed to assess and remediate

any contamination on the adjoining property due to our operations as required by Georgia Department of Natural

Resources and with the concurrence of the adjoining landowner
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We accrue reserves for liabilities in our consolidated financial statements and periodically reevaluate the

reserved amounts for these liabilities in view of the most current information available in accordance with

accounting guidance for contingencies As of January 31 2011 accrued environmental reserves totaled $2431

consisting of $1807 in other current liabilities and $624 in other liabilities Based on currently available

information we believe that appropriate reserves have been established with respect to the foregoing contingent

liabilities and that they are not expected to have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or

results of operations

Certifications

We have included as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended

January 31 2011 filed with the SEC certifications of the CEO and CFO regarding the quality of our public

disclosure In July 2010 we submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the certification of the CEO required by

the rules of the New York Stock Exchange certifying that he was not aware of any violation by us of the New

York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards

Available Information

We file annual quarterly and current reports proxy statements and other information with the SEC These

filings are available to the public on the Internet at the SECs website at www.sec.gov You may also read and

copy any document we file with the SEC at the SECs public reference room located at 100 Street N.E Room

1580 Washington D.C 20549

We maintain an Internet web site www.cdtechno.com and make available free of charge on or through the

website our Annual Report on Form 10-K our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on

Form 8-K as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the

SEC We also make available on our web site and in printed form upon request our Code of Business Conduct

which includes our Corporate Compliance Program and Code of Ethics for our CEO CFO and all our

personnel serving in finance accounting tax or investor relations role Any amendments or waivers of the

Code of Ethics will be promptly posted on our website at www.cdtechno.com or on Form 8-K as required by

law

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our operations could be affected by various risks many of which are beyond our control Based on current

information we believe that the following identifies the most significant risk factors that could affect our

business However the risks and uncertainties we face are not limited to those discussed below Additional risks

and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial also could affect our

business Past financial performance may not be reliable indicator of future performance and historical trends

should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods You should carefully consider the following

risks which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition

We have incurred significant net losses from continuing operations in the recent past and such losses

may continue in the future which may result in need for increased access to capital if our cash provided

by operating and financing activities is insufficient to fund our cash requirements we could face

substantial liquidity problems

Our net losses attributable to CD Technologies Inc were $56146 $25538 and $16885 for the fiscal

years ending 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Further as of January 31 2011 we have approximately $55000

of debt related to our Credit Facility as defined below 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes and China line of credit In

the event we require additional capital in the future due to continued losses in the future at unanticipated levels

debt maturities or otherwise individually or in combination such capital may not be available on satisfactory

terms or available at all
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Our liquidity derived from our $75000 principal amount Line of Credit Facility Credit Facility is based

on availability determined by borrowing base We may not be able to maintain adequate levels of eligible assets

to support our required liquidity in the future In addition our Credit Facility requires us to meet certain financial

ratios if our availability falls below certain thresholds Our ability to meet these financial provisions may be

affected by events beyond our control Rising prices of lead and other commodities and other circumstances have

resulted in us obtaining amendments to our financial covenants in the past Such amendments may not be

available in the future if required

Any breach of the covenants in our Credit Facility or the indentures governing our remaining outstanding

2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could cause default under our Credit Facility and other debt including the 2005

and 2006 Notes which would restrict our ability to borrow under cur Credit Facility thereby significantly

impacting our liquidity Upon an event of default under any of these debt instruments that is not cured or waived

the holders of the defaulted debt could cause all amounts outstanding with respect to these debt instruments to be

due and payable immediately Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under

these debt instruments if accelerated upon an event of default If as or when required we are unable to repay

refinance or restructure our indebtedness under or amend the covenants contained in our Credit Facility or the

indentures governing the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes the lenders under our Credit

Facility or the holders of the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could institute foreclosure

proceedings against the assets securing borrowings under those facilities which would have an material adverse

impact on the Company

Fluctuations in prices and availability of raw materials particularly lead could increase our costs or

cause delays in shipments which would adversely impact our business and results of operations

Our operating results could be and have been in the past adversely affected by increases in the cost of raw

materials particularly lead the primary cost component of our battery products or other product parts or

components such as copper and plastics Lead represented approximately 40% of our cost of sales in fiscal year

2011 Lead market prices averaged $0.89 per pound in fiscal year 2009 $0.83 per pound in fiscal year 2010 and

$0.98 per pound in fiscal year 2011 Lead traded as high as $1.23 per pound on January 17 2011 We have lead

clauses in many customer contracts which allow us to offset the changes in lead costs through higher lower

revenue however generally on lag basis In the current fiscal year these lead clauses resulted in sales price

increases Sales price increases are ultimately offset by higher cost lead in direct materials significant increase

in the price of one or more raw materials parts or components or the inability to successfully implement price

increases surcharges to mitigate such cost increases in timely manner or at all could have material adverse

effect on our results of operations and cash flows

Our ability to meet customer demand depends in part on our ability to obtain timely and adequate supply and

delivery of raw materials including lead and other product parts or components from our suppliers or from internal

manufacturing capacity Although we work closely with both our internal and external suppliers and as to the

continuing availability of lead our industry associations to avoid encountering unavailability or shortages we may
encounter shortages in the future The cessation reduction or interruption of supply of raw materials product parts

or components including the reduction in available credit from vendors could have material adverse effect on our

operations The loss of key supplier or the inability to obtain certain key products or components could cause

delays or reductions in shipments of our products which could negatively affect customer satisfaction or cause

loss of sales to competitors thereby reducing our revenues or could increase our costs

Market disruptions caused by financial crisis could affect our ability to meet our liquidity needs at

reasonable cost and our ability to meet long-term commitments which could adversely affect our financial

condition and results of operations

We rely on our Credit Facility amongst other avenues to satisfy our liquidity needs Further disruptions in

the credit markets or further deterioration of the banking industrys financial condition may discourage or
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prevent lenders from meeting their existing lending commitments extending the terms of such commitments or

agreeing to renew commitments Market disruptions may also limit our ability to issue debt securities in the

capital markets We can provide no assurances that our lenders will meet their existing commitments or that we

will be able to access the credit markets in the future on terms acceptable to us or at all

Longer term disruptions in the capital and credit markets as result of uncertainty reduced financing

alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to the liquidity

needed for our business Any disruption could require us to take measures to conserve cash until the market

stabilizes or until alternative financing can be arranged Such measures could include deferring capital

expenditures and reducing other discretionary expenditures

Continued market disruptions could cause broad economic downturn which may lead to increased

incidence of customers failure to pay
for products delivered which could adversely affect our financial

condition results of operations and cash flow

The capital market disruptions could result in increased costs related to variable rate debt As result

continuation of the market disruptions could increase our interest expense and adversely impact our results of

operations

disruption in the capital markets and its actual or perceived effects on particular businesses and the

greater economy also adversely affects the value of the investments held within our pension plans Significant

declines in the value of the investments held within our pension plans may require us to increase contributions to

those plans in order to meet future funding requirements if the actual asset returns do not recover these declines

in value in the foreseeable future These trends may also adversely impact our results of operations net cash

flows and financial positions including our shareholders equity

Market conditions may unfavorably impact the value of pension plan assets and liabilities which then could

require significant additional funding The performance of the capital markets affects the values of the assets that

are held in trust to satisfy future obligations under our pension plans and could significantly impact our results of

operations and financial position We have significant obligations in these areas and hold significant assets in

these trusts These assets are subject to market fluctuations which may affect investment returns and which may
fall below our projected return rates decline in the market value of the pension plan assets will increase the

funding requirements under our pension plans if the actual asset returns do not recover these declines in value In

addition our pension plan liabilities are sensitive to changes in interest rates As interest rates decrease the

liabilities increase potentially increasing benefit
expense and funding requirements In fiscal years 2011 and

2010 our contributions to our plans were approximately $3100 and $2300 respectively We expect to make

required contributions totaling approximately $8000 to our plans in fiscal year 2012 Further changes in

demographics including increased numbers of retirements or changes in life expectancy assumptions may also

increase the funding requirements of the obligations related to the pension plans Also future increases in

pension costs as result of reduced plan assets may not be fully recoverable from our customers and the results

of operations and financial position could be negatively affected

Restrictive loan covenants may impact our ability to operate our business and to pursue our business

strategies and our failure to comply with these covenants could result in an acceleration of our indebtedness

Our Credit Facility the indenture governing our remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and the indenture

governing our remaining outstanding 2006 Notes contain certain covenants that restrict our ability to finance

future operations or capital needs to respond to changing business and economic conditions or to engage in other

transactions or business activities that may be important to our growth strategy or otherwise important to us The

Credit Facility and the indentures governing our remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes restrict

among other things our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to

incur additional indebtedness or enter into sale and leaseback transactions

13



pay
dividends or make distributions on our capital stock or certain other restricted payments or

investments

purchase or redeem stock

issue stock of our subsidiaries

make investments and extend credit

engage in transactions with affiliates

transfer and sell assets

effect consolidation or merger or sell transfer lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of

our assets and

create liens on our assets to secure debt

Our liquidity derived from the Credit Facility is based on availability determined by borrowing base The

availability is calculated monthly and is dependent upon our eligible receivables inventory and certain

equipment We may not be able to maintain adequate levels of eligible assets to support our required liquidity

In addition our Credit Facility requires us to meet certain financial ratios Our ability to meet these financial

provisions may be affected by events beyond our control Rising prices of lead and other commodities and other

circumstances have resulted in us obtaining amendments to our financial covenants in the past

The Credit Facility includes material adverse change clause which defines an event of default as material

adverse change in our business assets or prospects Our lenders could claim breach under the material adverse

change covenant or the cross-default provisions under our Credit Facility under certain circumstances including

breach of the covenants in the indentures governing our 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes An interpretation of events

as material adverse change or any breach of the covenants in our Credit Facility or the indentures governing our

rerpaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could cause default under our Credit Facility and other debt

including the 2005 and 2006 Notes which would restrict our ability to borrow under our Credit Facility

thereby significantly impacting our liquidity

Any breach of the covenants in our Credit Facility or the indentures governing our remaining outstanding

2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could cause default under our Credit Facility and other debt including the 2005

and 2006 Notes which would restrict our ability to borrow under our Credit Facility thereby significantly

impacting our liquidity If we incur an event of default under any of these debt instruments that was not cured or

waived the holders of the defaulted debt could cause all amounts outstanding with respect to these debt

instruments to be due and payable immediately Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay

borrowings under these debt instruments if accelerated
upon an event of default If as or when required we are

unable to repay refinance or restructure our indebtedness under or amend the covenants contained in our Credit

Facility or the indentures governing the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes the lenders under our

Credit Facility or the holders of the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could institute foreclosure

proceedings against the assets securing borrowings under those facilities

The New York Stock Exchange the NYSE delisted our Common Stock on December 17 2010

Since our 30 day average market capitalization had fallen below $15000 the NYSE suspended trading of our

Common Stock on October 2010 On December 17 2010 the NYSE filed with the SEC notification of removal

from listing on Form 25 to report that the shares of our Common Stock would no longer be listed on the NYSE as of

December 27 2010 Such development constituted fundamental change under our convertible notes

The delisting of our Common Stock and if we are unable to list the stock on another national securities

exchange could negatively impact us by reducing the liquidity and market price of our Common Stock
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ii reducing the number of investors willing to hold or acquire our Common Stock which could negatively

impact our ability to raise equity financing iii limiting our ability to use registration statement to offer and

sell freely tradable securities thereby preventing us from accessing the public capital markets iv impairing our

ability to provide equity incentives to our employees and resulting in fundamental change as defined in

the indentures governing the 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes which gave the holders of the remaining outstanding

2005 Notes and 2006 Notes the right to require us to repurchase their notes for an amount equal to the principal

amount outstanding plus accrued but unpaid interest Our Common Stock is currently traded on the OTCBB

Maintaining our manufacturing operations requires significant capital expenditures and our inability or

failure to maintain our operations would have material adverse impact on our market share and ability to

generate revenue

We had capital expenditures of approximately $7000 and $15000 in fiscal years 2011 and 2010

respectively We expect to spend approximately 2% to 4% of future revenues on capital expenditures in future

periods excluding the construction of any new manufacturing facilities We may incur significant additional

capital expenditures as result of unanticipated expenses regulatory changes and other events that impact our

business If we are unable or fail to adequately maintain our manufacturing capacity or quality control processes

we could lose customers and there could be material adverse impact on our market share and our ability to

generate revenue

Changes in the tax legislation in the Peoples Republic of China may impact our competitiveness and

increase the cost basis of product manufactured at our Shanghaifacility

Changes in the tax legislation in the Peoples Republic of China have effectively increased the cost basis of

products manufactured at our Shanghai facility and exported from China by over 10% in the past Absent price

increases to our customers these changes would impact profitability of our Shanghai facility and may also

impact the competitiveness of this operation versus alternative manufacturing locations

Certain of our materials sourcing originate in China Enforcement of existing laws or contracts based on

existing Chinese law may be uncertain and sporadic and it may be difficult to obtain swift and equitable

enforcement or to obtain enforcement of judgment by court of another jurisdiction in China The relative

inexperience of Chinas judiciary in many cases creates additional uncertainty as to the outcome of any litigation

In addition interpretation of statutes and regulations may be subject to government policies reflecting domestic

political changes

We may face additional impairment charges if economic environments in which our businesses operate

and key economic and business assumptions substantially change

Assessment of the potential impairment of property plant and equipment goodwill and other identifiable

intangible assets is an integral part of our normal ongoing review of operations Testing for potential impairment

of long-lived assets is dependent on numerous assumptions and reflects our best estimates at particular point in

time which may vary from testing date to testing date The economic environments in which our businesses

operate and key economic and business assumptions with respect to projected product selling prices and

materials costs market growth and inflation rates can significantly affect the outcome of impairment tests

Estimates based on these assumptions may differ significantly from actual results Changes in factors and

assumptions used in.assessing potential impairments can have significant impact on both the existence and

magnitude of impairments as well as the time at which such impairments are recognized Future changes in the

economic environment and the economic outlook for the assets being evaluated could also result in additional

impairment charges Any significant asset impairments would adversely impact our financial results
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Adverse economic or market changes in certain market sectors in which we conduct business could

impact our results of operations

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by conditions in the domestic and global economies or

the markets in which we conduct business such as telecommunications UPS cable television switchgear and

control and military Our products are principally used in connection with the telecommunications and IT

industries Weakness in these markets such as decline in consumer and business expenditures for IT and

telecommunications may lead to decrease in the demand for our equipment or the prices that we can charge

Any such decrease could adversely affect our operating results by decreasing revenues and gross profit margins

We are subject to pricing pressure from our larger customers

We face significant pricing pressures in all of our business segments from our larger customers Because of

their purchasing size our larger customers can influence market participants to compete on price terms Such

customers also use their buying power to negotiate lower prices If we are not able to offset pricing reductions

resulting from these pressures by improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures those price

reductions may have an adverse impact on our financial results

We operate in extremely competitive industries and are subject to continual pricing pressure

We compete with number of major domestic and international manufacturers and distributors of electrical

storage and power conversion products as well as large number of smaller regional competitors Due to excess

capacity in some sectors of our industries consolidation and the financial difficulties being experienced by

several of our competitors we have faced continual and significant pricing pressures These pricing pressures

may prevent us from fully recovering increased costs we might incur We anticipate heightened competitive

pricing pressure as Chinese and other foreign producers who are able to employ labor at significantly lower costs

than producers in the U.S and Western Europe expand their export capacity and increase their marketing

presence in our major U.S and European markets Several of our competitors have stronger technical marketing

sales manufacturing distribution and other resources as well as more significant name recognition and

established positions in the market and longer-standing relationships with OEMs and other customers than we do

In addition certain of our competitors own lead smelting facilities which during periods of lead cost increases or

price volatility may provide competitive pricing advantage and reduce their exposure to volatile raw material

costs Our ability to maintain and improve our competitive position has depended and continues to depend on

our ability to control and reduce our costs in the face of these pressures

Difficulties or delays in product development would hinder our financial performance

Our financial performance and our ability to compete are largely dependent on our ability to renew our

pipeline of new products and to bring these products to market including

introducing viable new products

successfully completing research and development projects or integrating or otherwise capitalizing

upon purchased or licensed technology

obtaining adequate intellectual property protection

maintaining or improving product quality or reducing product costs through continued product

engineering and

utilizing or gaining market acceptance of new products

To the extent our research and development initiatives are unsuccessful in one or more of these pursuits the

market does not accept our new or improved products or our sales force is unsuccessful in marketing such

products our financial results will be negatively impacted In addition industry standards customer

expectations new technologies or other products may emerge that could render one or more of our products less

desirable or obsolete Our financial performance could also be affected by competitive products and

technologies
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We are subject to risks associated with our foreign operations and currency exchange rates

We have operations in Canada China England and Mexico either directly or through our Chinese

majorityowned joint venture In our financial statements we translate local currency financial results into

United States dollars based on average exchange rates prevailing during reporting period Our most significant

foreign currency exposures are to the Canadian dollar the British pound and the Chinese Renminbi RMB or

Yuan During times of strengthening United States dollar our reported international revenue and earnings will

be reduced because the local currency will translate into fewer United States dollars In addition we may face

restrictions on our ability to repatriate funds from our international operations

Foreign operations are subject to risks that can materially increase the cost of operating in foreign countries

and thereby may reduce our overall profitability These risks include but are not limited to

currency exchange rate fluctuations

increases in foreign tax rates and foreign earnings potentially being subject to withholding

requirements or the imposition of tariffs exchange controls or other restrictions

general economic and political conditions in countries where we operate and/or sell our products

including inflation

the difficulties associated with managing an organization which operates throughout various countries

required compliance with variety of foreign laws and regulations and

limited protection of intellectual property in certain foreign jurisdictions

Our worldwide operations could be adversely impacted by political economic and social changes or acts

of terrorism or war

Changes in the laws or policies of governmental and quasi-governmental agencies as well as social and

economic conditions in the countries in which we operate including the United States could affect our business

and our results of operations In addition economic factors including inflation and fluctuations in interest rates

and foreign currency exchange rates and competitive factors such as price competition and business

combinations or reorganizations of competitors or decline in industry sales or cancelled or delayed orders due

to economic weakness or changes in economic conditions either in the United States or other countries in which

we conduct business could negatively affect our results of operations Terrorist acts or acts of war whether in

the United States or abroad could cause damage or disruption to our operations our suppliers channels to

market or customers or could cause costs to increase or create political or economic instability any of which

could have material adverse effect on our results of operations

We rely on third parties whose operations are outside our control

We rely on arrangements with third-party shippers and carriers such as independent shipping companies for

timely delivery of our products to our customers As result we may be subject to carrier disruptions and

increased costs due to factors that are beyond our control including labor strikes inclement weather natural

disasters and rapidly increasing fuel costs If the services of any of these third parties become unsatisfactory we

may experience delays in meeting our customers product demands and we may not be able to find suitable

replacement on timely basis or on commercially reasonable ternis Any failure to deliver products to our

customers in timely and accurate manner may damage our reputation and could cause us to lose customers

We also utilize third party distributors and manufacturers representatives to sell install and service certain

of our products While we are selective in whom we choose to represent us it is difficult for us to ensure that our

distributors and manufacturers representatives consistently act in accordance with the standards we set for them

To the extent any of our end-customers have negative experiences with any of our distributors or manufacturers

representatives it could reflect poorly on us and damage our reputation thereby negatively impacting our

financial results
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Our productivity initiatives including rationalizations relocations or consolidations may not be

sufficiently effective to improve our financial performance or generate desired cost savings

We have undertaken and may continue to undertake productivity initiatives including among others

reorganizations including the shut down or sale of portions of our business and facility rationalizations to

improve performance or generate cost savings In addition we may from time to time relocate or consolidate one

or more of our operations We may not realize any planned performance improvements or cost savings from such

activities and delays or other interruptions in production or delivery of products may occur as the result of any

rationalization relocation or consolidation rationalization relocation or consolidation could also cause asset

impairments and/or trigger environmental remediation obligations Further we may not complete or derive any

benefit from these initiatives

We continue to place emphasis on improving the quality of the products we manufacture and on more

timely delivery of our products To the extent management is unsuccessful at achieving the goals of any or all of

these initiatives we will not be able to achieve our anticipated operating results

Costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations and liabilities that we may incur from fines

and penalties in the United States and internationally could adversely impact our financial results and

condition

Our facilities are subject to broad array of environmental laws and regulations The costs of complying

with complex environmental laws and regulations as well as participation in voluntary programs are significant

and will continue to be so for the foreseeable future We are also subject to potentially significant fines and

penalties for non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations Our accruals for such costs and liabilities may

not be adequate because the estimates on which the accruals are based depend on number of factors including

but not limited to the nature of the problem the complexity of the issues the nature of the remedy the outcome

of discussions with regulatory agencies and/or the government or third parties and as applicable other PRPs at

multiparty sites the number and financial viability of other PRPs and risks associated with litigation These costs

and liabilities could adversely impact our financial results and condition

We will continue to strive for elimination of and seek to have our component part suppliers eliminate

prohibited hazardous substances consistent with legislative requirements We will continue to actively monitor

decisions around environmental legislation and align our compliance with those decisions and the needs of our

customers These efforts may not be successful or completed on timely basis the failure of either of which

could have an adverse effect on our results of operations

We have been awarded government contract by the U.S Army and U.S government agencies have

special contracting requirements which create additional risks

During fiscal year 2010 we were awarded contract with the U.S Army to develop large-format

lithium-ion battery systems In contracting with U.S government agencies we are subject to various federal

contract requirements Future sales to U.S government agencies will depend in part on our ability to meet these

requirements certain of which we may not be able to satisfy

U.S government contracts typically contain unfavorable termination provisions and are subject to audit and

modification by the government at its sole discretion which subjects us to additional risks These risks include

the ability of the U.S government to unilaterally

suspend or prevent us for set period of time from receiving new contracts or extending existing

contracts based on violations or suspected violations of laws or regulations

terminate our existing contracts

reduce the scope and value of existing contracts
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audit and object to our contract-related costs and fees including allocated indirect costs

control and potentially prohibit the export of our products and

change certain terms and conditions in our contracts

As U.S government contractor we may become subject to periodic audits and reviews Based on the

results of these audits the U.S government may adjust our contract-related costs and fees including allocated

indirect costs As part of any such audit or review the U.S government may review the adequacy of and our

compliance with our internal control systems and policies including those relating to our purchasing property

compensation and/or management information systems In addition if an audit or review uncovers any improper

or illegal activity we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions including

termination of our contracts forfeiture of profits suspension of payments fines and suspensions or prohibition

from doing business with the U.S government We could also suffer serious harm to our reputation if allegations

of impropriety were made against us In addition under U.S government purchasing regulations some of our

costs including most financing costs amortization of intangible assets portions of our RD custs and some

marketing expenses may not be reimbursable or allowed under our contracts Further as U.S government

contractor we may become subject to an increased risk of investigations criminal prosecution civil fraud

whistleblower lawsuits and other legal actions and liabilities to which purely private sector companies are not

Our resu its may be adversely impacted by customers that become insolvent or bankrupt

We are exposed to the credit risk of our customers including risk of insolvency and bankruptcy Although

we have
programs

in place to monitor and mitigate the associated risk such programs may not be effective in

reducing our credit risks or risks associated with potential bankruptcy of our customers To the extent one or

more of our customers becomes insolvent or seeks protection from its creditors we may not be able to collect

money due to us and we could incur write-downs to our accounts receivable balances Additionally the loss of

such customers could negatively impact our financial performance in future periods

Pending or future litigation could impact our financial results and condition

Our business results of operations and financial condition could be affected by significant pending and

future litigation or claims adverse to us Types of potential litigation cases include product liability contract

employment-related labor relations personal injury or property damage intellectual property stockholder

claims and claims arising from any injury or damage to persons property or the environment from hazardous

substances used generated or disposed of in the conduct of our business or that of predecessor to the extent we

are not indemnified for those liabilities

In April and August 2008 pursuant to Purchase Agreement the Murata Purchase Agreement dated

June 19 2007 between Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd Murata Manufacturing and CD Murata Electronics

North America Inc Murata Electronics as assignee of Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd provided to CD
written notices of claim for indemnification under Article VIII of the Murata Purchase Agreement seeking

indemnity and defense relating to patent infringement claims asserted by SynQor Inc against Murata Electronics

Murata Manufacturing and the former CD companies now known as Murata Power Solutions Inc MPS
and numerous other defendant parties In these notices Murata Electronics failed to provide any information

regarding the claims made against MPS specifically and failed to adequately state basis for an indemnifiable

claim under the Murata Purchase Agreement In January 2011 Murata Electronics provided third notice

referencing the prior notices and now stating that judgment had been entered against MPS in the amount of

approximately $18000 and that Murata Electronics had incurred legal fees of approximately $2000 all for

which Murata Electronics was seeking indemnification and payment At this time the Company is not aware of

any information that would indicate its liability for the claimed loss amount continues to contest the validity of

the claim for indemnity and the underlying basis thereof and is defending such claim accordingly We do not

expect that this claim will have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of our

operations
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Our domestic business operations are dependent upon our ability to engage in successful collective

bargaining with our unionized workforce

Currently approximately 51% of our domestic workforce is unionized and we engage in collective

bargaining negotiations with the unions that represent them Collective bargaining agreements are subject to

renewal during the next two fiscal years If we are unable to reach agreement with any of our unionized work

groups in future negotiations regarding the terms of their collective bargaining agreements or if additional

segments of our workforce become unionized we may be subject to work interruptions or stoppages Strikes or

labor disputes with our employees may adversely affect our ability to conduct our business

change in our product mix may cause our results of operations to differ substantially from the

anticipated results in any particular period

Our overall profitability may not meet expectations if our products customers or geographic mix are

substantially different than anticipated Our profit margins vary among products customers and geographic

markets Consequently if our mix of any of these is substantially different from what is anticipated in any

particular period our profitability could be lower than anticipated

If customers fail to renew supply agreements on terms as favorable to us as existing agreements our

financial results could be adversely impacted

We supply products to certain of our customers pursuant to time-limited supply agreements These contracts

may not be renewed or if renewed they may not be renewed on as favorable terms to us as existing agreements

which could adversely impact our financial results

We may not be able to adequately protect our proprietary intellectual property and technology

We rely on combination of copyright trademark patent and trade secret laws non-disclosure agreements

and other confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to establish protect and maintain our proprietary

intellectual property and technology and other confidential information Despite our efforts to protect our

proprietary intellectual property and technology and other confidential information unauthorized parties may

attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property and proprietary technologies which could

adversely impact our competitive position and therefore adversely impact our business operations and financial

results

Material weaknesses in the Companys internal controls over financial reporting existed during fiscal

year 2009 If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting we may not be able to

report our financial results accurately or on timely basis Any inability to report and file our financial

results in an accurate and timely manner could harm our business and adversely impact the trading price of

our Common Stock

As public company we comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other rules and regulations that govern

public companies In particular we are required to certify our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act which requires us to perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over

financial reporting to allow management and our registered public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness

of our internal control over financial reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate intemal control over financial reporting Our internal control over financial reporting is process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles As public reporting company

we are required among other things to maintain system of effective internal control over financial reporting

suitable to prepare our publicly reported financial statements in timely and accurate manner and also to

evaluate and report on such system of internal control
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material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial

reporting such that there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of our annual or interim

financial statements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis In connection with the preparation of our

consolidated financial statements as of January 31 2009 we identified material weakness in our internal

control over financial reporting

While we remediated this material weakness during fiscal year 2010 there can be no assurance that

material weakness will not be identified in the future

As discussed in our fiscal year 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed

with the SEC in 2009 during the prior 2009 fiscal year our management team under the supervision and direction

of our Chief Executive Officer CEO and Chief Financial Officer CFO concluded that our disclosure controls

and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting were not effective as result of certain material

weakness In connection with the assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls

and procedures at January 31 2010 we determined that such material weaknesses had been fully remediated and

that our internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures at January 31 2010 were

effective The fallure to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls over financial reporting may cause our

internal controls over fmancial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures to he ineffective and any

determination that material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting exists in the future may
cause our internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures to be ineffective Any
such conclusion that our internal controls over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures are not

effective in the future may adversely affect our ability to report our financial condition and results of operations

accurately and in timely manner and could negatively impact our stock price

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Set forth below is certain information as of March 31 2011 with respect to our principal properties

Square

Location Footage Products Manufactured at or Use of
Facility

United States Properties

Milwaukee Wisconsin 370.000 Small standby power batteries

Attica Indiana 295000 Large standby power batteries

Leola Pennsylvania 240000 Small standby power batteries Round Cell and battery RD
laboratory

Dunlap Tennessee 72000 Electronics products and electronics RD laboratory

Blue Bell Pennsylvania 12000 Corporate headquarters

International Properties

Shanghai China 327000 Small standby power batteries

Reynosa Mexico 240000 Large standby power batteries

Romsey United Kingdom 21000 Distribution center

Mississauga Canada 20000 Sales office and distribution center

Property is owned hy

Property is leased by CD
Building is owned by joint venture of which the Company owns 67% however the land is leased under

50-year agreement of which 46 years remain
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Item Legal Proceedings

We are involved in ordinary routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business None of this

litigation individually or in the aggregate is material or is expected to be material to our business financial

condition or results of operations in any year See BusinessEnvironmental Regulations for description of

certain legal proceedings in which we are involved

In April and August 2008 pursuant to the Murata Purchase Agreement Murata Electronics as assignee of

Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd provided to CD written notices of claim for indemnification under Article

VIII of the Murata Purchase Agreement seeking indemnity and defense relating to patent infringement claims

asserted by SynQor Inc against Murata Electronics Murata Manufacturing and the former CD companies now

known as MPS and numerous other defendant parties In these notices Murata Electronics failed to provide any

information regarding the claims made against MPS specifically and failed to adequately state basis for an

indemnifiable claim under the Murata Purchase Agreement In January 2011 Murata Electronics provided third

notice referencing the prior notices and now stating that judgment had been entered against MPS in the

amount of approximately $18000 and that Murata Electronics had incurred legal fees of approximately $2000

all for which Murata Electronics was seeking indemnification and payment At this time the Company is not

aware of any information that would indicate its liability for the claimed loss amount continues to contest the

validity of the claim for indemnity and the underlying basis thereof and is defending such claim accordingly We

do not expect that this claim will have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of

our operations

Item Removed and Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our Common Stock is currently traded on the Over The Counter OTC market under the symbol

CHHPD There were 44 registered record holders of our Common Stock on March 31 2011

On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys Amended

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our Common Stock from

75000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of Common Stock

would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having been determined by

the Board of Directors of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and outstanding shares of

Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share outstanding

On December 23 2010 we announced that CD had completed the Exchange Otter our outstanding

5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 the 2006 Notes and 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 the

2005 Notes and together with the 2006 Notes the Notes for Common Stock on the terms and subject to the

conditions in the Companys effective registration statement on Form S-4 File No 333-170056 as amended

the Registration Statement under the Securities Act

Approximately 98.91% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2005 Notes and approximately

97 .62% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate of approximately 97.99% of

the outstanding principal of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with the terms set forth therein at 1159 PM EST on December 20
2010 The consummation of the Exchange Offer was conditioned upon among other things at least 95% of the

aggregate principal amount of the Notes being tendered and not withdrawn In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split described herein In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split described herein

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that our

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to effect reverse stock
split

of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of the Company at reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-35 and

ii decrease the number of authorized shares of our Common Stock from 600000000 to 25.000000 The

reverse stock split was effective on March 14 2011 As result of the reverse stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares

outstanding All of our stock-related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented was initially adjusted to reflect the

forward stock split and has since been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices for our Common

Stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange or the OTC for the periods indicated as adjusted for the

1.37335-for-l forward stock split of our Common Stock on December 21 2010 and the 1-for-35 reverse stock

split on our Common Stock that was completed on March 14 2011

Years Ended January 31

2011 2010

Fiscal Quarter High Low High Low

First Quarter $49.70 $36.95 $74.16 $27.78

Second Quarter 37.72 21.66 61.93 37.46

Third Quarter 21.41 2.55 63.71 46.38

Fourth Quarter 7.14 3.06 49.19 33.39

23



Dividends For the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 and 2010 we did not declare or pay any dividends

Our loan agreements permit dividends to be paid on our Common Stock up to $1750 in any one calendar

year subject to certain restrictions including having excess availability of at least $30000 for each of the thirty

consecutive days immediately prior to the date of the dividend Subject to those restrictions and the provisions of

Delaware law future dividends will depend on our earnings financial condition and other factors See Iteni

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsLiquidity and

Capital Resources

On February 22 2000 our Board of Directors declared dividend of one Common Stock purchase right

Right for each share of Common Stock outstanding on March 2000 to the stockholders of record on that

date The description and terms of the Rights are set forth in Rights Agreement between us and Mellon Investor

Services LLC formerly ChaseMellon Shareholder Services L.L.C as rights agent On November 15 2004 an

amendment was signed among us Mellon Investor Services LLC and the Bank of New York whereby Mellon

Investor Services LLC resigned as rights agent effective as of 1200 A.M New York time November 30 2004

We appointed the Bank of New York Mellon formerly Bank of New York as successor rights agent effective as

of 1201 A.M New York time December 2004 On February 26 2010 an amendment was signed between us

and Bank of New York Mellon formerly Bank of New York revising the final expiration date to March 2010

as well as changing the purchase price of the rights see the Companys Forms 8-K and 8-A/A filed with the SEC

on March 2010 for additional information Upon the occurrence of certain events each Right will entitle the

registered holder to purchase from us one one-hundredth of share of Common Stock at purchase price of

$509.70 per one one-hundredth of share as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described

elsewhere subject to adjustment as stated in the Rights Agreement as amended Upon the occurrence of certain

events involving hostile takeover of us unless our Board of Directors acts otherwise each holder of Right

other than Rights beneficially owned by the acquiring company will thereafter have the right to receive upon

exercise that number of shares of our Common Stock having market value equal to two times the purchase

price of the Right or ii that number of shares of Common Stock of the acquiring company that at the time of the

transaction has market value of two times the exercise price of the Right

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any shares of our Common Stock during the three months ended January 31 2011
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph compares on cumulative basis the yearly percentage change calculated on fiscal

year basis assuming quarterly dividend reinvestment over the last five fiscal years in the total stockholder

return on the Common Stock with the total return on the New York Stock Exchange Market Value Index the

NYSE Market Value Index broad equity market index and the total return of selected peer group index

the SIC Code Peer Group Index The SIC Code Peer Group is based on the standard industrial classification

codes SIC Codes established by the U.S government The index chosen was Miscellaneous Electrical

Equipment and Supplies and is comprised of all publicly traded companies having the same three-digit SIC

Code 369 as CD The price of each unit has been set at $100 on January 31 2006 for the purpose of

preparation of the graph
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Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return

For the year ended January 31

Among CD Technologies Inc NYSE Market Value

Index and SIC Code Peer Group Index

COMPARISON OF 5YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETuRN

AMONG CD TECHNOLOGIES INC
NYSE COMPOSITE INDEX AND SIC CODE INDEX

NYSE

100.00

116.69

117.57

68.81

93.66

113.30

.--cDTEcHN0L0C3IE5 INC NYSE COMPOSITE asic CODE

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON 1/31/06

ASSUMES REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS

FISCAL YEAR ENDING JANUARY31

2011

Peer Group

100.00

107.96

106.26

52.16

74.43

81.01

Fiscal Year CD
2006 100.00

2007 65.17

2008 71.45

2009 35.96

2010 17.86

2011 3.96

2006 2007 2006 2009 2610
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected historical financial data for the periods indicated have been derived from our audited

amended consolidated financial statements giving effect for discontinued operations

Fiscal1

NET SALES

COST OF SALES

GROSS PROFIT

OPERATING EXPENSES

Selling general and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses

Uoodwill impairment

Restructuring charges

Gain on sale of Shanghai China plant

OPERATING LOSS INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

Interest expense net

Other income expense net

Gain on debt for equity exchange

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Benefit provision for income taxes from continuing

operations

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS NET OF

TAX

NET LOSS
Net loss income attributable to noncontrolling interest

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CD TECHNOLOGIES
INC

Loss per share

Basic6
Net loss from continuing operations attributable to CD

TECHNOLOGIES INC

Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to CD
TECHNOLOGIES INC

Net loss attributable to CD TECHNOLOGIES INC

Diluted7

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to CD
TECHNOLOGIES INC

Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to CD
TECHNOLOGIES INC

Net loss attributable to CD TECHNOLOGIES INC

Dividends per common share

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total assetsS

Short-term debt

Long-term debt8

Equity

35576 33228

6.433 6.232

15162
________

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

In thousands except share and per share data

20084

$346073

310.089

35.984

20112

35483

305812

49019

37378

6.487

59978

2283

20075

$287241

249385

37856

2010

$335709

298175

37534

41045

7555

20093

$365540

319038

46.502

40281

6940

1334

2053

11.729

1675

57107 11066 9137 1604

14708

8999

12050

12207
284

10828 13.525

921 1393

68764 23557 15457 770 16522

13207 2223 1993 1.063 919

55557 25780 17450 1.833 17.441

16353 28827

55557
589

25.780

242
17450

565
18186 46268

2931 1273

56146 25538 16885 21117 44995

21.79 24.75 16.65 4.73 16.10

16.23$ 28.71

21.79 24.75 16.65 20.96 44.81

21.81 24.78 16.90 4.73 16.10

16.23$ 28.71

21.81 24.78 16.90 20.96 44.81

$0.00054

$251293

2596

32934

93532

$302742

8777

133106

42470

$287253

5881

110975

64903

$321409 $417.702

5.568 1.286

110255 132.327

99.255 124526
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The Power Electronics Division and certain assets of the Motive Division were sold during the fiscal year 2008 and as

result the results of those divisions have been classified Discontinued Operations for all periods Prior years have

been adjusted to reflect updated presentation requirements for non-controlling interests

t2 The following charges are included in the Statement of Operatiuns for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011

goodwill impairment of $59978 less tax benefit of $14245 and restructuring costs relating to the reduction of

operations at the Leola plant of $2283 Other expense includes $6609 of direct and indirect costs related to the

Exchange Offer including $1359 of accelerated stock compensation expenses and director fees $4987 of legal and

other related costs and $1910 loss on the termination of debt of the Ableco L.L.C $20000 term loan including the

$800 termination fee partially offset by $1647 gain on the termination of the supplemental retirement plan Other

expense also includes additional environmental costs of approximately $1500 and $900 of other costs

The following charges are included in the Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended January 31 2009 Cost of

Sales includes non-cash fixed asset impairment and environmental charges totaling $1222 and $821 respectively

related to our idle plant in Conyers GA
The following charges are included in the Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended January 31 2008 Cost of

Sales includes $2991 of costs associated with the closure of our Conyers Georgia manufacturing facility and there is

$15162 gain on the sale of our old Shanghai China manufacturing facility
included with operating expenses

The following charges are included in the Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended January 31 2007 Cost of

Sales includes non-cash fixed asset impairment charges totaling $985 and $763 relating to environmental clean up

charges in our Standby Power Division Loss from Discontinued Operations includes non cash goodwill impairment

charge of$l3947 relating to the Power Electronics Division

Based on 2577155 1031943 1014002 1006915 and 1004133 weighted average shares outstandingbasic for

fiscal years 2011 2010 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits

described herein

Based on 2582390 1035875 1017713 1006915 and 1004133 weighted average shares outstandingdiluted

for fiscal years 2011 2010 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits

described herein

Total assets and long-term debt for fiscal years 2010 2009 2008 and 2007 have been adjusted to reclassify

unamortized debt costs as an asset rather than presenting as reduction of long term debt as previously presented As

result total assets and long term debt have been increased by $2015 $3338 $4852 and $5715 for fiscal years

2010 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

All dollar amounts in this Item are in thousands except per share amounts and per pound lead

amounts

The following discussion and analysis of our results of operations and financial condition for the fiscal years

ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 should be read in conjunction with Selected Consolidated Financial Data

and our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements Our discussion contains

forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties such as our

plans objectives opinions expectations anticipations and intentions and beliefs Actual results and the timing of

events could differ materially from those anticipated in those forward-looking statements as result of number

of factors See Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors elsewhere in this

Report on Form 10-K

Overview

On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our Common

Stock from 75000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of

Common Stock would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having

been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share

outstanding

On December 23 2010 we announced that CD had completed its offers to exchange the Exchange

Offer our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 the 2006 Notes and 5.25% Convertible
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Senior Notes due 2025 the 2005 Notes and together with the 2006 Notes the Notes for Common Stock on

the terms and subject to the conditions in the Companys effective registration statement on Form S-4 File

No 333-170056 as amended the Registration Statement under the Securities Act

Approximately 98.9 1% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2005 Notes and approximately

97.62% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate of approximately 97 .99% of

the outstanding principal of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with the terms set forth therein at 1159 PM EST on December 20

2010 The consummation of the Exchange Offer was conditioned upon among other things at least 95% of the

aggregate principal amount of the Notes being tendered and not withdrawn In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21 shares of

Common Stock In exchange for each $1 of principal amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer

holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of Common Stock

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that our

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to effect reverse stock split of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of the Company at reverse stock split ratio of l-for-35 and ii to

decrease the number of authorized shares of our Common Stock from 600000000 to 25000000 The reverse

stock split was effective on March 14 2011 As result of the reverse stock split the issued and outstanding

shares of Common Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares outstanding All of

our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options restricted stock

performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented was initially adjusted retrospectively to reflect the

forward stock split and has since been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the reverse stock split

Raw Material Pricing and Productivity

During fiscal year 2011 we experienced decreased demand for products sold domestically and increased

demand internationally Over the last three fiscal
years the costs of our raw materials of which lead is our

primary material have changed significantly from an annual average of $0.89 per pound in 2009 to $0.83 per

pound in 2010 to $0.98 per pound in 2011 We have implemented series of selling price increases/decreases

and surcharge mechanism for some of our customers based upon lead prices at certain periods Based upon our

contractual pricing mechanisms and business practices we currently estimate that there is lag of up to six

months before we fully recover pricing lower direct material costs from these activities Accordingly in

period of rising lead costs we would expect our gross margins and results to be adversely impacted

Lead steel copper plastics and electronic components are the major raw materials used in the manufacture

of our industrial batteries and electronics products and accordingly represent significant portion of our

materials costs During fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 the average London Metals Exchange LME price

per pound of lead was as follows

Fiscal Year 201.1 2010 2009

Average annual LME price per pound of lead $0.98 $0.83 $0.89

Lowest average monthly LME price per pound of lead $0.71 $0.50 $0.44

Highest average monthly LME price per pound of lead $1.23 $1.07 $1.36

Lead represented approximately 40% of our cost of goods sold for fiscal year 2011 fiscal year 2010 and

fiscal year 2009 Lead traded as high as $1.23 per pound on January 17 2011 The changes in lead market price

have negatively impacted our financial results in recent periods We historically have not been able to fully offset

the effects of higher costs of raw materials through price increases to customers or by way of productivity

improvements Based upon our current revenue stream we estimate that variation of $0.01 per pound of lead

changes materials costs by approximately $1000
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Inflation

The cost to us of manufacturing materials and labor and most other operating costs are affected by

inflationary pressures Most of our raw materials prices steel copper and resins as well as fuel costs continued

to rise in fiscal year 2011 We generally have not been able to fully and timely offset these higher prices through

our pricing actions

We believe that over recent years we have been able to partially offset inflationary cost increases on

certain items by

effective raw materials purchasing programs

increases in labor productivity

improvements in overall manufacturing efficiencies and

selective price increases of our products
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected items in our consolidated statements of operations as percentage of

sales for the periods indicated

Fiscal

NET SALES

COST OF SALES

GROSS PROFIT

OPERATING EXPENSES

Selling general and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses

Goodwill impairment

Restructuring charges

OPERATING LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

Interest expense net

Other expense net

Gain on debt for equity exchange

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations

NET LOSS

Net loss income attributable to noncontrolling interest

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CD TECHNOLOGIES INC

Critical Accounting Policies

2011 2010 2009

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

86.2% 88.8% 87.3%

13.8% 11.2% 12.7%

10.5% 12.2% 11.0%

1.8% 2.3% 1.9%

16.9% 0.0% 0.0%

0.6% 0.0% 0.4%

16.0% 3.3% O.6%

4.1% 3.6% 3.2%

2.5% 0.1% 0.5%

3.4% 0.0% 0.0%

l9.2% 7.0% 4.3%
3.7% 0.7% 0.5%

15.5% 7.7% 4.8%

0.2% 0.1% 0.2%

15.7% 7.6% 4.6%

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our

Consolidated Financial Statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make

estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses
and the

related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates based on

historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under

different assumptions or conditions

We believe the following critical accounting policies and estimates affect the preparation of our

Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the earnings process is complete This generally occurs when products are

shipped to the customer in accordance with terms of the agreement title and risk of loss have been transferred

collectability is reasonably assured and pricing is fixed or determinable Accruals are made for sales returns and

other allowances based on our experience While returns have historically been minimal and within the

provisions established we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same retum rates that we

have in the past Periodically we enter into prepayment contracts with various customers and receive advance

payments for product to be delivered in future periods Revenue associated with advance payments is recognized
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as shipments are made and title ownership and risk of loss pass to the customer Amounts hilled to customers for

shipping and handling fees are included in Net Sales and costs incurred by us for the delivery of goods are

classified as Cost of Sales in the Consolidated Statements of Operations Taxes on revenue producing

transactions are excluded from Net Sales

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not hear interest The allowance for

doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in our existing accounts receivable

We review our allowance for doubtful accounts quarterly Past due balances over 90 days and over specified

amount are reviewed individually for collectability All other balances are reviewed on pooled basis by age and

type of receivable Account balances are charged off against the allowance when we believe the receivable will

not be recovered We do not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to our customers

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market We adjust the value of our obsolete and unniarketable

inventory to the estimated market value based upon assumptions of future demand and market conditions If

actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management additional inventory write-

downs may be required Market value for raw materials is based on replacement cost and for work-in-process and

finished goods on net realizable value

Valuation of Long-lived Assets

We perform periodic evaluations of the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-lived assets including

property plant and equipment and intangible assets with determinable lives whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable Events or changes in

circumstances are evaluated based on number of factors including operating results business plans and

forecasts general and industry trends and economic projections and anticipated cash flows Impairment is

assessed when the undiscounted expected future cash flows derived from an asset are less than its carrying

amount Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value of an asset exceeds its fair

value and are recognized in earnings We periodically evaluate the estimated useful lives of all long-lived assets

and periodically revise such estimates based on current events

Impairment of Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the fair value of net assets acquired in business

combinations Goodwill is not amortized and is subject to impairment tests Goodwill is tested for impairment on

an annual basis or upon the occurrence of certain circumstances or events Indicators of potential impairment

might include decline of quoted market prices of our stock in active markets and/or continuing operating losses

We determine the fair value of our reporting units using combination of financial projections and discounted

cash flow techniques adjusted for risk characteristics also giving consideration to our overall market

capitalization The fair value of the reporting units is compared to the carrying value of the reporting units to

determine if an impairment loss should be calculated If the book value of reporting unit exceeds the fair value

of the reporting unit an impairment loss is indicated The impairment loss is calculated by comparing the implied

fair value of the goodwill to the hnok value of the goodwill If the book value of the goodwill exceeds the

implied fair value of the goodwill an impairment loss is recorded

Our implied fair value of goodwill is dependent upon significant judgments and estimates of future

discounted cash flows and other factors Our estimates of future cash flows include assumptions concerning

future operating performance and economic conditions and may differ from actual future cash flows Estimated

future cash flows are adjusted by an appropriate discount rate at the date of evaluation The financial and credit
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market volatility directly impacts the fair value measurement through the weighted average cost of capital that

we use to determine the discount rate and through the stock price that is used to determine market capitalization

Therefore changes in the stock price may also affect the amount of impairment recorded Market capitalization is

determined by multiplying the shares outstanding on the assessment date by the average market price of our

Common Stock over 30-day period before assessment date We use this 30-day duration to consider inherent

market fluctuations that may affect any individual closing price Market capitalization subsequent to the

assessment date is also considered

We perform the annual goodwill test in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year for the Companys one reporting

unit Given the recent decrease in market capitalization and continuing operating losses we tested for impairment

on July 31 2010 As result we first completed an assessment of our long-lived assets within the various asset

groupings and determined there were no impairments

We assessed the carrying value of our goodwill by using the two-step fair-value based test at July 31 2010

in accordance with accounting guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets The first step compared the fair

value of the reporting unit to our carrying amount including goodwill As the carrying amount of the reporting

unit exceeded its fair value the second step was performed The second step was performed and determined that

the implied fair value of goodwill was in excess of the book value of goodwill and in connection with this

second step we recorded non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $59978 representing the full value of

goodwill As discussed in Note to the audited consolidated financial statements Income Taxes as result of

the impairment charge we no longer have deferred tax liability related to an indefinite lived intangible As such

for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 we recorded an income tax benefit in the amount of $14245 for the

reversal of this deferred tax liability As result the goodwill impairment recorded net of tax benefits for the

fiscal year ended January 31 2011 was $45733

Employee Benefit Plans

Our pension plans and postretirement benefit plans are accounted for using actuarial valuations required by

accounting guidance related to pension plans and postretirement benefit obligations We consider accounting

guidance for employee benefit plans critical because management is required to make significant subjective

judgments about number of actuarial assumptions including discount rates compensation growth long-term

return on plan assets retirement turnover health care cost trend rates and mortality rates Depending on the

assumptions and estimates used the pension and postretirement benefit
expense could vary within range of

outcomes and have material effect on reported results In addition the assumptions can materially affect

accumulated benefit obligations and future cash funding

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

We record valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be

realized While we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning

strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowances if we were to determine that we would be able to

realize the deferred tax assets in the future in excess of our net recorded amount an adjustment to the deferred

tax asset would increase income in the period that such determination was made Likewise should we determine

that we would not be able to realize all or part of the net deferred tax assets in the future an adjustment to the

deferred tax asset would decrease income in the period such determination was made We regularly evaluate the

need for valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets

Warranty Reserves

We provide for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized While we engage

in extensive product quality programs and processes including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of

our suppliers products and processes our warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates warranty
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replacement costs and service delivery costs incurred in correcting product failure Should actual product

failure rates warranty replacement costs or service delivery costs differ from our estimates revisions to the

estimated warranty liability would be made

Litigation and Environmental Reserves

We are involved in litigation in the ordinary course of business including personal injury property damage

and environmental litigation We also expend funds for environmental remediation of both company-owned and

third-party locations In accordance with accounting guidance for contingencies and environmental remediation

liabilities we record loss and establish reserve for litigation or remediation when it is probable that an asset

has been impaired or liability exists and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated Reasonable

estimates involve judgments made by management after considering broad range of information including

notifications demands or settlements that have been received from regulatory authority or private party

estimates performed by independent engineering companies and outside counsel available facts existing and

proposed technology the identification of other PRPs their ability to contribute and prior experience These

judgments are reviewed quarterly as more information is received and the amounts reserved are updated as

necessary However the reserves may materially differ from ultimate actual liabilities if the loss contingency is

difficult to estimate or if managements judgments turn out to be inaccurate If management believes no best

estimate exists the minimum loss is accrued

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Operations

Net sales for fiscal year 2011 increased $19122 or 5.7% to $354831 from $335709 in fiscal year 2010

This increase resulted due to combination of lead pricing recovery specific pricing actions and growth in the

Companys Asian business partially offset by continued pressures on volumes as result of the general economic

environment principally in the Companys North American UPS markets LME lead prices increased from an

average of $0.83 per pound in fiscal year 2010 to $0.98 per pound in fiscal year 2011

Gross profit for fiscal year 2011 increased $11485 or 30.6% to $49019 from $37534 Margins increased to

13.8% from 11.2% in fiscal year 2010 Gross margin has improved over the prior year primarily due to product

and customer mix improvements cost reductions initiatives and increased pricing focus In the prior fiscal year

lead prices increased at rapid rate impeding the Companys ability to recover such price increases from its

customers in timely manner The Companys ability to increase price is often determined contractually In the

current year lead prices were overall less volatile as compared to the prior fiscal year resulting in improved lead

price recovery Further the Company experienced temporary employee disruption at its Shanghai China

facility for period of approximately three weeks during the second quarter of fiscal year 2011 which negatively

impacted gross profit

Selling general and administrative expenses for fiscal year 2011 decreased $3667 or 8.9% to $37.378 from

$41045 This decrease was primarily due to lower salaries and fringes of approximately $1000 due to lower

headcount lower selling costs of $1200 and lower general and administrative costs of $2000 related to reduced

discretionary spending on items such as professional fees and travel partially offset by higher warranty expenses

of $620

Research and development expenses for fiscal year 2011 decreased $1068 or 14.1% to $6487 trom $7555

in fiscal year 2010 Expenses were higher in fiscal year 2010 due to higher costs supporting investments in new

technologies and China growth initiatives In addition RD personnel in fiscal year 2011 spent additional time

on projects reimbursable under our government projects As percentage of sales research and development

expense was 1.8% in fiscal year 2011 as compared to 2.3% in fiscal year 2010
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Goodwill impairment charges were $59978 for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 as compared to $0

for the fiscal year ended January 31 2010 The Company performs the annual goodwill impairment test in the

fourth quarter of the fiscal year for its one reporting unit Given decreases in market capitalization and continuing

operating losses the Company tested for impairment on an interim basis of July 31 2010 The Company

assessed the carrying value of its goodwill by using the two-step fair-value based test at July 31 2010 in

accordance with accounting guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets The first step compared the fair

value of its reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill As the carrying amount of the reporting unit

exceeded its fair value the second step was performed The second step was performed and determined that the

implied fair value of goodwill was in excess of the book value of goodwill and in connection with this second

step the Company recorded non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of $59978 representing the full

value of goodwill in the second quarter of fiscal year 2011 Also as discussed below as result of the

impairment charge the Company no longer has deferred tax liability related to an indefinite lived intangible As

such for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 we recorded an income tax benefit in the amount of $14.245 for

the reversal of this deferred tax liability

On September 14 2010 the Company announced plans to close its Leola Pennsylvania manufacturing

facility and transfer production to other existing facilities When complete the closure plan will result in the

elimination of approximately 85 positions Restructuring charges incurred during the fiscal year ended

January 31 2011 include $434 in severance costs $1523 in fixed asset impairment charges and $326 in other

costs Additional closure costs of approximately $300 related to move costs and additional severance are

expected to he recorded over the next twelve months

We had loss from operations in fiscal year 2011 of $57107 as compared to $11.066 in fiscal year 2010

This change was due to number of factors summarized in the accompanying table including non-recurring

charge for goodwill impairment of $59978

Analysis of Change in Operating Income from continuing operations for fiscal year 2011 vs fiscal year 2010

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010

Operating lossfiscal 2010 $1 1066

Leadincreased costs net 18114

Pricing/Volume/Mix 32395

Goodwill impairment 59978

Restructuring costsFiscal 2011 Leola 2283
Increase in warranty expense 620
Pension costs 395
Decrease in research and development costs 1068

Decrease in selling general and administrative costs 4287

Other 2401

Operating lossfiscal 2011 $57107

Interest
expense net for fiscal year 2011 increased $2501 or 20.5% to $14708 from $12207 in fiscal year

2010 The higher interest costs principally relate to borrowings under the second lien term loan refinancing

which was completed in April 2010 that hears interest at rate of 14.25%

Other expense was $8.999 in fiscal year 2011 compared to $284 in fiscal year 2010 The increase in expense

was primarily due to costs and charges related to the Exchange Offer Expenses from the Exchange Offer were

approximately $6600 $1359 of which was due to the acceleration of vesting on stock compensation and

director fees $4.987 which was due to legal fees and other professional fees not capitalizable as part of the

exchange transaction and loss on the termination of debt of $1910 for the Ableco L.L.C $20000 term loan of

which $800 was an early termination fee partially offset by $1647 gain on the termination of the supplemental

retirement plan
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In accordance with accounting literature related to debt for equity exchanges encompassed in Accounting

Standards Codification the ASC 470-20 Debt with Conversion and Other Features and 470-60 Debt

Troubled Debt Restructuring by Debtors we recorded net gain of $12050 in connection with the Exchange

Offer in December 2010 This gain was calculated taking into account the difference between the carrying

value of the approximately 97.62% of our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 and

approximately 98.9 1% of our 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 including accrued interest adjusted for

unamortized debt issuance costs unamortized debt discount and the estimated fair market value of the Common

Stock issued in the exchange as well as ii the estimated fair value of the liability and equity components of the

notes at the time of the exchange

Income tax benefit of $13207 was recorded in fiscal year 2011 compared to income tax expense of $2223

in fiscal year 2010 Tax expense for fiscal year 2010 was primarily due to non-cash deferred tax expense related

to the amortization of intangible assets and foreign taxes on profits which were not offset by losses for which no

tax benefit is recognized The tax benefit for fiscal year 2011 is primarily result of the goodwill impairment

charge discussed above whereby the Company no longer has deferred tax liability related to an indefinite lived

intangible As such for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 the Company recorded an income tax benefit in

the amount of $14245 for the reversal of this deferred tax liability offset by foreign tax expense on profits which

were not offset by losses

Noncontrolling interest reflects the 33% ownership interest in the joint venture battery business located in

Shanghai China that is not owned by the Company In fiscal year 2011 the joint venture had income

attributable to the noncontrolling interest of $589 compared to loss of $242 in fiscal year 2010 This is due to

improved results of our China operations

As result of the above net loss attributable to CD Technologies Inc of $56146 was recorded compared

to $25538 in the prior year On per share basis as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described

elsewhere the net loss was $21.79 basic and $21.81 diluted in fiscal year 2011 compared to $24.75 basic and

$24.78 diluted in fiscal year 2010

Other Comprehensive Loss

Other comprehensive loss attributable to CD Technologies Inc increased from $23461 in fiscal year

2010 to $54035 in fiscal year 2011 This increase was due to significant increase in the net loss in fiscal year

2011 of $55557 compared to $25780 in the prior year The loss was higher as result of the write off of

goodwill which was $45733 net of the tax benefit of $14245 recorded an unrealized gain on derivative

instruments of $803 in fiscal year 2011 as compared to $2334 in fiscal year 2010 and an increase in the pension

liability adjustment to $1447 in fiscal year 2011 compared to $498 in fiscal year 2010 The loss was partially

offset by change in currency translation adjustments from gain of $258 in fiscal year 2010 to $1194 in fiscal

year 2011

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Operations

Net sales for fiscal year 2010 decreased $29831 or 8.1% to $335709 from $365.540 in fiscal year 2009

This decrease was caused by lower pricing and sales volumes in the U.S partially offset by higher volumes in

Asia This decrease was principally due to contractual price decreases resulting from the decline in the price of

lead Under our contractual pricing arrangements generally pricing trails changes in the price of lead on the

LME Additionally sales were negatively impacted by lower volumes as result of the general economic

environment principally in the Companys North American telecommunications and UPS markets partially

offset by volume expansion in our Asian business
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Gross profit for fiscal year 2010 decreased $8968 or 19.3% to $37534 from $46.502 Margins decreased to

11.2% from 12.7% in fiscal year 2009 The decrease from the prior year was principally impacted by loss of

benefits from tolling LME pricing spread and overall market pricing competitiveness offset by reduction in

commodity hedge losses Lead prices traded on the LME have continued to be volatile having traded as high as

$1.18 per pound on January 2010 and as low as $0.45 per pound on February 24 2009 Higher pension and

other fringe benefit costs also negatively impacted margin performance These negative impacts on gross margin

were partially offset by the positive impact of cost reduction actions announced in February 2009

Selling general and administrative expenses for fiscal year 2010 increased $764 or 1.9% to $41045 from

$40281 This increase was primarily due to higher overall selling costs of approximately $800

Research and development expenses for fiscal year 2010 increased $615 or 8.9% to $7555 from $6940 due

to higher costs supporting investment in new technologies and China growth initiatives As percentage of sales

research and development expenses were 2.3% and 1.9% in fiscal year 2010 and fiscal year 2009 respectively

We recorded restructuring charge of $1334 in fiscal year 2009 compared to $0 in fiscal year 2010

We had an operating loss from continuing operations in fiscal year 2010 of $11066 as compared to $2053

in fiscal year 2009 This change was due to number of factors summarized in the accompanying table

Analysis of Change in Operating Loss from continuing operations for fiscal year 2010 vs fiscal year 2009

Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Operating lossfiscal 2009 2053
Leaddecreased costs net 18533

Pricing/Volume/Mix 27005

Restructuring costs Fiscal 2009 1334

Pension costs 2830

Impairment and other charges related to Conyers Georgia facility Fiscal 2009 2043

Other including cost reduction programs 1088

Operating lossfiscal 2010 $11066

Interest expense net for fiscal year 2010 increased $478 or 4.1% to $12207 from $11729 in fiscal year

2009 primarily due to $406 increase for non-cash amortization of debt discount on the 2005 Notes

Other expense was $284 in fiscal year 2010 compared to $1675 in fiscal year 2009 The decrease in

expense was primarily due to foreign currency losses in fiscal year 2009 of $1128 compared to gains of $13 in

fiscal year 2010 These exchange gains and losses are principally related to movements in the Canadian dollar

Mexican peso and British pound

Income tax expense of $2223 was recorded in fiscal year 2010 compared to $1993 in fiscal year 2009 Tax

expense in fiscal year 2010 is primarily due to combination of tax expense in certain profitable foreign

subsidiaries principally in the United Kingdom non-cash deferred tax expense related to the amortization of

intangible assets and the impact of losses for which no tax benefit is recognized under accounting guidance

related to income taxes

Non-controlling interest reflects the 33% ownership interest in the joint venture battery business located in

Shanghai China that is not owned by the Company In fiscal year 2010 the joint venture had non-controlling

interest loss of $242 compared to $565 in fiscal year 2009 reflecting improved operating performance of the

Companys China operations primarily due to increasing sales volume

As result of the above net loss attributable to CD Technologies Inc of $25.538 was recorded

compared to $16885 in the prior year On per share basis as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits

described elsewhere the net loss was $24.75 basic and $24.78 diluted in fiscal year 2010 compared to $16.65

basic and $16.90 diluted in fiscal year 2009
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Other Comprehensive Loss

Other comprehensive loss attributable to CD Technologies Inc decreased to $23461 in fiscal year 2010

from $38348 in fiscal year 2009 This decrease was due to significant decrease in the minimum pension

liability adjustment which decreased to $498 in fiscal year 2010 as compared to $23095 in fiscal year 2009

This was partially offset by an increase in the net loss from $17450 in fiscal year 2009 to $25780 in fiscal year

2010 an unrealized gain on derivative instruments of $2334 in fiscal year 2010 as compared to $1451 in fiscal

year 2009 and change in the currency translation adjustments from gain of $779 in fiscal year 2009 to $258 in

fiscal year 2010 The change in the minimum pension liability adjustment was the result of decrease in our

pension plan assets due to the significant losses in the overall stock market during fiscal year 2009

Future Outlook

We consider the following among other matters to be key elements of focus for our underlying business

plans and strategies for fiscal year 2012 Any failures in effectively implementing these strategies and actions

would impact our performance and results of operations

Lead and Commodity Costs and Pricing

Over the last three fiscal years the costs of our raw materials of which lead is our primary material has

changed significantly from an annual average of $0.89 cents per pound in 2009 then down to $0.83 cents per

pound in 2010 and back up to $0.98 cents per pound in 2011 One of the most important initiatives that we have

implemented has been our effort to drive pricing in our core standby power battery business Previously we had

announced several general price increases and in addition to these base-price increases introduced lead

surcharge mechanism to more directly tie product pricing to the cost of lead As result of these efforts we

believe there has been more rational pricing in the marketplace although there is still lag between when

contractual prices change to reflect actual market prices for lead In addition we utilize number of mechanisms

to manage the impact of changing lead costs including contractual arrangements with our customers longer term

supply agreements with our lead suppliers hedging programs and the use of tolling or recycling of lead with

third party providers

Manufacturing Moves

On September 14 2010 the Company announced plans to close its Leola Pennsylvania manufacturing

facility and transfer production to other existing facilities When complete the closure plan will result in the

elimination of approximately 85 positions Restructuring charges incurred during the fiscal year ended

January 31 2011 include $434 in severance costs $1523 in fixed asset impairment charges and $326 in other

costs Additional closure costs of approximately $300 related to move costs and additional severance are

expected to be recorded over the next twelve months

Jost Management Quality and Six Signa

We are expanding our efforts to reduce costs and improve customer service and satisfaction through

enhanced quality and delivery focus and goals These strategies are being supported by lean supply chain

initiatives and Six Sigma methodologies and tools Through our Six Sigma and lean manufacturing initiatives

we have identified and are taking actions to drive cost reductions that should significantly improve our

performance

We have identified evaluated and implemented with formal selection and approval process several cost

saving projects However in order to realize cost saving benefits for these initiatives costs may be incurred

either in the form of capital expenditures or current period expenses
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

On December 23 2010 the Company completed debt for equity exchange whereby we converted

approximately $125000 of debt into shares of common stock The substantial reduction of the convertible debt

will result in reduction of approximately $7000 in interest expense in fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal year

2011 $3400 reduction in cash paid for interest compared to fiscal year 2011 as only one semi-annual interest

payment was made in cash while the other converted into shares of common stock In connection with the share

issuance in the debt for equity exchange we incurred approximately $7900 of transaction costs of which

approximately $5000 is included in Other expense and approximately $2900 were charged to APIC in the

Companys financial statements

We have incurred significant net losses from continuing operations in the recent past and such losses may
continue in the future Our net losses attributable to CD Technologies Inc were $56146 $25538 and $16885

for the fiscal years ending 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Further as of January 31 2011 we have

approximately $55.000 of debt related to our Credit Facility the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006

Notes and China line of credit In the event we require additional capital in the future due to continued losses in

the future at unanticipated levels debt maturities or otherwise individually or in combination such capital may
not be available on satisfactory terms or available at all Important factors and assumptions made by us when

considering future liquidity include but are not limited to the stabilization of lead prices future demand from

customers continued and sufficient availability of credit from our trade vendor and the ability to re-finance or

obtain debt in the future

Our liquidity is primarily determined by our availability under the Credit Facility our unrestricted cash

balances and cash flows from operations If our cash requirements exceed the cash provided by our operating

activities then we would look to our unrestricted cash balances and the availability under our Credit Facility to

satisfy those needs While we believe our liquidity will be sufficient to meet our ongoing cash needs to fund

operations capital expenditures and debt service for at least the next twelve months there can be no assurance

given in this regard Important factors and assumptions made by us when considering future liquidity include but

are not limited to the stability of lead prices future demand from customers continued and sufficient availability

of credit from our trade vendors and the continued availability under our Credit Facility To the extent unforeseen

events occur or operating results are below forecast we believe we can take certain actions to conserve cash such

as delay major capital investments other discretionary spending reductions or pursue financing from other

sources to preserve liquidity if necessary We estimate capital spending for fiscal year 2012 of approximately

$12000 including funding for new product technologies and cost reduction opportunities

Credit Facility

At January 31 2011 the Company has $75000 principal amount Credit Facility The Credit Facility

consists of an approximately three-year senior revolving line of credit which does not expire until

December 22 2013 as adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement described below with

maximum borrowing capacity of $55000 determined by borrowing base calculation and $20000 term

loan as discussed further below The availability under the revolving line of credit portion of the Credit Facility is

determined by borrowing base is collateralized by first lien on certain assets and bears interest at LIBOR plus

2.50% to 3.00% as adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement described below or Prime plus

1.00% to 1.50% as adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement described below with the rate

premium hased on the amount outstanding and quarterly average excess availability As of January 31 2011 the

maximum availability calculated under the borrowing base was $74625 of which $44495 was funded under the

revolving line of credit portion of the Credit Facility and $5417 was utilized for letters of credit As provided

under the Credit Facility excess borrowing capacity will be available for future working capital needs and

general corporate purposes The Company paid $630 of acquisition fees in the current fiscal year related to

amending the credit facility These fees have been capitalized and are being amortized over the life of the line of

credit
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In April 2010 we completed an Amended and Restated Credit Facility Agreement the Credit

Agreement Also in April 2010 we completed an amendment to the Credit Agreement The Amendment

provided for the addition of $20000 term loan tranche that effectively increased the Credit Facility from

$55.000 to $75000 All obligations under the term loan tranche are secured by first priority lien on all of the

Companys personal property as well as that of certain of its subsidiaries as the guarantor along with certain of

its real estate Repayment of the indebtedness under the term loan tranche is subordinate to the repayment of

indebtedness owed under the revolving credit line portion of the Credit Facility The term loan tranche is payable

on December 22 2013 The term loan tranche bears interest at the rate of 11.0 percent as adjusted by the third

amendment to the Credit Agreement plus the greater of LIBOR and ii percent The term loan tranche of

the credit facility is subject to the same customary affirmative and negative covenants as well as financial

covenants as stated in the Credit Agreement In addition the Company has requirement to maintain minimum

excess availability under the Credit Agreement of $7500 for periods prior to August 2011 and $10000 for

periods after August 2011 Proceeds from the term loan tranche will be utilized to pay down the revolving

credit line facility tranche and for general corporate purposes

The Credit Agreement as amended continues to require us to maintain minimum fixed charge coverage

ratio of 1.11.0 on consolidated basis which becomes applicable only if the availability under the revolving

credit line tranche falls below $7500 prior to August 2011 adjusting to $10000 thereafter

In December 2010 the Company completed two further amendments to the Credit Agreement These

amendments adjusted the interest rates on the facility adjusting the rate on the Credit Facility and term loan

tranches to the rates described above removed the EBITDA covenant requirements from the agreement and

revised the availability block to $7500 for periods prior to August 2011 and $10000 for periods after

August 2011 In addition the maturity date of the Credit Facility and related term loan tranche were extended

to December 22 2013

On December 14 2010 the original term loan lender Ableco L.L.C assigned all of its rights and

obligations under the Loan agreement in respect to the $20000 term loan tranche to Silver Oak Capital L.L.C

an affiliate of Angelo Gordon Co L.P related party of CD Technology Inc As result of this

assignment we recorded loss on the termination of debt of $1910 for the Ableco L.L.C $20000 term loan of

which $800 was an early termination fee

As of January 31 2011 and 2010 we were in compliance with our financial covenants The agreement

restricts payments including dividends and Treasury Stock purchases to no more than $250 for Treasury Stock

purchases in any one calendar year and $1750 for dividends for any one calendar year subject to adjustments of

up to $400 per year in the case of the conversion of debt to stock per the terms of the indenture governing the

2005 Notes These restricted payments can only occur with prior notice to the lenders and provided that there is

minimum of $30000 in excess availability for period of thirty days prior to the dividend

The Credit Agreement includes material adverse change clause which defines an event of default as

material adverse change in the business assets or prospects Our lenders could claim breach under the material

adverse change covenant or the cross-default provisions under the Credit Agreement under certain circumstances

An interpretation of events as material adverse change or any breach of the covenants in the Credit Agreement

or the indentures governing the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could cause default under

the Credit Agreement and other debt including remaining principal outstanding on the 2005 Notes and 2006

Notes which would restrict our ability to borrow under the Credit Agreement thereby significantly impacting

liquidity

China Line of Credit

On January 18 2007 as amended in May 2009 the Company entered into 12 month renewable

non-revolving line of credit facility in China the China Line of Credit Under the terms of the China Line of

Credit the Company may borrow up to 60000 RMB approximately $8790 US Dollars at January 31 2010
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with an interest rate of 5.73% This credit line was established to provide the plant in China the flexibility needed

to finalize the construction of its new manufacturing facility which was completed in March 2007 and to fund

working capital requirements As of January 31 2010 $8644 was funded under this facility This credit facility

matured in May 2010

In May 2010 the Company obtained new line of credit loan with borrowing capacity of up to 82000

RMB approximately $12415 US Dollars at January 31 2011 from local Chinese bank the Chinese LOC
of which 59000 RMB approximately $8933 US Dollars at January 31 2011 was funded as of January 31

2011 The Chinese LOC replaces the previous China Line of Credit discussed above which matured in May

2010 The outstanding borrowings under the Chinese LOC of 59000 RMB as of January 31 2011 have

scheduled maturities of various amounts over the term of the loan with the final payment due in May 2015 This

loan is secured by our Chinese manufacturing facility located in Shanghai China The incremental borrowings of

approximately 23000 RMB approximately $3482 US Dollars at January 31 2011 as of January 31 2011

when and if funded in the future are expected to be used to support capital investments in China

Forward Stock Split

On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys
certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common Stock from

75.000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of Common

Stock would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having been

determined by the Board of Directors of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share

outstanding All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the

forward stock split

Financial Restructuring and Liquidity

Background

During the period from 2003 to 2005 in an effort to diversify into other businesses we created Power

Electronics Division comprising AC/DC and DC/DC power supplies used in advanced computing and routing

systems This new division of ours was created through series of acquisitions including Datel Inc design

manufacturing and distribution company located near Boston Massachusetts Celab Ltd which designed and

manufactured largely military electronic power supplies and Celestica Power Systems carve-out from

Celestica Corp which designed and sold power supplies for mass market OEM applications These acquisitions

were completed by 2005 and were subsequently integrated into stand-alone division of ours called the Power

Electronics Division Our legacy business comprising the entire industrial battery infrastructure was then named

the Standby Power Division which also included with it the Motive Power Business

The acquisitions comprising the Power Electronics Division were financed initially with proceeds from

senior secured credit facility To repay outstanding borrowings under that Credit Facility we ultimately issued

two separate series of convertible notes in 2005 and 2006 in the aggregate principal amount of $129500

In 2007 the decision was made to re-focus the business once again on the Standby Power market This

decision was made in light of increasing competitive pressures
in the glohal power supply markets and an

increase in the cost of lead for industrial batteries throughout the world These developments needed to be

addressed both through continued investments with power electronics requiring greater scale and lower-cost

manufacturing and the industrial battery product lines requiring accelerated redesigns and manufacturing

upgrades for improved materials efficiencies and productivity Given existing financial leverage it was

concluded that the best strategy was to focus on one business to help achieve success that of the Standby Power

Division comprising our industrial battery legacy business
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In August 2007 we completed the sale of our Power Electronics Division to Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd

of Japan This sale returned us to focus on industrial batteries In October 2007 we also announced the sale of

certain assets of our Motive Power Business business that had deteriorated over time to become unprofitable

Rather than expending resources to improve business with low market share we elected instead to exit the

Motive Power Business and focus all of our resources on the Standby Power business where we had maintained

market leading share strong brand and competitive technology base In addition our Chinese joint venture

provided platform for accelerated future growth in this rapidly developing region of the world

Despite the decision to refocus on the Standby Power business liquidity challenges arose as result of the

debt incurred in order to fund previous acquisitions exceeding the cash received from their sale which was

further strained by highly unpredictable and volatile raw materials primarily lead costs and later weakness in

demand associated with the global economic slowdown

ConvertibJe Senior Notes

2005 Notes

On November 21 2005 we sold $75000 aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Notes The 2005 Notes are

convertible into shares of our Common Stock at an initial conversion price of approximately $215.86 per share

as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described herein holder of the 2005 Notes may require us

to repurchase some or all of such holders 2005 Notes for cash upon the occurrence of fundamental change

as such term is defined in the indenture governing the 2005 Notes and on each of November 2012 2015 and

2020 All of the approximately $72300 of net proceeds of the offering were used to repay outstanding

borrowings under our then existing senior secured credit facility

2006 Notes

On November 22 2006 we sold $54500 aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Notes The 2006 Notes are

convertible into shares of our Common Stock under certain circumstances at an initial conversion price of

approximately $123.35 per share as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described herein holder

of the 2006 Notes may require us to repurchase some or all of the holders 2006 Notes for cash upon the

occurrence of fundamental change as such term is defined in the indenture governing the 2006 Notes and

on each of November 15 2011 2016 and 2021 Nearly all of the approximately $51700 of net proceeds of the

offering were used to repay the Companys $50000 secured term loan

Put Rights and Fundamental Change Provisions

The 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes had provisions whereby the holders of such notes could have required

us to pay
the following principal payments $52000 on November 2011 with respect to the 2006 Notes and

$75000 on November 15 2012 with respect to the 2005 Notes Furthermore payments of principal on the 2005

Notes and the 2006 Notes may be accelerated upon the occurrence of fundamental change as defined in the

indentures governing the 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes which would require us to purchase such notes at 100% of

their aggregate principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest thereon within approximately 55 business

days of such occurrence By the second half of fiscal year 2011 we believed that there was substantial risk that

fundamental change may occur as result of the suspension of trading and potential delisting of our common

stock from the New York Stock Exchange the NYSE

During this period our 30 day average market capitalization had fallen below $15000 resulting in the

NYSE suspending trading of our common stock on October 2010 On December 17 2010 the NYSE filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC notification of removal from listing on Form 25 to

report that the shares of our Common Stock would no longer be listed on the NYSE as of December 27 2010

Such development constituted fundamental change under our convertible notes
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Financial Restructuring

We routinely assesses strategic opportunities as part of our evaluation of our business and the industry in

which we operate and reviews various alternatives intended to strengthen our businesses and enhance long-term

stockholder value As part of these evaluations we have from time-to-time considered various strategic

alternatives including capital raising transactions refinancing our 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes and existing credit

facilities and potential sale of part or all of us

During fiscal years 2010 and 2011 we began to investigate the feasibility of executing transaction or

series of transactions designed to enhance our liquidity and reduce our debt including sale of us refinancing

of our existing debt facilities entering into new debt facilities and capital raising transactions We retained

financial advisors to support these efforts In view of the substantial risk of fundamental change occurring

under the 2006 Notes as described above these efforts were accelerated in the second half of fiscal year 2011

As disclosed in our Quarterly Report on Form 1OQ for the period ended July 31 2010 due to cumulative

losses substantial indebtedness and likely future inability to comply with certain covenants in the agreements

governing our indebtedness including among others covenants related to continued listing on national

automated stock exchange and future EBITDA requirements in addition to our current liquidity situation we

concluded that there was substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as going concern for period longer

than twelve months from July 31 2010 Our ability to continue as going concern was predicated on among

other factors return to profitable operations successful restructuring of the 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes

and possible amendment of future EBITDA requirements under our Credit Facility Given these factors and

ongoing liquidity risks we undertook review of strategic and financing alternatives which led to the

announcement on September 14 2010 that we had entered into restructuring support agreement the RSA
with two convertible noteholders the Supporting Noteholders The Supporting Noteholders agreed to

restructuring of the 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes which was to he effected through an offer to exchange the

outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes for up to 95% of our common stock the Exchange Offer or ii

prepackaged plan of reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S Bankruptcy Code the Prepackaged Plan

together with the Exchange Offer the Restructuring Pending the completion of our Restructuring our future

remained uncertain

On October 21 2010 the Company filed preliminary Registration Statement on Form S-4 the

Registration Statement with the SEC in connection with the proposed Restructuring the Registration

Statement was declared effective on November 30 2010 The Company believed the Restructuring was required

to address an immediate need for liquidity in light of our anticipated inability to make required payments on our

outstanding indebtedness in the near term The Restructuring consisted of the following

An out-of-court financial restructuring which we refer to as the Exchange Offer consisting of

the offer to exchange all of our outstanding Notes including all accrued and unpaid interest

thereon up to but excluding the date of the consummation of the Exchange Offer for 95% of the

Common Stock subject to dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the 2011 Management

Incentive Plan with the amount of Common Stock to be issued to the Noteholders to be ratably

reduced in the event that less than 100% of the outstanding Notes are tendered and accepted in the

Exchange Offer or in the alternative if we did not receive the valid tender of at least 95% in

aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes or if all other conditions to completion of the

Exchange Offer wee not satisfied or waived

An in-court financial restructuring through which we would seek to accomplish the results

contemplated by the Exchange Otter through prepackaged plan of reorganization which we refer to

as the Prepackaged Plan The Prepackaged Plan consisted of

the cancellation of the Notes with each Noteholder receiving in respect of its claims under the

Notes if the Shareholder Exchange Consent has been obtained its pro rota allocation of shares

in the aggregate representing 95% of the New Common Stock of the Reorganized Company
which New Common Stock shall be subject to dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the
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2011 Management Incentive Plan or if the Shareholder Exchange Consent has not been

obtained in respect of its claims under the Notes its pro i-eta allocation of shares in the aggregate

representing 97.5% of the New Common Stock which New Common Stock shall be subject to

dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the 2011 Management Incentive Plan and the

Shareholder Warrants and

the cancellation of all existing Common Stock and claims arising therefrom or related thereto

with each Common Stock bolder receiving in respect of its Common Stock if the Shareholder

Exchange Consent has been obtained its pro raw allocation of shares in the aggregate

representing 5.0% of the New Common Stock in respect of its equity interest which New

Common Stock shall be subject to dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the 2011

Management Incentive Plan or if the Shareholder Exchange Consent has not been obtained its

pro raw allocation of shares in the aggregate representing 2.5% of the New Common Stock

Subsequent to market closure on December 23 2010 we announced that we had successfully completed an

out of court financial restructuring to exchange our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 the

2006 NotesS and 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 the 2005 Notes and together with the 2006

Notes the Notes for our Common Stock on the terms and subject to the conditions our effective registration

statement on Form S-4 as amended the Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933

Approximately 98.9 1% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2005 Notes and approximately

97.62% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate of approximately 97.99% of

the outstanding principal of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with the terms set forth therein at 1159 PM EST on December 20

2010 The consummation of the Exchange Offer was conditioned upon among other things at least 95% of the

aggregate principal amount of the Notes being tendered and not withdrawn In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split discussed below In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split discussed below As result of the forgoing transactions

We issued approximately 8398237 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split

discussed below for an aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Notes of $74186 plus accrued interest

We issued approximately 5743001 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split

discussed below for an aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Notes of $50760 plus accrued interest

We recorded net gain of $12050 affecting diluted EPS by $4.67 per share that was recorded

separately as Gain on debt for equity exchange in the accompanying consolidated statement of

operations for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 In accordance with accounting literature related

to debt for equity exchanges encompassed in Accounting Standards Codification the ASC 470-20

Debt with Conversion and Other Features and 470-60 DebtTroubled Debt Restructuring by

Debtors we recorded net gain of $12050 in connection with the Exchange Offer in December 2010

This gain was calculated taking into account the difference between the carrying value of the

approximately 97.62% of our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 and

approximately 98.91% of our 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 including accrued interest

adjusted for unamortized debt issuance costs unamortized debt discount and the estimated fair market

value of the Common Stock issued in the exchange as well as ii the estimated fair value of the

liability and equity components of the notes at the time of the exchange

Expenses from the Exchange Offer included as part of other expenses were approximately $6600

$1359 of which was due to the acceleration of vesting on stock compensation and director fees $4987

which was due to legal fees and other costs not capitalizable as part of the exchange transaction and

loss on the termination of debt of $1910 for the Ableco L.L.C $20000 term loan of which $800 was

an early termination fee partially offset by $1 .647 gain on the termination of the supplemental

retirement plan
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Our Board of Directors was reconstituted such that there are now seven directors one of the seven

directors being our chief executive officer and of the remaining six directors five were recommended

by the Supporting Noteholders as defined below and one Kevin Dowd the former Chairman of the

Companys board of directors was selected by and from the Companys current Board of Directors

The remaining member in his capacity as the sole remaining member of the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee of the board of directors and sole member of the board of directors appointed

the chief executive officer and the five other directors as recommended by the Supporting Noteholders

as defined above to the board of directors Thereafter directors will be nominated for election by

stockholders in accordance with our normal corporate governance procedures

Pursuant to the terms of Restructuring Support Agreement dated September 14 2010 between us

and certain other parties thereto the Supporting Noteholders we reserved approximately 10% of the

outstanding shares of us issuable upon exercise of options granted under new stock incentive plan by

our Board of Directors

Going Concern and Liquidity

We believed that the completion of the Restructuring was critical to our continuing viability As described

above in connection with the Companys filing of our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter

ended July 31 2010 issued on September 14 2010 the Company determined that there was substantial doubt

about our ability to continue as going concern The Company reached that conclusion given there was

substantial risk that fundamental change would occur with respect to the Notes in the event our Common Stock

was delisted If we did not complete the Restructuring prior to the time that we were required to purchase the

Notes we would not have the cash on hand to comply with our repurchase obligations In addition in the

Registration Statement filed on October 20 2010 our independent registered public accounting firm updated

their report dated April 20 2010 to include an explanatory paragraph as there was substantial doubt about our

ability to continue as going concern

As result of the Restructuring our indebtedness was reduced from approximately $175000 to $50000

including approximately $2000 of the remaining outstanding 2005 and 2006 Notes that were not converted and

our annual cash interest burden was reduced by approximately $6700 We believe that by addressing our capital

structure and elimination of substantial interest burden through the Restructuring implementing its focused

pricing strategy combined with our ongoing efficiency initiatives we will enhance our ability to achieve

profitable operations in the future We continue to focus on manufacturing and marketing integrated reserve

power systems and components for the standby power market We also continue to implement strategies for

responding to changing market conditions including by implementing various initiatives to increase revenues in

North America and focus on the new product development and growth of our Asian operations

Although we concluded as part of the Registrations Statement filing that there was substantial doubt about

our ability to continue as going concern we believe that this doubt was related to the potential requirement to

purchase the Notes totaling approximately $127000 and not due to cash liquidity relating to operations In that

regard the following discussion below summarizes the cash utilization during fiscal year 2011 and after giving

effect for non-recurring cash items we believe there is adequate liquidity to service operation for the next twelve

months

From the period April 30 2010 to January 31 2011 our borrowings under the Companys Credit Facility

increased by approximately $14200 Of the $14200 increase approximately $10000 relates to specific

Restructuring cash payments including interest on the Notes and professional fees incurred relating to the

Restructuring with the balance principally related to trade credit tightening that we would not expect to recur in

fiscal year 2012 Excluding the impact of these non-recurring cash usages during this period our liquidity would

have remained largely unchanged At January 31 2011 we have $75000 principal amount Line of Credit

Facility which expires in December 2013 The availability under the Credit Facility is determined by

borrowing base is collateralized by first lien on certain assets and bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.0% or Prime
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plus 0.5% As of January 31 2011 $44495 was funded on the Credit Facility and $5417 was utilized for letters

of credit As provided under the Credit Facility excess borrowing capacity will he available for future working

capital needs and general corporate purposes
Our liquidity is primarily determined by our availability under the

Credit Facility our unrestricted cash balances and cash flows from operations If cash requirements exceed the

cash provided by operating activities then we would look to our unrestricted cash balances of approximately

$3700 at January 31 2011 and the undrawn availability under our Credit Facility to satisfy those needs

Important factors and assumptions made by us when considering future liquidity include but are not limited to

the volatility of lead prices future demand from customers continued sufficient availability of credit from trade

vendors and the ability to re-finance or obtain debt in the future To the extent unforeseen events occur or

operating results are below forecast we believe we can take certain actions to conserve cash such as delay major

capital investments other discretionary spending reductions or pursue financing from other sources to preserve

liquidity if necessary

Our liquidity derived from the Credit Facility as amended is based on availability determined by

borrowing base In addition the Credit Facility requires the Company to meet minimum fixed charge coverage

ratio if the excess availability falls below $7500 through August 31 2011 adjusted to $10000 thereafter The

fixed charge coverage
ratio for the last twelve consecutive fiscal month period shall be not less than 1.101.00

We would not have met the fixed charge coverage ratio This failure is not an event of default under the Credit

Facility but restricts availability otherwise determined The Credit Facility also previously included minimum

EBITDA requirements beginning with our quarter ending April 30 2011 Pursuant to an amendment to the

Credit Facility in December 2010 these minimum EBITDA requirements were eliminated for the duration of the

term of the Credit Facility

Following the successful Restructuring favorable Credit Facility amendments and improved operating

performance we believe that for the next twelve months cash generated from operations together with

availability under its Existing Credit Facility will be sufficient to allow us to fund its operations and to increase

working capital as necessary to support our strategy

Other Equity Transactions

Forward Stock Split

On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys

certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common Stock from

75.000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of Common

Stock would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having been

determined by our Board of Directors As result of the forward stock split the issued and outstanding shares of

Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share outstanding All of our stock

related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options restricted stock

performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented has been adjusted to reflect the forward stock split

Subsequent EventReverse Stock Split

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that an Amended

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to fl effect reverse stock split of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of ours at reverse stock split ratio of I-for-35 and ii to decrease the

number of authorized shares of our Common Stock from 600000000 to 25000000 The reverse stock split was

effective on March 14 2011 As result of the reverse stock split our issued and outstanding shares of Common

Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares outstanding All of the stock related

information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options restricted stock performance stock

and loss per share for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the effects of the reverse stock split
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Convertible Notes

As of January 31 2011 the 2005 Notes have remaining balance of $719 net of $95 of unamortized debt

costs and our 2006 Notes have remaining balance of $1240 These convertible notes have initial maturities put

provisions in November 2012 and November 2011 respectively The remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and

2006 Notes based on limited volumes and illiquid markets traded at 59.9% and 72.0% of face value on

January 31 2011 respectively

During fiscal year 2011 we announced that we had elected not to make the semi-annual interest payment

due on the 2005 Notes or 2006 Notes We have continued to accrue interest on these outstanding balances As

result of the default under the indentures governing the remaining outstanding 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes for

non-payment of interest we have classified the outstanding amounts of both Notes in current liabilities as of

January 31 2011

Historical Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations was $15547 for fiscal year 2011 compared

to $8068 in the comparable period of the prior fiscal year This decrease in cash flows from operations of $7479

is primarily the result of trade credit tightening resulting in an decrease in accounts payable partially offset by

improved credit terms on lead purchases in Asia an increase in accounts receivable driven by strong fourth

quarter fiscal year 2011 sales of $98.670 up from $88400 in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2010 principally

from growth of our Asian operation and payments of professional fees associated with the Companys

refinancing activities of approximately $7900 costs of which were either recognized as additional paid in capital

or expense as applicable These unfavorable changes were partially offset by an increase in other current

liabilities of $4083 compared to decrease of $2346 in the prior fiscal year resulting in net change of $6429
Other current liabilities have increased primarily due to receipt of an advance payment deferred revenue of

approximately $3600 for large customer orders in China While the net loss increased significantly to $55557

from $25780 this increase was primarily the result of non-cash charges for goodwill impairments net of taxes

of $45.733 and fixed asset impairment charges of 1.523 partially offset by the net gain on the debt for equity

exchange of $12050 Excluding those non-cash charges the net loss would have been approximately $8200

lower in the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 compared to the comparable period in the prior year

The reduction in accounts payable and accrued liabilities for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 was

attributable principally to the trade credit tightening the Company has experienced The increase in accounts

receivable is principally the result of customer mix and growth in Asia where terms are often longer

Lead traded at an average of $1.12 per pound in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2011 as compared to an

average of $1.06 per pound in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2010 During fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 the

average LME price per pound of lead was as follows

Fiscal Year 2011 2010 2009

Average annual LME price per pound of lead $0.98 $0.83 $0.89

Lowest average monthly LME price per pound of lead $0.71 $0.50 $0.44

Highest average monthly LME price per pound of lead $1.23 $1.07 $1.36

Net cash used in investing activities was $6570 in fiscal year 2011 as compared to $13893 in the prior

fiscal year Acquisitions of property plant and equipment was $6627 in fiscal year 2011 compared with $14.760

in fiscal year 2010 Additionally restricted cash associated with our lead hedges decreased by $57 compared

with $849 in the prior year

Net cash provided by financing activities was $23.004 in fiscal year 2011 as compared to $2 1.432 in the

prior fiscal year In fiscal year 2011 we borrowed total of $25912 compared to $18605 in the prior fiscal year

from our U.S credit facility to pay
for capital additions and to fund operations In fiscal year 2010 we also

borrowed $3072 from our line of credit in China
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Pension Costs

We have various non-contributory defined benefit pension plans which cover certain employees in the

United States

Accounting for pensions requires the use of estimates and assumptions regarding numerous factors

including discount rates rates of return on plan assets compensation increases mortality and employee turnover

Independent actuaries in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America perform the required calculations to determine expense and liabilities for pension benefits Actual

results that differ from our actuarial assumptions are generally accumulated and amortized over future periods

Assumptions used to determine periodic pension costs and benefit obligations for our defined benefit

pension plans from continuing operations were

Pension Benefits

Fiscal Year 2011 2010 2009

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation as of January 31
Discount rate 5.40% 5.75% 6.60%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost for the periods ended

January 3l
Discount rate 5.75% 6.60% 6.35%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Determined as of the end of the fiscal year

Determined as of the beginning of the fiscal year

Estimated sensitivities to the net periodic pension cost for the U.S pension plans are as follows

25 basis point change in the discount rates from those used would have changed fiscal year 2011

pension expense by approximately $198

25 basis point change in the expected rates of return from those used would have changed fiscal
year

2011 pension expense by approximately $129 and

25 basis point change in compensation levels from those used would have no material impact on

fiscal year 2011 pension expense as result of the frozen and non-pay related plans

In fiscal years 2011 and 2010 the accumulated benefit obligation exceeded the plan assets by $32339 and

$30355 respectively

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 the Act was signed into law in the U.S in August 2006 The Act

introduces new funding requirements for defined pension plans provides guidelines for measuring pension plan

assets and pension obligations for funding purposes introduces benefit limitations for certain underfunded plans

and raises tax deduction limits for contributions to retirement plans The new funding requirements became

effective for plan years beginning after December 31 2007

In fiscal years 2011 and 2010 our contributions to our plans were $3087 and $2.336 respectively We

expect to make required cash contributions totaling approximately $8000 to our pension plans and $177 to our

postretirement medical plan in fiscal year 2012
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Con tractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following tables summarize our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of January 31
2011

Contractual Obligations Total

Debt 55482

Interest payable on debt 12115

Operating leases 7604

Projected lead purchases 77000

Equipment 533

Capital leases 143

Total cuntractual cash obligatiuns $152877

Paymen ts Due by Period

Lessthan 1-3 4-5 After

year years years years

2.619 $50524 $2339

4321 7215 579

1.515 2718 2010 1361

76000 1000

533

73 56 14

$85061 $61513 $4942 $1361

These amounts assume that the convertible notes are current liabilities shows the Credit Facility as paid in

fiscal year 2014 and includes interest on the Credit Facility through fiscal year 2014 calculated at the same

interest rate and outstanding balance at January 31 2011 and the China debt up through fiscal year 2015

Amounts are based on the cash price of lead at January 31 2011 which was $1.17 per pound

Amount of Commitmen Expira tion per Period

Total

Amount Less than -3 After

Other Commercial Commitments

Standby letters of credit

Committed

$5417

year

$5355

years

$62

years years

Total commercial commitments 55.417 $5355 $62

OffBalance Sheet Arrangements

Other than certain elements of our standby letters of credits arrangements we have no off-balance sheet

arrangements at January 31 2011

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note to the audited consolidated financial statements Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

for description of new accounting pronouncements including expected dates of adoption and estimated effects

on results of operations and financial condition which is incorporated herein by reference

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

All dollar amounts in this Item 7A are in thousands

Market Risk Factors

We are exposed to various market risks The primary financial risks include fluctuations in the price of raw

materials interest rates and changes in
currency exchange rates

On occasion we enter into non-deliverable forward contracts with certain financial counterparties to hedge

our exposure to the fluctuations in the price of lead the primary raw material component used in our business In

addition from time to time we may purchase put options to sell lead as hedge against significant price

decreases to mitigate risks related to forward contracts The value of these put options is netted against the value

of the forward contract We employ hedge accounting in the treatment of these contracts Changes in the value of
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the contracts are marked to market each month and the gains and losses are recorded in other comprehensive

income loss until they are released to the income statement through cost of sales in the same period as is the

hedged item lead

At January 31 2010 we had hedged approximately 6.8 million pounds of lead at an average price of $1.01

per pound We had no outstanding hedge positions at January 31 2011

The net market value of our lead contracts was liability of $0 and $643 at January 31 2011 and 2010

respectively At January 31 2010 10% change in the price of lead would result in $691 change in the market

value of the lead contract

Our financial instruments are subject to interest rate risk and fair value risk Our financial instruments

include our revolving credit facilities our convertible notes and our capital leases The net market value of our

debt instruments excluding capital leases was $54808 and $107282 at January 31 2011 and 2010

respectively According to our established policies we monitor ratios of fixed versus variable rate debt in order

to mitigate our risk to changes in interest rates

We occasionally use currency forwards and swaps to hedge anticipated cash flows in foreign currencies

There were no foreign currency hedges outstanding at January 31 2011 and 2010

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary data listed in Item 15a1 hereof are incorporated herein by

reference and are filed as part of this report immediately following the signature page of this Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Auditors on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management including the CEO and CFO conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K Disclosure controls

and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the

Exchange Act such as this Form 10-K is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the rules and forms of the SEC Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation

controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to he disclosed hy us in our reports
that we

file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management including our CEO

and CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Our CEO and CFO have concluded based on their evaluation that as of January 31 2011 the end of the

period covered by this report our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-

15e under the Exchange Act are effective to provide reasonable assurance that the foregoing objectives are

achieved

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting which is process designed by or under the supervision of our CEO and CFO to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Our internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of our assets
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ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts

and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Companys

management and directors and

iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use

or disposition of our assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 31
2011 In making our assessment of internal control over financial reporting management used the criteria set

forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in its Internal

ControlIntegrated Framework

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by COSO
our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of January 31
2011 The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 31 2011 has been audited

by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which

appears
herein

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended January 31
2011 that materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over

financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

Employment Agreements

If we terminate the employment of named executive officer with an employment agreement without cause

other than as result of death or disability or if the executive terminates his employment after the occurrence of

any action or inaction by us that constitutes material breach of the employment agreement and such

termination is not within months prior to or 24 months after change in control as defined in the employment

agreements then we must pay the executive the following non-change-in-control severance benefits as

applicable

Dr Graves

Two times annual base salary in effect immediately before termination

Two times target bonus amount in effect immediately before termination and

The cost to provide Dr Graves and his eligible beneficiaries if applicable coverage under our

medical dental and vision plans provided Dr Graves timely elects COBRA coverage upon
termination of employment for 24 months after the termination or until Dr Graves obtains

alternative coverage if earlier

Mr Harvie

One times annual base salary in effect immediately before termination

One times target bonus amount in effect immediately before termination and
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The cost to provide Mr Harvie and his eligible beneficiaries if applicable coverage under our

medical dental and vision plans provided Mr Harvie timely elects COBRA coverage upon

termination of employment for 12 months after the termination or until Mr Harvie obtains

alternative coverage if earlier

In general we would pay these benefits through normal payroll installments through the period ending as of

the end of the second month following the calendar
year

in which the termination occurs with the balance to be

paid in single lump sum within the 15-day period immediately following the end of the month in which the

installment payments are to cease

Proposed Amendments to Change-In-Control Benefits

The employment agreements provide for double trigger change-in-control severance benefits for

change in control that occurs after the amended employment agreement is signed This means that the following

two events must occur before we will pay these benefits to the executives change-in-control must occur

after the amended employment agreement is signed and within months prior to or 24 months after the

change in control the executive officers employment must be terminated by us without cause other than as

result of death or disability or by the executive officer due to our material breach of his employment agreement

within months prior to the change-in-control or for good reason as defined in the employment agreements

within 24 months after the change-in-control If these events occur we must pay the executive officer the

following change-in-control severance benefits as applicable

Dr Graves

Three times annual base salary in effect immediately before termination

Three times the greater of the average of the annual bonus paid with respect to the three most

recently completed fiscal years or Dr Graves target bonus percentage times base salary

The cost to provide Dr Graves and his eligible beneficiaries if applicable coverage under our

medical dental and vision plans provided Dr Graves timely elects COBRA coverage upon

termination of employment for 36 months after the termination or until Dr Graves obtains

alternative coverage if earlier

Outplacement services and

Immediate vesting of all previously unvested stock options and stock awards

Mr Harvie

Two times annual base salary in effect immediately before termination

Two times target bonus amount in effect immediately before termination

The cost to provide Mr Harvie and his eligible beneficiaries if applicable coverage under our

medical dental and vision plans provided Mr Harvie timely elects COBRA coverage upon

termination of employment for 24 months after the termination or until Mr Harvie obtains

alternative coverage if earlier

Outplacement services and

Immediate vesting of all previously unvested stock uptions and stuck awards

The executives will receive the base salary annual bonus payments due under these agreements in lump

sum immediately following termination with respect to change-in-control
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PART HI

Item 10 Directors and Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the information under the captions

Election of Directors Current Executive Officers and Compliance with Section 16a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 included in our proxy statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed

with the SEC

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the information under the caption

Executive Compensation included in our proxy statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be

filed with the SEC

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the information under the captions

Principal Stockholders Beneficial Ownership of Management and Equity Compensation Plan Information

included in our proxy statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information with respect to our policy and procedures for review approval or ratification of transactions

with related persons is incorporated by reference herein to our proxy statement and is included in the section

entitled Review and Approval of Transactions with Related Persons Policies and Procedures Information with

respect to director independence is incorporated by reference herein to our proxy statement for our 2011 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is included in the section

entitled Board of Directors and Corporate Governance

Item 14 PrincipalAccountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information under the caption

Fees of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in our proxy statement for our 2011 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this report

The following financial statements are inclnded in this report on Form 10-K

CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 31 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and

2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Rows for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and

2009

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following financial statement schedule is included in this report on Form 10-K

CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011
2010 and 2009

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Exhibits
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iNDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Report F.chihit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CD as amended 8-K 06/30/98 3.1

3.2

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated 8-K 12/21/10 3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of CD
3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated 10-K 3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of CD
3.4 Amended and Restated By-laws of CD 8-K 12/4/07 3.2

4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of February 22 2000 between 10-Q 10/31/04 10.3

CD and Mellon Investor Services LLC formerly

ChaseMellon Shareholder Services L.L.C as rights agent

which includes as Exhibit thereto the form of rights

certificate Amendment to Rights Agreement

4.2 Purchase Agreement dated November 16 2005 among 10-K 01/31/06 4.2

CD Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Wachovia Capital

Markets LLC

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement dated November 21 2005 10-K 01/31/06 4.3

among CD Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Wachovia

Capital Markets I.l.C

4.4 Indenture dated as of November 21 2005 between CD 10-K 01/31/06 4.4

and Bank of New York as trustee

4.5 Form of CD Technologies Inc 5.25% Convertible Senior JO-K 01/31/06 4.5

Notes due 2025

4.6 Purchase Agreement dated November 15 2006 between 8-K 11/15/06 10.1

CD and the several named purchasers named in schedule

thereto

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement dated November 21 2006 8-K 11/22/06 10.1

between CD and the several purchasers named in

Schedule thereto

4.8 Indenture dated as of November 21 2006 between CD 8-K 11/16/06 4.8

and the Bank of New York as trustee

4.9 Form of CD Technologies Inc 5.50% Convertible Senior 8-K 11/16/06 10.1

Notes due 2026

10.1 Purchase Agreement dated November 27 1985 between S-l 1/28/87 10.1

Allied Allied Canada Inc and CD Amendments thereto

dated January 28 and October 1986

10.2 Agreement dated December 15 1986 between CD and 5-1 1/28/87 10.2

Allied

10.3 Lease Agreement dated February 15 1994 by and between 10-K 01/31/04 10.3

Sequatchie Associates Incorporated and CD Charter

Power Systems Inc which has since been merged into

CD Extension and Modification Agreement effective

December 19 2003
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Report Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith

10.4 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of November 23 03/01/99 2.1

1998 among Johnson Controls Inc and its subsidiaries as

Seller and CD and CD Acquisition Corp as Purchaser

10.5 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of 10-Q 07/31/04 10.5

June 30 2004 among CD Technologies Inc and Certain 10-K 1/31/05 10.5

of its Subsidiaries as the Borrowers the Subsidiaries 10-K 1/31/05 10.5

identified herein as the Guarantors Citizens Bank as 10-K 1/31/05 10.5

Syndication Agent LaSalle National Bank National 8-K 11/16/05 10.1

Association as Co-Agent Bank of America N.A as 8-K 7/20/07 10.1

Administrative Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer 10-Q 7/31/07 10.1

and the Other Lenders Party Hereto Arranged By Banc of

Americh Securities LLC as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole

Book Manager First Amendment thereto dated as of

December 2004 Second Amendment thereto dated as of

April 21 2005 Third Amendment thereto dated as of

April 29 2005 Fourth Amendment and Waiver thereto

dated as of November 2005 Fifth Amendment thereto

dated July 20 2007 Sixth Amendment thereto dated

August 30 2007

10.6 Security Agreement dated April 21 2005 among CD 10-K 01/31/05 10.6

Technologies Inc. CD International Investment

Holdings Inc CD Charter Holdings Inc CD
Technologies Datel Inc Datel Systems Inc CD
Dynamo Corp Dynamo Acquisition Corp CD
Technologies CPS LLC and Datel Holding Corporation

as Grantors and the Bank of America N.A in its capacity

as administrative agent for the holders of the Secured

Obligations

10.7 Uncommitted loan facility dated June 2001 between 10-Q 04/30/01 10.2

CD Holdings Limited and ABN Amro Bank NV

10.8 Asset Purchase Agreement among Matsushita Battery 8-K 09/25/03 10.1

Industrial Corporation of America Matsushita Battery

Industrial de Mexico S.A de C.V CD Technologies

Inc and CD Technologies Reynosa de R.L de C.V
dated as of August 27 2003

10.9 Agreement for Manufacture between Dynamo Power 10-Q 10/31/04 10.2

System USA LLC and Celestica Hong Kong Limited and

CD Technologies Inc dated September 30 2004

Portions of this exhibit have been deleted pursuant to the

Companys Application Requesting Grant of Confidential

Treatment under the Exchange Act and pursuant to the

Rule I2b-24 promulgated thereunder

10.10 Assignment and Assumption dated as of August 2004 by 10-Q 07/31/04 10.2

and between Bank of America N.A and Sovereign Bank
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Exhibit Description

Lender Joinder AgTeement dated as of August 2004

among CD Technologies Inc and Certain of its

subsidiaries as the Borrowers and Calyon New York Branch

as the New Lender and Bank of America N.A as

Administrative Agent

10.12 Lender Joinder Agreement dated as of August 2004

among CD Technologies Inc and Certain of its

subsidiaries as the Borrowers and Sovereign Bank as the

New Lender and Bank of America N.A as Administrative

Agent

10.13 LLC Interest Purchase Agreement between Celestica

Corporation Celestica Inc and CD Technologies Inc

dated September 23 2004

10.14 Share Purchase Agreement between Celestica International

Inc Celestica Inc CD Power Systems Canada ULC

and CD Technologies Inc dated September 23 2004

10.15 Asset Purchase Agreement between Celestica International

Inc Celestica Corporation Celestica Thailand Limited

Dynamo Acquisition Corp Celestica Inc and CD
Technologies Inc dated September 23 2004

10.16 Asset Purchase Agreement between Celestica Electronics

Shanghai Co Ltd Datel Electronic Technology

Shanghai Co Ltd Celestica Inc and CD Technologies

Inc dated September 23 2004

10.17 Inventory Purchase Agreement between Celestica Suzhou

Technology Ltd Dynamo Acquisition Corp. Celestica Inc

and CD Technologies Inc. dated September 23 2004

10.18 Purchase Price Adjustment Agreement between Celestica

International Inc Celestica Corporation Celestica

Thailand Limited Celestica Electronics Shanghai Co

Ltd Celestica Suzhou Technology Ltd Celestica Inc

CD Power Systems Canada ULC CD Technologies

Inc Dynamo Acquisition Corp and Datel Electronic

Technology Shanghai Co Ltd dated September 23 2004

10.19 Merger Agreement dated as of June 10 2004 among CD
Technologies Inc. CLETADD Acquisition Corporation

and Datel Holding Company

10.20 Loan and Security Agreement dated December 2005 by

and among CD Technologies Inc CD Technologies

Datel Inc. CD Technologies CPS LLC as Borrowers

and CD Charter Holdings Inc CD Dynamo Corp

Dynamo Acquisition Corp CD International Investment

Holdings Inc and Datel Holding Corporation as

Guarantors and Ableco Finance LLC as Agent
Amendment No thereto dated March 30 2006

Exhibit

Number

10.11

Incorporated by Reference

Report Exhibit Filed

Form Date Number Herewith

10-Q 07/31/04 10.3

l0-Q 07/31/04 10.4

8-K 09/30/04 2.1

8-K 09/30/04 2.2

8-K 09/30/04 2.3

8-K 09/30/04 2.4

8-K 09/30/04 2.5

8-K 09/30/04 2.6

8-K 09/30/04 10.1

10-K 1/31/06 10.2

8-K 04/05/06 10.1
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Exhibit Description

Loan and Security Agreement dated December 2005 by

and among CD Technologies Inc CD Technologies

Datel Inc CD Technologies CPS LLC as Borrowers

and CD Charter Holdings Inc CD Dynamo Corp

Dynamo Acquisition Corp CD International Investment

Holdings Inc and Datel Holding Corporation as

Guarantors and Wachovia Bank National Association as

Administrative Agent and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC

as Sole Lead Arranger Manager and Bookrunner

Amendment No thereto dated March 30 2006

Amendment No thereto dated December 21 2006

Amendment No thereto dated April 13 2007

10.22 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated

as of April 2010 by and among CD CD International

Investment Holdings Inc CD Charter Holdings Inc

CD Energy Storage LLC and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association

10.23 Amendment No to Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Agreement dated as of April 20 2010 by and

among CD CD International Investment Holdings Inc.

CD Charter Holdings Inc CD Energy Storage LLC

and Wells Fargo Bank National Association

10.24 Amendment No to Amended and Restated Loan and

Security Agreement dated as of December 13 2010 2010

by and among CD CD International Investment

Holdings Inc CD Charter Holdings Inc CD Energy

Storage LLC and Wells Fargo Bank National Association

10.25 Consent Waiver and Amendment No to Amended and

Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of

December 23 2010 by and among CD certain of its

subsidiary guarantors the lenders that are signatory thereto

and Wells Fargo Bank National Association in its capacity

as agent

10.26 Agreement for Termination of Manufacturing Agreement

and Transfer of Manufacturing Operations between CD
Technologies CPS LLC CD Technologies Inc and

Celestica Hong Kong Limited dated April 2006

10.27 Form of CD Technologies Inc 5.5% Convertible Senior

Notes due 2026

10.28 Purchase Agreement dated June 19 2007 between CD
Technologies Inc and Murata Manufacturing Co. Ltd

10.29 Asset Purchase Agreement dated October 24 2007

between CD Technologies Inc and Crown Battery

Manufacturing Co

Incorporated by Reference

Report Exhibit Filed

Form Date Number Herewith

10-K 01/31/06 10.21

8-K 03/31/06 10.2

8-K 12/21/06 10.1

10-K 01/31/07 10.21

8-K 07/20/07 10.1

10-Q 07/31/07 10.1

Exhibit

Number

10.21

8-K 04/15/10 10.1

8-K 04/20/10 10.1

8-K 12/20/10 10.1

8-K 12/27/10 10.2

10-Q 4/30/06 10.9

8-K 11/15/06 10.1

8-K 8/31/07 10.1

8-K 10/24/07 10.1
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Exhibit Description
_________

Agreement dated the 1st day of February 2007 by and

among CD Technologies Inc Delaware corporation

the Company SCSF Equities LLC Delaware limited

liability company Sun Capital Securities Offshore Fund

Ltd Cayman Islands corporation Sun Capital Securities

Fund LP Delaware limited partnership Sun Capital

Securities Advisors LP Delaware limited partnership

Sun Capital Securities LLC Delaware limited liability

company and Rodger Krouse collectively the Sun

Parties

10.31 Restructuring Support Agreement dated September 14 8-K 09/14/10

2010 by and between CD certain funds and/or accounts

managed or advised by Angelo Gordon Co L.P and

certain funds and/or managed or advised Bruce Co

10.32 Investors Rights Agreement dated as of December 23 8-K 12/27/10

2010 by and among CD Technologies Inc Angelo

Gordon Co L.P and Bruce Co

Management Contracts or Plans

10.33 Charter Power Systems Inc 1996 Stock Option Plan First

Amendment to CD Technologies Inc 1996 Stock Option

Plan formerly known as the Charter Power Systems Inc

1996 Stock Option Plan dated April 27 1999

10.34 CD Technologies Inc Amended and Restated 1998 10-K 1/31/01

Stock Option Plan

10.35 CD Technologies Inc Savings Plan as restated and

amended First Amendment thereto dated June 12 2002

Second Amendment thereto dated November 20 2002

Third Amendment thereto dated June 18 2003

10.35 CD Technologies Inc Pension Plan for Salaried

Employees as amended and restated First Amendment

thereto dated June 12 2002 Second Amendment thereto

dated September 25 2002 Third Amendment thereto

dated March 19 2004

10.37 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan compiled as of

February 27 2004 to reflect all amendments Amendment

thereto dated May 2005

10.38 CD Technologies Inc Management Incentive Bonus 8-K

Plan Policy

10.39 Employment Agreement dated November 28 2000 10-Q 10/31/00

between Wade Roberts Jr and CD
10.40 Release Agreement dated March 24 2005 between CD 10-K 1/31/05

Technologies Inc and Wade Roberts Jr

10.41 Release Agreement dated December 14 2005 between

CD Technologies Inc and Stephen Markert Jr

Exhibit

Number

10.30

Incorporated by Reference

Report Exhibit Filed

Form Date Number Herewith

8-K 2/1/07 10.1

10.1

10.1

l0-Q

10-Q

7/31/96 10.1

7/31/99 10.3

10.7

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.1

10.10

10.3

10.4

10.11

7/31/02

10/31/02

10/31/02

7/31/03

7/31/02

4/30/03

4/30/03

1/31/04

10-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-K

10-K

l0-Q

1/31/04 10.12

4/30/05 10.1

3/2/05 10.1

10.1

10.27

10-K 1/31/06 10.31
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Report Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith

10.42 Employment Agreement dated March 31 2000 between 10-K 1/31/00 10.18

Charles Giesige Sr and CD letter dated January 27 10-K 1/31/04 10.17

2004 to Charles Giesige Sr amending Employment

Agreement dated March 31 2000

10.43 Employment Agreement dated February 2006 between 10-K 1/31/06 10.34

Charles Giesige and CD
10.44 Release Agreement dated March 2006 between CD 10-K 1/31/06 10.35

Technologies Inc and Charles Giesige

10.45 Employment Agreement dated February 2006 between 10-K 1/31/06 10.36

James Dee and CD Amended and Restated 8-K 12/20/07 10.4

Employment Agreement dated December 20 2007 First 10-K 1/31/09 10.62

Amendment thereto dated February 2009

10.46 Employment Agreement dated February 2006 between 10-K 1/31/06 10.37

Ian Harvie and CD Amended and Restated 8-K 12/20/07 10.3

Employment Agreement dated December 20 2007 First 10-K 1/31/09 10.63

Amendment thereto dated February 2009

10.47 Employment Agreement dated February 2006 between 10-K 1/31/06 10.38

William Bachrach and CD
10.48 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 19 10-Q 1/31/02 10.2

2002 by and between CD lechnologies Inc and

William Harral III

10.49 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 19 10-Q 1/31/02 10.5

2002 by and between CD Technologies Inc and Kevin

Dowd

10.50 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 19 l0-Q 1/31/02 10.6

2002 by and between CD Technologies Inc and Robert

Harries

10.51 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 19 10-Q 1/31/02 10.7

2002 by and between CD Technologies Inc and

Pamela Lewis

10.52 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 19 l0-Q 1/31/02 10.8

2002 by and between CD Technologies Inc and

George MacKenzie

10.53 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 19 l0-Q 1/31/02 10.9

2002 by and between CD Technologies Inc and John

Shober

10.54 Indemnification Agreement dated as of April 10 2008 by 10-K 1/31/2008 10.48

and between CD Technologies Inc and Michael

KaIb

10.55 Indemnification Agreement dated as of February 24 2003 10-K 1/31/03 10.33

by and between CD Technologies Inc and Stanley

Silverman

10.56 CD Technologies Inc Nonqualified Deferred S-8 7/24/00

Compensation Plan
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Report Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith

10.57 CD Technologies Inc Approved Share Option Plan S-8 9/11/01

10.58 CD Technologies Inc Management Compensation Plan 8-K 3/1/05 10.1

Policy for Fiscal Year 2006

10.59 CD Technologies Inc Board of Directors Nominating/ 8-K 3/1/05 10.2

Corporate Governance Committee Charter As Amended

Effective as of March 2005

10.60 Employment Agreement dated June 21 2005 between 10-Q 7/31/05 10.1

CD Technologies Inc and Dr Jeffrey Graves 10-K 1/31/06 10.51

Amendment dated June 21 2005 Amended and Restated 8-K 12/20/07 10.1

Employment Agreement dated December 20 2007

10.61 CD Technologies Inc 2007 Stock Incentive Plan Proxy 1/31/06 Proxy

10.62 Indemnification Agreement dated May 31 2006 between 8-K 5/31/06 10.2

CD Technologies Inc and Ellen Wolf

1063 Employment Agreement dated December 20 2006 8-K 5/31/06 10.3

between CD Technologies Inc and Leonard Kiely 8-K 12/20/07 10.2

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated 10-K 1/31/09 10.64

December 20 2007 Release Agreement dated Febmary 25

2009 between CD Technologies Inc and Leonard

Kiely

10.64 Employment Retention Agreement dated Febrnary 20 8-K 2/20/07 10.1

2007 between CD Technologies Inc and William

Bachrach

10.65 Employment Agreement dated December 20 2007 8-K 12/20/07 10.5

between Neil Daniels and CD

10.66 Indemnification Agreement dated August 2009 between 8-K 8/06/09 bA
CD Technologies Inc and David Gee

10.67 Employment Agreement dated October 2009 between 10-Q 10/31/09 10.1

Todd Greenspan and CD
10.68 Performance Share Award Grant Agreement dated 10-K 1/31/07 10.56

March 12 2007

10.69 Restricted Stock Award Grant Agreement dated March 12 10-K 1/31/07 10.57

2007

10.70 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010 10-K 10.1

between CD Technologies Inc and Andrew Hines

10.71 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010 10 10.2

between CD Technologies Inc and Todd Arden

10.72 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010 10-K 10.3

between CD Technologies Inc and James Gaffney

10.73 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010 10-K 10.4

between CD Technologies Inc and Michael Gallagher
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Report Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith

10.74 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010 10-K 10.5

between CD Technologies Inc and David Treadwell

10.75 Employment Agreement dated March 14 2011 between Ian 10-K 10.6

Harvie and CD
10.76 Employment Agreement dated March 14 2011 between 10-K 10.7

Jeffrey Graves and CD
12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 10-K 12.1

14 CodeofEthics 10-K 1/31/04 14

18 Letter regarding change in accounting principles l0-Q 7/31/07 18

21 Subsidiaries of CD 10-K 21

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 10-K 23

3.1 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated

Certificate of Incorporation of CD
10.1 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010

between CD Technologies Inc and Andrew Hines

10.2 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010

between CD Technologies Inc and Todd Arden

10.3 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010

between CD Technologies Inc and James Gaffney

10.4 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010

between CD Technologies Inc and Michael Gallagher

10.5 Indemnification Agreement dated December 23 2010

between CD Technologies Inc and David Treadwell

10.6 Employment Agreement dated March 14 2011 between Ian

Harvie and CD
10.7 Employment Agreement dated March 14 2011 between

Jeffrey Graves and CD
31.1 Rule 13a-14a/15d-14a Certification of the President and

Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Rule l3a-14a/15d-14a Certification of the Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of the President and Chief

Executive Officer and Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to he signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CD TECHNOLOGIES INC

May 2011 By Is JEFFREY GRAVES

Jeffrey Graves

President Chief Executive

Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is/ JEFFREY GRAVES President Chief Executive Officer May 2011

Jeffrey Graves and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Is IAN HARVIE Vice President and Chief Financial May 2011

Ian Harvie Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Is DAVm TREADwELL Director Chairman May 20
11

David Treadwell

Is TODD ARDEN Director May 2011

Todd Arden

Is KEVIN DOWD Director May 2011

Kevin Dowd

Is JAMES GAFFNEY Director May 2011

James Gaffney

Is MICHAEL GALLAGHER Director May 2011

Michael Gallagher

Is ANDREW HINES Director May 2011

Andrew Hines
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of CD Technologies Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15a1
present fairly in all material respects the financial position of CD Technologies Inc and its subsidiaries at

January 31 2011 and January 31 2010 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended January 31 2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America In addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the index

appearing under Item 15a2 presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read

in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained

in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 31 2011 based on criteria

established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements

and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on

these financial statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal

control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia PA

May 2011
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

JANUARY 31

Dollars in thousands except per share data

2011 2010

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3708 2700
Restricted cash 57

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $981 and $1114 61188 55183

Inventories 80772 76041

Prepaid taxes 425

Deferred taxes 251 50

Other current assets 4508 2360
Assets held for sale 500

Total current assets 150427 137316

Property plant and equipment net 86891 90001

Deferred income taxes 249 26

Intangible and other assets net 13726 15435

Goodwill 59964

TOTAL ASSETS $251293 $302742

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 2596 8777

Accounts payable 39477 46380
Accrued liabilities 13847 13577

Deferred income taxes 97 750

Deferred revenue 3588 96

Other current liabilities 5955 4469

Total current liabilities 65560 74049

Deferred income taxes 98 12529

Long-term debt 32934 133106

Long-term debtrelated party 20000

Other liabilities 39169 40.588

Total liabilities 157761 260272

Commitments and contingencies see Note

Equity

Common stock $01 par value 25000.000 shares authorized 15306915 and 1146873

shares issued and 15196.542 and 1032083 outstanding at January 31 2011 and 2010

respectively 153 12

Additional paid-in capital 202350 97313

Treasury stock at cost 110373 and 114.790 shares respectively 39200 40091
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 43489 43656
Accumulated deficit Retained earnings 38480 17666

Total stockholders ejuity attributable to CD Technologies Inc 81334 31244

Noncontrolling interest 12198 11226

Total equity 93532 42470

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $251293 $302742

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBS1MARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
for the fiscal years ended JANUARY 31

Dollars in thonsands except per share data

2011 2010 2009

NET SALES $354831 $335709 $365540

COST OF SALES 305812 298175 319038

GROSS PROFIT 49019 37534 46502

OPERATING EXPENSES

Selling general and administrative expenses 37378 41045 40281

Research and development expenses 6487 7555 6940

Goodwill impairment 59978

Restructuring charges 2283 1334

OPERATING LOSS 57107 11066 2053

Interest expense net 14708 12207 11729

Other expense net 8999 284 1675

Gain on debt for equity exchange 12050

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 68764 23557 15457
Benefit provision for income taxes from operations 13207 2223 1993

NET LOSS 55557 25780 17450
Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 589 242 565
NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CD TECHNOLOGIES INC $56146 $25538 $16885

Loss per share

Basic 21.79 24.75 16.65

Dilute 21.81 24.78 16.90

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the fiscal years ended JANUARY 31 20112010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands except share data

Accumulated

Common Stock Adnal Treasury Stock Comnsive Retained Noncontrolling Total

Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount Income ILoss Earnings Interest Equity

BALANCE AT

JANUARY 31 2008 29081110 291 98970 3414633$47243 $24270 60089 $11418 99255

Retroactive application
of

forward stock split of

1.37335 shares for share 10857.432 109 109 1274853

Retroactive application
of

reverse stock split of share

for 35 shares 38797.441 388 388 4555501

Net loss 16885 565 17450

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 181 598 779

Unrealized gain on derivative

instruments 1451 1451

Deferred compensation plan 598 98 606

Issuance of common stock .. 1893 192 192

Stock options exercised 1285 247 247

Share based compensation 418 418

Pension liability adjustment 23095 23095
Conversion of convertible

bonds to stock

_________
4700 20278 7200

_______ _______ ______
2500

BALANCE AT

JANUARY 312009 1144.279 12 96004 113609 40035 45733 43204 11451 64903

Net loss 25538 242 25780

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 241 17 258

Unrealized gain on derivative

instruments 2334 2334

Deferred compensation plan 1181 56 56
Sham based compensation .. 1285 1.285

Issuance of common stock 2594 24 24

Pension liability adjustment
__________ _______ __________________

498
________ _______

498

BALANCE AT

JANUARY 31 2010 1146873 12 97313 114790 40091 43656 17666 11226 42470

Net loss income 56146 589 55.557

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 811 383 1194

Unrealized gain on derivative

instmments 803 803

Deferred compensation plan 2772 71 71
Share based compensation 18804 1655 1.655

Issuance of common stock .. 902 7.189 962 60

Exchange of 98.91% ot 2005

Notes including accrued

interest 8398.237 84 62947 63.031

Exchange of 96.65% of 2006

Notes including accrued

interest 5743001 57 41337 41394

Pension liability adjustment
__________

1447
_______ _______

1447

BALANCE AT

JANUARY 312011 15306.915 $153 $202350 I0373$39200 $43489 $c8480 $12198 $93532

See notes to consolidated financial statements

F-S



CD TECHNOLOGIES 1I\IC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the fiscal years ended JANUARY 31

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss $55557 $25780 $17450

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by used in

operating activities

Share-based compensation 1655 1285 1086

Depreciation and amortization 10261 10710 11065

Amortization of debt acquisition and discount costs 6080 4853 4638

Impairment of goodwill 59978

Impairment of fixed assets 1523 1222

Gain on debt for equity exchange 12050
Annual retainer to Board of Directors paid by the issuance of common

stock 24 121

Deferred income taxes 13503 1410 1387

Loss on disposal of assets 12 43

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net 5495 514 4988

Inventories 4209 14600 23835

Other current assets 865 225 362
Accounts payable 4012 10519 17165
Accrued liabilities 808 946 2713
Book overdraft 2923 4590

Income taxes payable 137 531 581
Other current liabilities 4083 2346 1644

Funds provided to discontinued operations 1664 4800
Other long-term assets 337 52 257

Other liabilities 82 3171 1169
Other net 258 74 3210

Net cash used in provided by continuing operating activities 15547 8068 9256

Net cash used in discontinued operating activities 1664 4800

Net cash used in provided by operating activities 15555 9732 4456

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property plant and equipment 6627 14760 16613
Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment 18 484

Decrease in restricted cash 57 849 3477

Net cash used in investing activities 6570 13893 12652

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS continued

for the fiscal years ended JANUARY 31

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings on line of credit facility 90876 119357 88860

Repayments on line of credit facility 84986 100.752 88860
Proceeds from new borrowings 20018 3.072

Repayment of debt 143 189
Financing cost of long-term debt 2750
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 60 246

Purchase of treasury stock 71 56 115
Net cash provided by financing activities 23004 21432 131

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 121 108 150
Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents from continuing

operations 1008 421 3415
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 2700 3121 6536

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 3708 2700 3121

Cash paid during the year for

Interest paid 4647 7.043 7.008

Income taxes received paid net 153 145 1.198

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities

Common stock issued in exchange for 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes

due 2025 including accrued interest 63.031

Common stock issued in exchange for 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes

due 2026 including accrued interest 41394

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
for the fiscal years ended JANUARY 31

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

NET LOSS $55557 $25780 $17450
Other comprehensive loss net of tax

Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments less tax expense benefit

of $0 $0and $1 for 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively 803

Pension liability adjustment 1447
Foreign currency translation adjustments less tax expense of $0 for 2011

2010and2009

Total comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Total comprehensive loss attributable to CD Technologies Inc

See notes to consolidated financial statements

2334 1451

498 23095

1194 258 779

$55007 $23686 $38315

972 225 33

$54035 $23461 $38348
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CD Technologies Inc its wholly owned

subsidiaries and 67% owned joint venture collectively the Company All inter-company accounts

transactions and balances have been eliminated

Basis of Presentation

On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the

Companys common stock par value $.01 per share Common Stock from 75000000 to 600000000 and to

effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of Common Stock would be combined and

reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having been determined by the Board of Directors

of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock were

increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share outstanding

On December 23 2010 we announced that CD had completed its offers to exchange the Exchange

Offer our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 the 2006 Notes and 5.25% Convertible

Senior Notes due 2025 the 2005 Notes and together with the 2006 Notes the Notes for Common Stock on

the terms and subject to the conditions in the Companys effective registration statement on Form S-4 File

No 333-170056 as amended the Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933

Approximately 98.91% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2005 Notes and approximately

97.62% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate of approximately 97.99% of

the Outstanding principal of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with the terms set forth therein at 1159 PM EST on December 20
2010 The consummation of the Exchange Offer was conditioned upon among other things at least 95% of the

aggregate principal amount of the Notes being tendered and not withdrawn In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split described elsewhere In exchange for each $1 of principal

amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of

Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split described elsewhere

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that our

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to effect reverse stock split of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of the Company at reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-35 and

ii decrease the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common Stock from 600000.000 to 25000.000

The reverse stock split was effective on March 14 2011 As result of the reverse stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares

outstanding All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented was initially adjusted

retrospectively to reflect the forward stock split and has since been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the reverse

stock split

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at

the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

period In addition financial projections and estimates are required in the Companys annual impairment

assessment of goodwill and its assessment of future liquidity Actual results could differ from those estimates

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into U.S dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing

at the balance sheet date Revenue and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange for the period

Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are included in other expenses net Gains and losses on foreign

currency translation are included in other comprehensive loss

Derivative Financial Ins truments

The Company follows the applicable accounting guidance for accounting for derivative instruments and

hedging activities Specifically this guidance requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or

liabilities in the statement of financial position and to measure those instruments at fair value Additionally the

fair value adjustments will affect either equity as accumulated other comprehensive loss income or net loss

income depending on whether the derivative instrument qualifies as hedge for accounting purposes and if so

the nature of the hedging activity

In the ordinary course of business the Company may enter into variety of contractual agreements such as

derivative financial instruments primarily to manage and to hedge its exposure to lead pricing risk All

derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value and are reported in either other current assets or

acÆrued liabilities To qualify for hedge accounting the instruments must be effective in reducing the risk

exposure that they are designed to hedge For instruments that are associated with the hedge of an anticipated

transaction hedge effectiveness criteria also require that it be probable that the underlying transaction will occur

Instruments that meet established accounting criteria are formally designated as hedges at the inception of the

contract These criteria demonstrate that the derivative is expected to be highly effective at offsetting changes in

fair value of the underlying exposure both at inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis The

assessment for effectiveness is documented at hedge inception and reviewed throughout the designated hedge

period

The Company has entered into lead hedge contracts to manage risk of the cost of lead The agreements are

with major financial institutions with maturities generally less than one year These market instruments are

designated as cash flow hedges The mark-to-market gain or loss on qualifying commodity hedges is included in

other comprehensive income to the extent effective and reclassified into cost of goods sold in the period during

which the hedge transaction affects earnings

Hedge accounting is discontinued when it is determined that derivative instrument is not highly effective

as hedge Hedge accounting is also discontinued when the derivative instrument expires is sold terminated

or exercised or is no longer designated as hedge instrument because it is unlikely that forecasted transaction

will occur hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of firm commitment or

management determines that designation of the derivative as hedging instrument is no longer appropriate

When hedge accounting is discontinued the derivative instrument will be either terminated continue to be

calTied on the balance sheet at fair value or redesignated as the hedging instrument if the relationship meets all

applicable hedging criteria Any asset or liability that was previously recorded as result of recognizing the value
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thonsands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

of firm commitment will be removed from the balance sheet and recognized as gain or loss in current period

earnings Any gains or losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive loss from hedging forecasted

transaction will be recognized immediately in current period earnings if it is probable that the forecasted

transaction will not occur

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an initial maturity of three months or

less to be cash equivalents The Companys cash management program utilizes zero balance accounts

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash primarily represents cash that has been deposited and is held as collateral for certain hedging

transactions This cash must be kept in trust account until the related hedge transactions are settled

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the earnings process is complete This generally occurs when

products are shipped to the customer in accordance with terms of the agreement title and risk of loss have been

transferred collectability is reasonably assured and pricing is fixed or determinable Accruals are made for sales

returns and other allowances based on Company experience While returns have historically been minimal and

within the provisions established the Company cannot guarantee that it will continue to experience the same

return rates as in the past Periodically the Company enters into prepayment contracts with various customers

and receives advance payments for product to be delivered in future periods These advance payments are

recorded as deferred revenue and are included in other current liabilities and other liabilities on the Consolidated

Balance Sheet Revenue associated with advance payments is recognized as shipments are made and title

ownership and risk of loss pass to the customer Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling fees are

included in Net Sales and costs incurred by the Company for the delivery of goods are classified as Cost of Sales

in the Consolidated Statements of Operations Taxes on revenue producing transactions are excluded from Net

Sales

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not hear interest The allowance for

doubtful accounts is the Companys best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Companys

existing accounts receivable The Company reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts quarterly Past due

balances over 90 days and over specified amount are reviewed individually for collectability All other balances

are reviewed on pooled basis by age and type of receivable Account balances are charged off against the

allowance when the Company believes the receivable will not be recovered The Company does not have any

off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Receivables consist of the following at January 31 2011 and 2010

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010

Trade receivables $58784 $54282

Notes receivables 92 557

Other 3293 1458

Allowance for doubtful accounts 981 1114

Total receivables $61188 $55183

Following are the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the periods ended

Years Ended January31 2011 2010 2009

Balanceatbeginningofperiod $1114 775 $1148

Additions 617 472 574

Translation adjustment 21 27
Write-offs net of recoveries 729 140 920

Balanceatendofperiod 981 $1114 775

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment purchased are recorded at cost Property plant and equipment acquired as

part of business combination are recorded at fair market value at the time of acquisition Property plant and

equipment including capital leases are depreciated on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes

over estimated useful lives or lease teims whichever is shorter which range from to 15 years for machinery

and equipment and 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements Prior to November 2009 estimated useful

lives of machinery and equipment ranged from 310 years Estimated useful lives were changed to 315 years

on November 2009 As result for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 depreciation expense included as

cost of sales was reduced by approximately $1500 This change in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2010 resulted

in an insignificant impact to the consolidated statement of operations for fiscal year 2010

The Company capitalizes interest on borrowings during the active construction period of major capital

projects Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is depreciated over the useful lives

of assets

The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to expense as incurred Expenditures that increase the value

or productive capacity of assets are capitalized Upon retirement or other disposition of property plant and

equipment the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is

included in operations

The Company capitalizes purchased software including certain costs associated with its installation The

cost of software capitalized is amortized over its estimated useful life ranging from to years using the

straight-line method
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIIMARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTiNG POL1CIES continued

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market The Company adjusts the value of its obsolete and

unmarketable inventory to the estimated market value based upon assumptions of future demand and market

conditions If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management additional

inventory write-downs may be required Market value for raw materials is based on replacement cost and for

work-in-process and finished goods on net realizable value

IdentzTwble Intangible Assets Net

Acquisition-related intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives

which range from to 25 years Intellectual property assets are amortized over the periods of benefit ranging

from to 11
years on straight-line basis All identifiable intangible assets are classified within intangible and

other assets net on the balance sheet

Long-Lived Assets

The Company pet-forms periodic evaluations of the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-lived

assets including property plant and equipment and intangible assets with determinable lives whenever events

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable Events or

changes in circumstances are evaluated based on number of factors including operating results business plans

and forecasts general and industry trends and economic projections and anticipated cash flows An impairment

is assessed when the undiscounted expected future cash flows derived from an asset are less than its carrying

amoUnt Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value of an asset exceeds its fair

value and are recognized in earaings The Company also continually evaluates the estimated useful lives of all

long-lived assets and periodically revises such estimates based on current events

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the fair value of net assets acquired in business

combinations Goodwill is not amortized and is subject to impairment tests Goodwill is tested for impairment on

an annual basis or upon the occurrence of certain circumstances or events The Company determines the fair

value of its reporting units using combination of financial projections and discounted cash flow techniques

adjusted for risk characteristics also giving consideration to the Companys overall market capitalization The

fair value of the reporting units is compared to the carrying value of the reporting units to determine if an

impairment loss should be calculated If the book value of reporting uait exceeds the fair value of the reporting

unit an impairment loss is indicated The loss is calculated by comparing the implied fair value of the goodwill

to the book value of the goodwill If the book value of the goodwill exceeds the fair value of the goodwill an

impairment loss is recorded

The Companys implied fair value of goodwill is dependent upon significant judgments and estimates of

future discounted cash flows and other factors The Company estimates of future cash flows include assumptions

concerning future operating performance and economic conditions and may differ from actual future cash flows

Estimated future cash flows are adjusted by an appropriate discount rate at the date of evaluation The financial

and credit market volatility directly impacts the fair value measurement through the weighted average cost of

capital that the Company uses to determine the discount rate and through the stock price that is used to determine

market capitalization Therefore changes in the stock price may also affect the amount of impairment recorded

Market capitalization is determined by multiplying the shares outstanding on the assessment date by the average
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

market price of the Companys Common Stock over 30-day period before assessment date The Company uses

this 30-day duration to consider inherent market fluctuations that may affect any individual closing price The

Company believes that market capitalization alone does not fully capture the fair value of the business as

whole or the substantial value that an acquirer would obtain from its ability to obtain control of the business As

such in determining fair value control premium is added to the market capitalization To estimate the control

premium the Company may consider its competitive advantages that would likely provide synergies to market

participant In addition the Company considered external market factors which it believes may have contributed

to the decline and volatility in the Companys stock price that did not reflect underlying fair value

Employee Benefit Plans

The Companys pension plans and postretirement benefit plans are accounted for using actuarial valuations

required by applicable accounting guidance for employers accounting for pensions and postretirement benefits

other than pensions The Company considers accounting for employee benefit plans critical because management

is required to make significant subjective judgments about number of actuarial assumptions including discount

rates compensation growth long-term return on plan assets retirement turnover health care cost trend rates and

mortality rates Depending on the assumptions and estimates used the pension and postretirement benefit

expense could vary within range of outcomes and have material effect on reported results In addition the

assumptions can materially affect accumulated benefit obligations and future cash funding During fiscal year

2009 the measurement date was changed from December 31 to January 31 as required by accounting standards

Other Liabilities

Included in other liabilities at January 31 2011 and 2010 is $32338 and $30355 of pension liabilities

respectively See Note 14 to the audited consolidated financial statements Employee Benefit Plans for

additional information

Environmental Matters

In accordance with guidance related to accounting for contingencies and environmental remediation

liabilities the Company records loss and establishes reserve for the remediation when it is probable that an

asset has been impaired or liability exists and the amount of the liability can be reasonable estimated

Reasonable estimates involve judgments made by management after considering broad range of information

including notifications demands or settlements that have been received from regulatory authority or private

party estimates performed by independent engineering companies and outside counsel available facts existing

and proposed technology the identification of other potentially responsible parties their ability to contribute and

prior experience These judgments are reviewed quarterly as more information is received and the amounts

reserved are updated as necessary However the reserves may materially differ from ultimate actual liabilities if

the loss contingency is difficult to estimate or if managements judgments turn out to be inaccurate If

management believes no best estimate exists the minimum loss in the range of losses is accrued The liability for

future environmental remediation costs is evaluated on quarterly basis by management

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred Research and development costs consist of direct

and indirect internal costs related to specific projects The cost of materials whether from normal inventory or

acquired specially for research and development activities and equipment or facilities that are acquired or
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIF1CANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

constructed for research and development activities and that have alternative future uses in research and

development projects or otherwise are capitalized as tangible assets when acquired or constructed The cost of

such materials consumed in research and development activities and the depreciation of such equipment or

facilities used in those activities are recorded as research and development expenses

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs relating to obtaining debt are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related debt using the

effective interest rate method When the debt is paid in full any unamortized financing costs are charged to

interest expense

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred In fiscal
years 2011 2010 and 2009 the Company

incurred advertising costs of $385 $431 and $394 respectively

Debt Restructuring

In fiscal year 2011 The Company completed its exchanges of the outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior

Notes due 2026 2006 Notes and 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 2005 Notes for the

Companys Common Stock Approximately 98.91% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2005 Notes

and approximately 97.62% of the outstanding principal of our outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate of

approximately 97.99% of the outstanding principal of the Notes were exchanged In exchange for each $1 of

principal amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21

shares of Common Stock In exchange for each $1 of principal amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the

Exchange Offer holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse

stock split discussed herein In accordance with accounting literature related to debt for equity exchanges

encompassed in Accounting Standards Codification the ASC 470-20 Debt with Conversion and Other

Features and 470-60 DebtTroubled Debt Restructuring by Debtors we recorded net gain of $12050 in

connection with the Exchange Offer in December 2010 This gain was calculated taking into account the

difference between the carrying value of the approximately 97.62% of our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior

Notes due 2026 and approximately 98.91% of our 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 including accrued

interest adjusted for unamortized debt issuance costs unamortized debt discount and the estimated fair market

value of the Common Stock issued in the exchange as well as ii the estimated fair value of the liability and

equity components of the notes at the time of the exchange

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of

events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns in accordance with applicable accounting

guidance for accounting for income taxes using currently enacted tax rates in effect for the fiscal year in which

the differences are expected to reverse

The Company is routinely audited by federal state and local taxing authorities The outcome of these audits

may result in the Company being assessed taxes in addition to amounts previously paid Accordingly the

Company maintains tax contingency reserves for such potential assessments The reserves are determined based
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

upon the Companys best estimate of possible assessments by the Internal Revenue Service or other taxing

authorities and are adjusted from time to time based upon changing facts and circumstances The Company
calculates its reserves in accordance with applicable accounting standards for accounting for uncertainty in

income taxes which was adopted during fiscal year 2008

Net Loss per Share

Basic loss per common share is based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock

outstanding Net loss per common sharediluted reflects the potential dilution that could occur if stock options

and other dilutive securities were exercised Weighted-average common shares and common sharesdiluted

were as follows

2011 2010 2009

Numerator

Numerator for basic loss per common share 56146 25538 16885
Effect of dilutive securities

Income related to deferred compensation plan 181 135 317

Numerator for diluted loss per common share 56327 25673 17202

Denominator

Denominator for basic eamings per common share- weighted average

common shares 2577155 1031943 1014002

Effect of dilutive securities

Shares issuable under deferred compensation arrangements 5235 3932 3711

Dilutive potential common shares 5235 3932 3711

Denominator for diluted earnings per common share adjusted

weighted average common shares and assumed conversions 2582390 1035875 1017713

Basic loss per common share from continuing operations 21.79 24.75 16.65

Diluted loss per common share from continuing operations 21.81 24.78 16.90

Due to net losses from continuing operations in fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 688957 769238 and

769238 as adjusted for the forward stock split and reverse stock split discussed elsewhere respectively of

dilutive securities issuable in connection with convertible bonds have been excluded from the diluted loss per

share calculation for these years because their effect would reduce the loss per share Additionally due to net

losses in fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 6496 and 2.787 as adjusted for the forward stock split and reverse

stock split discussed elsewhere respectively of dilutive securities issuable in connection with stock plans have

been excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation for these years because their effect would reduce the

loss per share
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company accounts for employee stock option grants using applicable accounting guidance for accounting

for stock based compensation Under this guidance unrecognized expense of awards is recognized as an expense in

the periods over the vesting period of the award using the valuation method i.e Black-Scholes and various related

assumptions Under applicable accounting guidance excess tax benefits are reported as financing cash inflow

rather than as reduction of taxes paid Due to the Companys net operating losses no tax benefits have been

realized from the exercises nf options during fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 As result there is no cash flow

impact related to tax benefits realized from the exercises during fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009

The Company also provides stock awards to certain employees In accordance with applicable accounting

guidance the Company expenses employee stock awards based on the market value of the award on the issuance

date using straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award

for awards based on time and for performance based awards on the expectation that the performance goals will

be attained

New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

During fiscal year 2011 the Company adopted new accounting guidance on the accounting for transfers of

financial assets The new guidance seeks to improve financial reporting by providing short-term solution to

address inconsistencies in practice relating to the existing concepts such as eliminating the exceptions for

qualifying special-purpose entities from the consolidation guidance The adoption did not have any effect on the

Companys financial statements

During fiscal year 2011 the Company adopted new accounting guidance on variable interest entities which

seeks to improve financial reporting by requiring that entities perform an analysis to determine whether any

variable interest or interests that they have give them controlling financial interest in variable interest entity

The adoptiun did not have any effect on the Companys financial statements

During fiscal year 2011 the Company adopted new accounting guidance on multiple-deliverable revenue

arrangements Under the new guidance when vendor specific objective evidence or third party evidence for

deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined best estimate of the selling price is required to separate

deliverables and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method The new guidance

includes new disclosure requirements on how the application of the relative selling price method affects the

timing and amount of revenue recognition The adoption did not have material effect on the Companys
financial statements

Recently Issued Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

There were no standards issued that are expected to have any effect on the Companys financial statements
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RECENT DEBT AND EQUITY RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS

Forward Stock Split

On December 21 2010 the Company filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the

Companys certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common

Stock from 75000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of

Common Stock would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having

been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share

outstanding All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the

forward stock split

Financial Restructuring and Liquidity

Background

During the period from 2003 to 2005 in an effort to diversify into other businesses the Company created

Power Electronics Division comprising AC/DC and DC/DC power supplies used in advanced computing and

routing systems This new division of the Company was created through series of acquisitions including Datel

Inc design manufacturing and distribution company located near Boston Massachusetts Celab Ltd which

designed and manufactured largely military electronic power supplies and Celestica Power Systems carve-out

from Celestica Corp which designed and sold power supplies for mass market OEM applications These

acquisitions were completed by 2005 and were subsequently integrated into stand-alone division of CD
Technologies called the Power Electronics Division The legacy business of CD comprising the entire

industrial battery infrastructure was then named the Standby Power Division which also included with it the

Motive Power Business

The acquisitions comprising the Power Electronics Division were financed initially with proceeds from

senior secured credit facility To repay outstanding borrowings under that Credit Facility the Company

ultimately issued two separate series of convertible notes in 2005 and 2006 in the aggregate principal amount of

$129500

In 2007 the decision was made to re-focus the business once again on the Standby Power market This

decision was made in light of increasing competitive pressures in the global power supply markets and an

increase in the cost of lead for industrial batteries throughout the world These developments needed to be

addressed both through continued investments with power electronics requiring greater scale and lower-cost

manufacturing and the industrial battery product lines requiring accelerated redesigns and manufacturing

upgrades for improved materials efficiencies and productivity Given existing financial leverage it was

concluded that the best strategy was to focus on one business to help achieve success that of the Standby Power

Division comprising the Companys industrial battery legacy business

In August 2007 the Company completed the sale of its Power Electronics Division to Murata

Manufacturing Co Ltd of Japan This sale returned CD to focus on industrial batteries In October 2007 the

Company also announced the sale of certain assets of its Motive Power Business business that had deteriorated

over time to become unprofitable Rather than expending resources to improve business with low market

share the Company elected instead to exit the Motive Power Business and focus all of its resources on the
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Standby Power business where it had maintained market leading share strong brand and competitive

technology base In addition the Companys Chinese joint venture provided platform for accelerated future

growth in this rapidly developing region of the world

Despite the decision to refocus on the Standby Power business liquidity challenges arose as result of the

debt incurred in order to fund previous acquisitions exceeding the cash received from their sale which was

further strained by highly unpredictable and volatile raw materials primarily lead costs and later weakness in

demand associated with the global economic slowdown

Convertible Senior Notes

2005 Notes

On November 21 2005 the Company sold $75000 aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Notes The

2005 Notes are convertible into shares of the Companys Common Stock at an initial conversion price of

approximately $215.86 per share as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described herein holder

of the 2005 Notes may require us to repurchase some or all of such holders 2005 Notes for cash upon the

occurrence of fundamental change as such term is defined in the indenture governing the 2005 Notes and

on each of November 2012 2015 and 2020 All of the approximately $72300 of net proceeds of the offering

were used to repay outstanding borrowings under the Companys then existing senior secured credit facility

2006 Notes

On November 22 2006 the Company sold $54500 aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Notes The

2006 Notes are convertible into shares of the Companys Common Stock under certain circumstances at an initial

conversion price of approximately $123.35 per share as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits

described herein holder of the 2006 Notes may require us to repurchase some or all of the holders 2006

Notes for cash upon the occurrence of fundamental change as such term is defined in the indenture

governing the 2006 Notes and on each of November 15 2011 2016 and 2021 Nearly all of the approximately

$51700 of net proceeds of the offering were used to repay the Companys $50000 secured term loan

Put Rights and Fundamental Change Provisions

The 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes had provisions whereby the holders of such notes could have required

the Company to pay the following principal payments $52000 on November 2011 with respect to the 2006

Notes and $75000 on November 15 2012 with respect to the 2005 Notes Furthermore payments of principal

on the 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes may be accelerated upon the occurrence of fundamental change as
defined in the indentures governing the 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes which would require the Company to

purchase such notes at 100% of their aggregate principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest thereon

within approximately 55 business days of such occurrence By the second half of fiscal year 2011 the Company

believed that there was substantial risk that fundamental change may occur as result of the suspension of

trading and potential delisting of the Companys common stock from the New York Stock Exchange the

NYSE

During this period the Companys 30 day average market capitalization had fallen below $15000 resulting

in the NYSE suspending trading of the Companys Common Stock on October 2010 On December 17 2010
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the NYSE filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC notification of removal from listing

on Form 25 to report that the shares of our Common Stock would no longer be listed on the NYSE as of

December 27 2010 Such development constituted fundamental change under our convertible notes and as

such are classified as current liabilities

Financial Restructuring

The Company routinely assesses strategic opportunities as part of its evaluation of its business and the

industry in which it operates and reviews various alternatives intended to strengthen its businesses and enhance

long-term stockholder value As part of these evaluations the Company has from time-to-time considered

various strategic alternatives including capital raising transactions refinancing its 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes

and existing credit facilities and potential sale of part or all of the Company

During fiscal year 2010 and 2011 the Company began to investigate the feasibility of executing

transaction or series of transactions designed to enhance its liquidity and reduce its debt including sale of the

Company refinancing of its existing debt facilities entering into new debt facilities and capital raising

transactions The Company retained financial advisors to support these efforts In view of the substantial risk of

fundamental change occurring under the 2006 Notes as described above these efforts were accelerated in the

second half of fiscal year 2011

As disclosed in the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 1OQ for the period ending July 31 2010 due to

cumulative losses substantial indebtedness and likely future inability to comply with certain covenants in the

agreements governing its indebtedness including among others covenants related to continued listing on

national automated stock exchange and future EBITDA requirements in addition to its current liquidity situation

the Company concluded that there was substantial doubt as to the Companys ability to continue as going

concern for period longer than twelve months from July 31 2010 The Companys ability to continue as

going concern was predicated on among other factors return to profitable operations successful restructuring

of the 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes and possible amendment of future EBITDA requirements under the

Companys Credit Facility Given these factors and ongoing liquidity risks the Company undertook review of

strategic and financing alternatives which led to the announcement on September 14 2010 that the Company had

entered into restructuring support agreement the RSA with two convertible noteholders the Supporting

Noteholders The Supporting Noteholders agreed to restructuring of the 2005 Notes and the 2006 Notes

which was to be effected through an offer to exchange the outstanding 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes for up to

95% of the Companys common stock the Exchange Offer or ii prepackaged plan of reorganization under

Chapter 11 of the U.S Bankruptcy Code the Prepackaged Plan together with the Exchange Offer the

Restructuring Pending the completion of the Restructuring the Companys future remained uncertain

On October 21 2010 the Company filed preliminary Registration Statement on Form S-4 the

Registration Statement with the SEC in connection with the proposed Restructuring the Registration

Statement was declared effective on November 30 2010 The Company believed the Restructuring was required

to address an immediate need for liquidity in light of its anticipated inability to make required payments on its

outstanding indebtedness in the near term The Restructuring consisted of the following

An out-of-court financial restructuring which we refer to as the Exchange Offer consisting of

the offer to exchange all of the Companys outstanding Notes including all accrued and unpaid

interest thereon up to but excluding the date of the consummation of the Exchange Offer for

95% of the Common Stock subject to dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the 2011

Management Incentive Plan with the amount of Common Stock to be issued to the

F-20



CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

RECENT DEBT AND EQUITY RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS con tinued

Noteholders to be ratably reduced in the event that less than 100% of the outstanding Notes are

tendered and accepted in the Exchange Offer or in the alternative if we did not receive the

valid tender of at least 95% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes or if all

other conditions to completion of the Exchange Offer were not satisfied or waived

An in-court financial restructuring through which we would seek to accomplish the results

contemplated by the Exchange Offer through prepackaged plan of reorganization which we refer to

as the Prepackaged Plan The Prepackaged Plan consisted of

the cancellation of the Notes with each Noteholder receiving in respect of its claims under the

Notes if the Shareholder Exchange Consent has been obtained its pro rota allocation of

shares in the aggregate representing 95% of the New Common Stock of the Reorganized

Company which New Common Stock shall be subject to dilution due to any issuances made

pursuant to the 2011 Management Incentive Plan or if the Shareholder Exchange Consent

has not been obtained in respect of its claims under the Notes its pro rata allocation of shares

in the aggregate representing 97.5% of the New Common Stock which New Common Stock

shall be subject to dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the 2011 Management

Incentive Plan and the Shareholder Warrants and

the cancellation of all existing Common Stock and claims arising therefrom or related thereto

with each Common Stock holder receiving in respect of its Common Stock if the

Shareholder Exchange Consent has been obtained its pro rata allocation of shares in the

aggregate representing 5.0% of the New Common Stock in respect of its equity interest which

New Common Stock shall be subject to dilution due to any issuances made pursuant to the 2011

Management Incentive Plan or if the Shareholder Exchange Consent has not been obtained

its pro rota allocation of shares in the aggregate representing 2.5% of the New Common

Stock

Subsequent to market closure on December 23 2010 the Company announced that it had successfully

completed an out of court financial restructuring to exchange its outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due

2026 the 2006 Notes and 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 the 2005 Notes and together with the

2006 Notes the Notes for the Companys Common Stock on the terms and subject to the conditions in the

Companys effective Registration Statement on Form S-4 as amended the Registration Statement under the

Securities Act of 1933

Approximately 98.91% of the outstanding principal of the Companys outstanding 2005 Notes and

approximately 97.62% of the outstanding principal of the Companys outstanding 2006 Notes for an aggregate

of approximately 97.99% of the outstanding principal of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly

withdrawn in the Exchange Offer The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with the terms set forth therein at

1159 PM EST on December 20 2010 The consummation of the Exchange Offer was conditioned upon among

other things at least 95% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes being tendered and not withdrawn In

exchange for each $1 of principal amount of the 2005 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005

Notes received 11311 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split discussed below In

exchange for each $1 of principal amount of the 2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2006

Notes received 113.14 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse stock split discussed below As

result of the forgoing transactions

The Company issued approximately 8398237 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse

stock split discussed below for an aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Notes of $74186 plus

accrued interest
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The Company issued approximately 5743001 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for the reverse

stock split discussed below for an aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Notes of $50760 plus

accrued interest

The Company recorded gain of $12050 affecting diluted EPS by $4.67 per share that was recorded

separately as Gain on debt for equity exchange in the accompanying consolidated statement of

operations for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 In accordance with accounting literature related

to debt for equity exchanges encompassed in Accounting Standards Codification the ASC 470-20

Debt with Conversion and Other Features and 470-60 DebtTroubled Debt Restructuring by

Debtors we recorded net gain of $12050 in connection with the Exchange Offer in December 2010

This gain was calculated taking into account the difference between the carrying value of the

approximately 97.62% of our outstanding 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 and

approximately 98.91% of our 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 including accrued interest

adjusted for unamortized debt issuance costs unamortized debt discount and the estimated fair market

value of the Common Stock issued in the exchange as well as ii the estimated fair value of the

liability and equity components of the notes at the time of the exchange

Expenses from the Exchange Offer included as part of Other expenses net were approximately $6600

$1359 of which was due to the acceleration of vesting on stock compensation and director fees $4987

which was due to legal fees and other costs not capitalizable as part of the exchange transaction and

loss on the termination of debt of $1910 for the Ableco L.L.C $20000 term loan of which $800 was

an early termination fee partially offset by $1647 gain on the termination of the supplemental

retirement plan

The Board of Directors of the Company was reconstituted such that there are now seven directors one

of the seven directors being the Companys chief executive officer and of the remaining six directors

five were recommended by the Supporting Noteholders as defined below and one Kevin Dowd
the former Chairman of the Companys board of directors was selected by and from the Companys
current Board of Directors The remaining member in his capacity as the sole remaining member of the

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the board of directors and sole member of the

board of directors appointed the chief executive officer and the five other directors as recommended

by the Supporting Noteholders as defined above to the board of directors Thereafter directors will be

nominated for election by stockholders in accordance with the Companys normal corporate

governance procedures

Pursuant to the terms of Restructuring Support Agreement dated September 14 2010 between the

Company and certain other parties thereto the Supporting Noteholders the Company reserved

approximately 10% of the outstanding shares of the Company issuable upon exercise of options

granted under new stock incentive plan by the Board of Directors of the Company

Going Concern and Liquidity

The Company believed that the completion of the Restructuring was critical to our continuing viability As

described above in connection with the Companys filing of its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the second

quarter ended July 31 2010 issued on September 14 2010 the Company determined that there was substantial

doubt about its ability to continue as going concern The Company reached that conclusion given there was

substantial risk that fundamental change would occur with respect to the Notes in the event our Common Stock

was delisted If we did not complete the Restructuring prior to the time that it was required to purchase the Notes
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we would not have the cash on hand to comply with its repurchase obligations In addition in the Registration

Statement filed on October 20 2010 our independent registered public accounting firm updated their report

dated April 20 2010 to include an explanatory paragraph as there was substantial doubt about our ability to

continue as going concern

As result of the Restructuring the Companys indebtedness was reduced from approximately 175.000 to

$50000 including approximately $2000 of 2005 and 2006 Notes that were not converted and the Companys
annual cash interest burden was reduced by approximately $6700 The Company believes that by addressing the

Companys capital structure and elimination of substantial interest burden through the Restructuring

implementing its focused pricing strategy combined with its ongoing efficiency initiatives the Company will

enhance its ability to achieve profitable operations in the future The Company continues to focus on

manufacturing and marketing integrated reserve power systems and components for the standby power market

The Company also continues to implement strategies for responding to changing market conditions including by

implementing various initiatives to increase revenues in North America and focus on the new product

development and growth of the Companys Asian operations

Although the Company concluded as part of the Registrations Statements filing that there was substantial

doubt about the Companys ability to continue as going concern the Company believes that this doubt related

to the potential requirement to purchase the Notes totaling approximately $127000 and not due to cash liquidity

relating to operations In that regard the following below summarizes the cash utilization during fiscal year 2011

and after giving effect for non-recurring cash items the Company believes there is adequate liquidity to service

opertions for the next twelve months

From the period April 30 2010 to January 31 2011 our borrowings under the Companys Credit Facility

increased by approximately $14200 Of the $14200 increase approximately $10000 relates to specific

Restructuring cash payments including interest on the Notes and professional fees incurred relating to the

Restructuring with the balance principally related to trade credit tightening that we would not expect to recur in

fiscal year 2012 Excluding the impact of these non-recurring cash usages during this period the Companys

liquidity remained largely unchanged At January 31 2011 the Company has $75000 principal amount Line of

Credit Facility which expires in December 2013 The availability under the Credit Facility is determined by

borrowing base is collateralized by first lien on certain assets and bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.0% or Prime

plus 0.5% As of January 31 2011 $44495 was funded on the Credit Facility and $5417 was utilized for letters

of credit As provided under the Credit Facility excess borrowing capacity will be available for future working

capital needs and general corporate purposes The Companys liquidity is primarily determined by its availability

under the Credit Facility its unrestricted cash balances and cash flows from operations If cash requirements

exceed the cash provided by operating activities then the Company would look to its unrestricted cash balances

of approximately $3700 at January 31 2011 and the undrawn availability under its Credit Facility to satisfy

those needs important factors and assumptions made by the Company when considering future liquidity include

but are not limited to the volatility of lead prices future demand from customers continued sufficient

availability of credit from trade vendors and the ability to re-finance or obtain debt in the future To the extent

unforeseen events occur or operating results are below forecast the Company believes it can take certain actions

to conserve cash such as delay major capital investments other discretionary spending reductions or pursue

financing from other sources to preserve liquidity if necessary

The Companys liquidity derived from the Credit Facility as amended is based on availability determined

by borrowing base In addition the Credit Facility requires the Company to meet minimum fixed charge
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coverage ratio if the excess availability falls below $7500 through August 31 2011 adjusted to $10000

thereafter The fixed charge coverage ratio for the last 12 consecutive fiscal month period shall be not less than

1.101.00 We would not have met the fixed charge coverage ratio This failure is not an event of default under

the Credit Facility but restricts availability otherwise determined The Credit Facility also previously included

minimum EBITDA requirements beginning with the Companys quarter ending April 30 20t Pursuant to an

amendment to the Credit Facility in December 2010 these minimum EBITDA requirements were eliminated for

the duration of the term of the Credit Facility

Following the successful Restructuring favorable Credit Facility amendments and improved operating

performance the Company believes that for the next twelve months cash generated from operations together

with availability under its Existing Credit Facility will be sufficient to allow the Company to fund its operations

and to increase working capital as necessary to support the Companys strategy

Other Equity Transactions

Forward Stock Split

On December 21 2010 the Company filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the

Companys certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common

Stock from 75000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each outstanding share of

Common Stock would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock such ratio having

been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company As result of the forward stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every one share

outstanding All of the Companys stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock

stock options restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented has been adjusted to

reflect the forward stock split

Subsequent EventReverse Stock Split

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that an Amended

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to effect reverse stock split of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of the Company at reverse stock split ratio of l-for-35 and ii to

decrease the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common Stock from 600000000 to 25000000
The reverse stock split was effective on March 14 20t As result of the reverse stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares

outstanding All of the stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the

effects of the reverse stock split
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GOODWILL AND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Total

Goodwill January 31 2009 59961

Effect of exchange rate changes on goodwill

Goodwill January 31 2010 59964

Effect of exchange rate changes on goodwill 14

Impairment of goodwill 59.97

GoodwillJanuary3l201l

IdentiTwble Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets as of January 31 2011 consisted of the following

Gross Accumulated

January 312011 Assets Amortization Net

Trade names $17840 $10630 7210

Intellectual property 4249 4249
Licensing agreements 4326 3276 1050

Land use rights 3618 277 3341

Total intangible assets $30033 $18432 $11601

Identifiable intangible assets as of January 31 2010 consisted of the following

Gross Accumulated

January 31 2010 Assets Amortization Net

Trade names $17840 9738 8102

Intellectual property 4111 4109
Licensing agreements 4326 2883 1443

Land use rights 3501 198 3303

Total intangible assets $29778 $16928 $12850

Based on intangibles recorded at January 31 2011 the annual amortization expense is expected to be as

follows assuming current exchange rates

Years Ended January 31 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Trade names 892 892 892 $892 $892

Licensing agreements 394 394 262

Land use rights 72 72 72 72 72

Total intangible assets $1358 $1358 $1226 $964 $964

Amortization of identifiable intangible assets was $1359 $1367 and $1392 and for the fiscal years ended

January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

The Company estimates that there are no significant residual values related to intangible assets No material

impairments of intangible assets were identified during any of the periods presented
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INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following

2011 2010

Raw materials $20630 $22035

Work-in-process 22488 19811

Finished goods 37654 34195

Total $80772 $76041

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property plant and equipment net consisted of the following

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010

Land 3346 3346

Buildings and improvements 59552 58452

Fumiture fixtures and equipment 183100 179049

Construction in progress 3875 5981

249873 246828

Less accumulated depreciation 162982 156827

Total 86891 90001

For the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 depreciation charged to operations including

property under capital leases amounted to $8902 $9343 and $9673 and capitalized interest amounted to $87

$279 and $303 respectively

See Note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements Goodwill and Asset Impairments for

discussion of the impairments to fixed assets recognized during the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 and

2009
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DEBT

Debt consisted of the following

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010

Line of Credit Facility maximum commitment of $75000 at January 31 2011 and 2010

availability is determined by borrowing base calculation includes $20.000 related

party loan $44495 18605

Convertible Senior Notes 2005 due 2025 bears interest at 5.25% net of unamortized

discounts of $95 and $12591 respectively 719 62409

Convertible Senior Notes 2006 due 2026 bears interest at 55% 1240 52000

China Line of Credit Maximum commitment of 82 million and 60 million RMB

approximately $12415 and $9084 and with an effective interest rate of 5.18% and

5.73% as of January 31 2011 and 2010 respectively 8933 8644

Capital leases 143 225

Total debt 55530 141883

Less current portion 2596 8777

Total long-term portion $52934 $133106

These notes have been classified as current liabilities as result of the Companys decision to forgo interest

payments on the Notes on November 2010 and November 15 2010

Acquisition fees related to debt issuances are classified on the balance sheet as part of Intangible and Other

assets net and had carrying amount of $1391 and $2015 at January 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Credit Facility

At January 31 2011 the Company has $75000 principal amount Credit Facility The Credit Facility

consists of an approximately three-year senior revolving line of credit which dues nut expire until

December 22 2013 as adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement described below with

maximum borrowing capacity of $55000 determined by borrowing base calculation and $20000 term

loan as discussed further below The availability under the revolving line of credit portion of the Credit Facility is

determined by borrowing base is collateralized by first lien on certain assets and bears interest at LIBOR plus

2.50% to 3.00% as adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement described below or Prime plus

1.00% to 1.50% as adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement described below with the rate

premium based on the amount outstanding and quarterly average excess availability As of January 31 2011 the

maximum availability calculated under the borrowing base was $74625 of which $44495 was funded under the

revolving line of credit portion of the Credit Facility and $5.4 17 was utilized for letters of credit As provided

under the Credit Facility excess borrowing capacity will be available for future working capital needs and

general corporate purposes The Company paid $630 of acquisition fees in the current fiscal year related to

amending the credit facility These fees have been capitalized and are being amortized over the life of the line of

credit

In April 2010 we completed an Amended and Restated Credit Facility Agreement the Credit

Agreement Also in April 2010 we completed first amendment Amendment to the Credit Agreement
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Amendment provided for the addition of $20000 term loan tranche that effectively increased the Credit

Facility from $55000 to $75000 All obligations under the term loan tranche are secured by first priority lien

on all of the Companys personal property as well as that of certain of its subsidiaries as the guarantor along

with certain of its real estate Repayment of the indebtedness under the term loan tranche is subordinate to the

repayment of indebtedness owed under the revolving credit line portion of the Credit Facility The term loan

tranche is payable on December 22 2013 The term loan tranche bears interest at the rate of 11.0 percent as

adjusted by the third amendment to the Credit Agreement plus the greater of LIBOR and ii percent The

term loan tranche of the credit facility is subject to the same customary affirmative and negative covenants as

well as financial covenants as stated in the Credit Agreement In addition the Company has requirement to

maintain minimum excess availability under the Credit Agreement of to $7500 for periods prior to August

2011 and $10000 for periods after August 2011 Proceeds from the term loan tranche will be utilized to pay

down the revolving credit line facility tranche and for general corporate purposes

On December 14 2010 the original term loan lender Ableco L.L.C assigned all of its rights and

obligations under the Loan agreement in respect to this $20000 term loan tranche to Silver Oak Capital L.L.C

an affiliate of Angelo Gordon Co L.P AG related party of CD Technologies Inc See Note 21 for

additional information As result of this assignment the Company recorded loss on the termination of debt of

$1910 for the Ableco L.L.C $20000 term loan of which $800 was an early termination fee

The Credit Agreement as amended continues to require the Company to maintain minimum fixed charge

coverage ratio of 1.11.0 on consolidated basis which becomes applicable only if the availability under the

revolving credit line tranche falls below $7500 prior to August 2011 adjusting to $10000 thereafter

In December 2010 the Company completed second amendment Amendment to the Credit

Agreement This amendment reduced the availability block from $10000 to $0 In December 2010 the Company

completed third amendment to the Credit Facility This amendment adjusted the interest rates on the facility

adjusting the rate on the Credit Facility and term loan tranches to the rates described above removing the

EBITDA requirements from Amendment revising the availability block to $7500 for periods prior to

August 2011 and $10000 for periods after August 2011 In addition the maturity date of the Credit Facility

and related term loan tranche were extended to December 22 2013

As of January 31 2011 and 2010 the Company was in compliance with its financial covenants The

agreement restricts payments including dividends and Treasury Stock purchases to no more than $250 for

Treasury Stock purchases in any one calendar year and $1750 for dividends for any one calendar year subject to

adjustments of up to $400 per year in the case of the conversion of debt to stock per the terms of the indenture

governing the 2005 Notes These restricted payments can only occur with prior notice to the lenders and provided

that there is minimum of $30000 in excess availability for period of thirty days prior to the dividend

The Credit Agreement provides the Company the ability to incur indebtedness under leasing arrangements

of
up

to $1 5000 an increase in permitted borrowings in China from 40000 RMB approximately $5.860 US

Dollars to 160000 RMB approximately $23400 US Dollars and an increase in permitted asset sales baskets

The Company incurred fees of $225 in connection with this amendment that were expensed in fiscal year 2009

The Credit Agreement includes material adverse change clause which defines an event of default as

material adverse change in the business assets or prospects Company lenders could claim breach under the

material adverse change covenant or the cross-default provisions under the Credit Agreement under certain
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circumstances An interpretation of events as material adverse change or any breach of the covenants in the

Credit Agreement or the indentures governing the 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes could cause default under the

Credit Agreement and other debt including the 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes which would restrict the

Companys ability to borrow under the Credit Agreement thereby significantly impacting liquidity The Credit

Agreement was amended to waive any default due to the change in control and as result of any defaults that

have or continue to occur under the Indentures governing the 2005 Notes and 2006 Notes The unamortized

balance of $1180 and $489 of these costs at January 31 2011 and January 31 2010 respectively is included in

the accompanying balance sheet

Convertible Senior Notes 2005

In fiscal year 2011 the Company issued approximately 8398237 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for

the reverse stock split discussed elsewhere in exchange for $74186 aggregate principal amount of the 2005

Notes plus accrued interest As result $719 of the principal amount remains outstanding as of January 31

2011 net of $95 of unamortized discounts

On November 21 2005 the Company completed the private placement of $75000 aggregate principal

amount of 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2025 2005 Notes which raised proceeds of approximately

$72300 net of $2700 in issuance costs These costs are being amortized to interest expense over seven years

based on the date that holders can exercise their first put option The unamortized balance of $4 and $495 of

these .costs at January 31 2011 and January 31 2010 respectively is included in the accompanying balance

sheet

The 2005 Notes are unsubordinated unsecured obligations and rank equally with the Companys existing

and future unsubordinated and unsecured obligations and are junior to any of the Companys future secured

obligations to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations The 2005 Notes are not

guaranteed by and are structurally subordinate in right of payment to all obligations of the Companys

subsidiaries except that those subsidiaries that may in the future guarantee certain of the Companys other

obligations will also be required to guarantee the 2005 Notes

The 2005 Notes mature on November 2025 and require semi-annual interest payments at 5.25% per

annum on the principal amount outstanding Prior to maturity the holders may convert their 2005 Notes into

shares of the Companys Common Stock under certain circumstances The conversion rate is 4.6326 shares as

adjusted for the forward stock split and reverse stock split discussed herein per $1 principal amount of 2005

Notes which is equivalent to conversion price of approximately $215.86 per
share as adjusted for the forward

stock split and reverse stock split discussed herein At any time between November 2010 and November

2012 the Company may at its option redeem the 2005 Notes in whole or in part for cash at redemption price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of 2005 Notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest

including additional interest if any if in the previous 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day

before the date of mailing of the redemption notice the closing sale price of the Common Stock exceeds 130% of

the then effective conversion price of the 2005 Notes for at least 20 trading days In addition at any time after

November 2012 the Company may redeem the 2005 Notes in whole or in part for cash at redemption price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2005 Notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest

including additional interest if any
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holder of 2005 Notes may require the Company to repurchase some or all of the holders 2005 Notes for

cash upon the occurrence of fundamental change as defined in the indenture and also on each of

November 2012 2015 and 2020 at price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2005 Notes being

repurchased plus accrued interest if any in each case If applicable the Company will pay make-whole

premium on 2005 Notes converted in connection with any fundamental change that occurs prior to November

2012 The amount of the make-whole premium if any will be based on the Companys stock price and the

effective date of the fundamental change The indenture contains detailed description of how the make-whole

premium will be determined and table showing the make-whole premium that would apply at various stock

prices and fundamental change effective dates based on assumed interest and conversion rates No make-whole

premium will be paid if the price of the Common Stock on the effective date of the fundamental change is less

than $178.40 as adjusted for the forward stock split and reverse stock split discussed elsewhere Any make-

whole premium will be payable in shares of Common Stock or the consideration into which the Companys

Common Stock has been exchanged in the fundamental change on the conversion date for the 2005 Notes

converted in connection with the fundamental change

Convertible Senior Notes 2006

In fiscal year 2011 the Company issued approximately 5743001 shares of Common Stock as adjusted for

the reverse stock split discussed elsewhere in exchange for $50760 aggregate principal amount of the 2006

Notes plus accrued interest As result $1240 of the principal amount remains outstanding as of January 31

2011

On November 22 2006 the Company completed the private placement of $54500 aggregate principal

amount of 5.50% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2026 2006 Notes which raised proceeds of approximately

$51700 net of $2800 in issuance costs These costs are being amortized to interest expense over five years

based on the date that holders can exercise their first put option The unamortized balance of $11 and $1030 of

these costs at January 31 2011 and January 31 2010 respectively is included in the accompanying balance

sheet

The 2006 Notes are unsubordinated unsecured obligations and rank equally with the Companys existing

and future unsubordinated and unsecured obligations and are junior to any of the Companys future secured

obligations to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations The 2006 Notes are not

guaranteed by and are structurally subordinate in right of payment to all obligations of the Companys

subsidiaries except that those subsidiaries that may in the future guarantee certain of the Companys other

obligations will also be required to guarantee the 2006 Notes

The 2006 Notes mature on November 2026 and require semi-annual payments at 5.50% per annum on the

principal outstanding Prior to maturity the holders may convert their 2006 Notes into shares of the Companys
Common Stock under certain circumstances The initial conversion rate is 8.1113 shares as adjusted for the

forward stock split and reverse stock split discussed herein per $1 principal amount of 2006 Notes which is

equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $123.35 per share as adjusted for the forward stock

split and reverse stock split discussed herein At any time on and after November 15 2011 the Company may at

its option redeem the 2006 Notes in whole or in part for cash at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal amount of 2006 Notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest including additional

interest
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holder of 2006 Notes may require the Company to repurchase some or all of the holders 2006 Notes for

cash upon the occurrence of fundamental change as defined in the indenture and also on each of

November 2011 2016 and 2021 at price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2006 Notes being

repurchased plus accrued interest if any in each case If applicable the Company will pay make-whole

premium on 2006 Notes converted in connection with any fundamental change that occurs prior to November 15

2011 The amount of the make-whole premium if any will be based on the Companys stock price and the

effective date of the fundamental change The indenture contains detailed description of how the make-whole

premium will be determined and table showing the make-whole premium that would apply at various stock

prices and fundamental change effective dates based on assumed interest and conversion rates No make-whole

premium will be paid if the price of the Common Stock on the effective date of the fundamental change is less

than $109.59 as adjusted for the forward stock split and reverse stock split discussed elsewhere Any make-

whole premium will be payable in shares of Common Stock or the consideration into which the Companys
Common Stock has been exchanged in the fundamental change on the conversion date for the 2006 Notes

converted in connection with the fundamental change

China Line of Credit

On January 18 2007 as amended in May 2009 the Company entered into 12 month renewable

non-revolving line of credit facility in China Under the terms of the China Line of Credit the Company may
borrow up to 60000 RMB approximately $8790 US Dollars at January 31 2010 with an interest rate of 5.73%

as of January 31 2010 This credit line was established to provide the plant in China the flexibility needed to

finalize the construction of its new manufacturing facility which was completed in March 2007 and to fund

working capital requirements This credit facility matured in May 2010

In May 2010 the Company obtained new line of credit loan with borrowing capacity of up to 82000

RIVIB approximately $12415 US Dollars at January 31 2011 from local Chinese bank the Chinese LOC
of which 59000 RMB approximately $8933 US Dollars at January 31 2011 was funded as of January 31

2011 The Chinese LOC replaces the previous China line of credit discussed above which matured in May 2010

The outstanding borrowings under the Chinese LOC of 59000 RMB as of January 31 2011 have scheduled

maturities of various amounts over the term of the loan with the final payment due in May 2015 This loan is

secured by our Chinese manufacturing facility located in Shanghai China

As of January 31 2011 and January 31 2010 approximately $8933 and $8644 in US Dollars at

January 31 2011 respectively was funded under this facility

The maximum aggregate amount of loans outstanding under the Credit Facility 2005 Notes 2006 Notes

China Line of Credit at any point during the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 and 2010 were $185185 and

$157587 respectively For the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 and 2010 the outstanding loans under these

credit agreements computed on monthly basis averaged $162962 and $145583 at weighted-average interest

rate of 4.49% and 4.92% respectively
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As of January 31 2011 the required minimum annual principal reduction of long-term debt is as follows

Year Ended January 31 Amount

2012 2692

2013 1735

2014 48845

2015 1528

2016 825

Thereafter

Total $55625

The Credit Facility is assumed to be paid in fiscal year 2013 in accordance with the maturity date in the

December 2010 amendment discussed above

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company has three stock option plans under which it can currently grant options the U.K Stock

Option Plan reserved 19619 shares as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described below of

Common Stock the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan reserved 58858 shares as adjusted for the forward and reverse

stock splits described below for option grants and the 2011 Stock Option Plan reserved 1513997 shares as

adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described below Stock can be granted to officers directors

employees and consultants of the Company or an affiliate In addition outstanding options remained from the

1996 Stock Option Plan which expired on July 25 2006 and the 1998 Stock Option Plan which expired on

June 30 2008 The 2011 Stock Option Plan was effective on January 26 2011 however shares cannot be issued

under this plan until minimum of 20 calendar days after the mailing of the Information Statement to the

stockholders mailed on February 23 2011 The 2007 Stock Incentive Plan was approved by the stockholders on

June 2006 The 2011 Stock Option Plan was approved by the stockholders effective March 14 2011 Incentive

stock options are to be granted at no less than 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant with term of

no more than ten years after the date of grant Nonqualified stock options are to be granted at such price as the

Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors deems appropriate with term of no more than ten years

after the date of grant The options are exercisable upon vesting as determined by the Compensation Committee

at the time the options are granted The 2011 Stock Option Plan provides that generally options granted to

non-employee directors will vest as to twenty-five percent of the options granted on the second anniversary of

the date of grant and as to the remaining seventy-five percent of the options granted on the fourth anniversary of

the date of grant and the options granted to directors will be subject to graded vesting period of three years

Under the provisions of accounting guidance related to stock options the Company recorded $894 of which

$548 was recorded as part of Other expense net $687 and $668 of stock based compensation expense related to

stock option awards in its consolidated statement of operations for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010

and 2009 respectively The Company granted 19.308 of which 18.379 were granted as Stock Appreciation

Rights SARs 13776 and 15540 stock option awards as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits

described below for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Due to the debt for

equity exchange more fully described in Note to the audited consolidated financial statements Recent Debt and

Equity Restructuring Transactions all unvested stock options and SARs vested in fiscal year 2011 and vested

in fiscal years 2010 and 2009 Due to the accelerated vesting in fiscal year 2011 there are no remaining

compensation expenses to be recognized through fiscal year 2012
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On December 21 2010 we filed previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Companys

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of the

Companys Common Stock from 75000000 to 600000000 and to effect forward stock split by which each

outstanding share of Common Stock would be combined and reclassified into 1.37335 shares of Common Stock

such ratio having been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company As result of the forward stock

split the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock were increased on basis of 1.37335 shares for every

one share outstanding All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock

stock options restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented have been adjusted

to reflect the forward stock split

On January 31 2011 the holder of majority of our outstanding Common Stock approved that an Amended

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to effect reverse stock split of the issued and

outstanding and treasury Common Stock of the Company at reverse stock spilt ratio of l-for-35 and ii to

decrease the number of authorized shares of the Companys Common Stock from 600000000 to 25000000

The reverse stock split was effective on March 14 2011 As result of the reverse stock split the issued and

outstanding shares of Common Stock were decreased on basis of one share for every thirty-five shares

outstanding All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding Common Stock stock options

restricted stock performance stock and loss per share for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the

reverse stock split

The estimated fair value of the options granted was calculated using the Black Scholes Merton option

pricing model Black Schole The Black Scholes model incorporates assumptions to value stock-based

awards The risk-free rate of interest for periods within the estimated life of the option is based on U.S

Govermnent Securities Treasury Constant Maturities over the contractual term of the equity instrument Expected

volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Companys stock The Company uses the shortcut method to

determine the expected life assumption and the assumption that no dividends will be paid

Based on historical experience the Company has assumed an annualized forfeiture rate of 7.5% for share-

based compensation awards Under the true-up provisions of the accounting guidance the Company will record

additional expense if the actual forfeiture rate is lower than estimated and will record recovery of prior expense

if the actual forfeiture is higher than estimated

The following tables summarize activity under all stock option plans as adjusted for the forward and

reverse stock splits described above for the respective periods

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 2009

Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the year $37.72 $22.43 $79.00

Intrinsic value of options exercised 39

Cash received from option exercises 247
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Beginning Granted Exercised Cancelled Ending
Balance During During During Balance

Outstanding Year Year Year Outstanding Exercisable

BALANCE AT JANUARY 31 2009

Numberofshares 69190 15540 1285 11927 71518 45912

Weighted-average option price per share $350.68 $159.54 $192.16 $369.28 $304.29 $391.96

BALANCE AT JANUARY 31 2010

Numberofshares 71518 1377f1 7112 78181 42157

Weighted-average option price per share $304.29 22.43 $436.31 $245.17 $368.77

BALANCE AT JANUARY 31 2011

Number of shares 78181 19308 23766 73723 73723

Weighted-average option price per share $245.17 37.72 $305.57 $171.26 $171.26

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at January 31 2011 as

adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described above

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

Weighted-

Average Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining Average Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Contractual Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Life Price

33.13$ 3899 27456 5.1 Years 35.93 27456 5.1 Years 35.93

53.52 53.52 196 6.3 Years 53.52 196 6.3 Years 53.52

$108.31$ 160.56 21032 4.8Years $141.44 21032 4.8Years $141.44

173.55 232.42 12704 4.9 Years $195.22 12704 4.9 Years $195.22

249.75 363.93 2707 4.3 Years $256.38 2707 4.3 Years $256.38

$408.27 565.26 7000 2.1 Years $471.47 7000 2.1 Years $471.47

681.98 891.98 2628 0.2 Years $830.05 2628 0.2 Years $830.05

Total 73723 4.5 Years $171.20 73723 4.4 Years $171.20

There were 1552891 and 32864 shares available as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits

described above for future grants of options under the Companys stock option plans as of January 31 2011 and

2010 respectively

summary of the status of the Companys non-vested stock options as of January 31 2011 and changes

during the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 is summarized below as adjusted for the forward and reverse

stock splits described above

Number of Shares Weighted Avenge Option

Underlying Options Grant Date Fair Value

Non-vested at January 31 2010 36023 $52.24

Granted 19308 $22.43

Vested 48330 $43.07

Forfeited 7001 $35.93

Non-vested at January 31 2011 0.00
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The fair value of stock options granted during fiscal year 2011 2010 and 2009 was estimated on the grant

date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 2009

Risk-free interest rate 2.01% 2.63% 2.02% 2.19% 1.81% 3.32%

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Volatility factor 77.48% 86.62% 70.09% 74.88% 50.9 1% 62.57%

Expected lives 4.0 5.5 Years 5.25 5.5 Years 4.5 5.5 Years

Stock Awards

In fiscal year 2011 the Company granted 13088 restricted stock units and 13088 performance share units

as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described below to selected executives and other key

employees under the Companys 2007 Stock Incentive Plan In fiscal year 2010 the Company granted total of

6236 restricted stock awards to the directors with vesting period of one year In fiscal year 2010 the Company

granted 8231 restricted stock awards and 6583 performance shares as adjusted for the forward and reverse

stock splits described below to selected executives and other key employees under the Companys 2007 Stock

Incentive Plan On May 2008 the Company granted 3561 restricted stock awards and 3561 performance

shares as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described below to selected executives and other key

employees under the Companys 2007 Stock Incentive Plan On July 2008 the Company granted 481 restricted

stock awards as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described below to the directors with vesting

period of one year In accordance with applicable accounting guidance the Company expenses employee stock

awards based on the market value of the award on the issuance date using straight-line basis over the requisite

service period for each separately vesting portion of the award for awards based on time and for performance

based awards on the probability that the performance goals will be attained The restricted stock awards vest

ratably over four years Compensation expense of $651 of which $394 was recorded as part of Other expense

net $598 and $418 was reported for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The

performance shares vest at the end of the performance period upon the achievement of pre-established financial

objectives In the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 $110 of expense was recorded as part of Other expense net

as the result of acceleration of vesting due the debt for equity exchange No compensation expenses were

recorded for the fiscal years ended January 31 2010 and 2009 for performance related awards issued and are not

included in the table below As of January 31 2011 there were zero performance shares issuable

summary of the status of the Companys non-vested restricted stock awards as of January 31 2011 and

changes during the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 is summarized below

Weighted Average
Shares Grant Date Fair Value

Non-vested at January 31 2010 18154 $66.52

Granted 13088 $37.72

Vested 28543 $55.05

Forfeited 2699 $49.44

Non-vested at January 31 2011 0.00
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Rights Plan

In February 2000 the Companys Board of Directors declared dividend of one common stock purchase

right Right for each share of Common Stock outstanding on March 2000 to the stockholders of record on

that date The description and terms of the Rights are set forth in Rights Agreement between the Company and

Mellon Investor Services LLC formerly ChaseMellon Shareholder Services L.L.C as rights agent On

November 15 2004 an amendment was signed among the Company Mellon Investor Services LLC and the

Bank of New York whereby Mellon Investor Services LLC resigned as rights agent effective as of 1200 A.M
New York time November 30 2004 We appointed the Bank of New York Mellon formerly Bank of New

York as successor rights agent effective as of 1201 A.M New York time December 2004 On February 26

2010 an amendment was signed between the Company and Bank of New York Mellon formerly Bank of New

York revising the final expiration date to March 2010 as well as changing the purchase price of the rights see

Companys Forms 8-K and 8-NA filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC on March

2010 for additional information Upon the occurrence of certain events each Right will entitle the registered

holder to purchase from us one one-hundredth of share of Common Stock at purchase price of $509.70 per

one one-hundredth of share as adjusted for the forward and reverse stock splits described elsewhere subject

to adjustment as stated in the Rights Agreement as amended Upon the occurrence of certain events involving

hostile takeover of the Company unless the Companys Board of Directors acts otherwise each holder of

Right other than Rights beneficially owned by the acquiring company will thereafter have the right to receive

upon exercise that number of shares of our Common Stock having market value equal to two times the

purchase price of the Right or ii that number of shares of Common Stock of the acquiring company that at the

time of the transaction has market value of two times the exercise price of the Right

INCOME TAXES

The components of loss before income taxes and noncontrolling interest were as follows

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 2009

Domestic $69544 $23401 $14770

Foreign 780 156 687

Loss before income taxes and noncontrolling interest $68764 $23557 $lS457
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The provision benefit for income taxes as shown in the accompanying

operations consisted of the following

consolidated statements of

201J 2010 2009

114$
14 88 89

396 725 670

296 813 581

12380 1395 1396

1088 12 100

35 27 84

13503 1410 1412

$13207 $2223 $1993

19.2%
9.4%_12.9%

The components of the deferred tax asset and liability as of January 31 2011 and 2010 were as follows

2420

1398

2743

731

87288

903

464

12025

911

3498

112381

35
112

6367

6514

105563

304

4.026

280

2348

793

85123

434

283

10754

1171

186

105398

4660

11431
8362

24453

94.148

13.203

INCOME TAXES continued

Years Ended January 31

Current

Federal

State

Foreign

Deferred

Federal

State

Foreign

Total

Effective income tax rate

2011 2010Years ended January31

ASSETS

Vacation and compensation accruals

Bad debt inventory and return allowances

Warranty reserves

Postretirement benefits

Net operating losses and Capital Losses

Environmental reserves

Other accruals

Pension obligation

Tax Credits

Depreciation and amortization

Derivatives

Total deferred tax assets

LIABILITIES

Amortization of Debt Discount

Derivatives

Depreciation and amortization

Unrepatriated earnings

Total deferred tax liability

Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax liability asset
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In fiscal year 2007 the Company established valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets

related to the Companys joint venture in China based on negative evidence regarding the realizability of these

assets The valuation allowance was decreased by $181 as result of current year activity During fiscal year

2008 the Company recognized gain on the involuntary conversion of their facility in China for financial

statement purposes For local Chinese tax purposes this gain was exempt from income tax

As of January 31 2011 the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately

$137567 state net operating loss carryforwards of $127055 and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of

$13987 These losses and credits begin to expire in varying amounts from January 31 2012 to January 31 2031

while portion of the net operating losses generated in foreign jurisdictions do not have an expiration date In

addition as of January 31 2011 the Company has U.S alternative minimum tax credits carryfowards and foreign

tax credits carryforwards in the amount of $47 and $864 respectively As result of the sale of the Power

Electronics division in fiscal year 2008 the company generated federal and state capital loss carryforwards of

$124845 majority of which will expire if unused by fiscal year ended January 31 2013

In connection with the debt for equity exchange discussed in Note for book purposes the Company

recorded net gain on the exchange of $12050 For income tax purposes the Company has estimated the debt for

equity exchange will result in the recognition of gain on Cancellation of Indebtedness Income COD income

of approximately $9500 For purposes of the fiscal year 2011 tax provision the Company believes that such

COD Income will be offset by current year tax operating losses

Reconciliations of the provision benefit for income taxes at the U.S statutory rate to the benefit

ptovisions for income taxes at the effective tax rates for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively are as follows

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 2009

U.S statutory income tax $23380 8009 $5255
Effect of

State tax net of federal income tax benefit 2208 171 136
Tax effect of foreign operations 1450 345 13

Provision to return 424 3097

Change in valuation allowance 11508 10337 4199

Goodwill Imairment 3799

Debt Restructuring 3898
Other 2429 145 75

Total provision for income taxes at the effective rate $13207 2223 1993

Effective February 2007 the Company implemented accounting guidance related to accounting for

uncertainty in income taxes This guidance prescribes among other things recognition threshold and

measurement attributes for the financial statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions taken

or expected to be taken in companys income tax return The Company utilizes two-step approach for

evaluating uncertain tax positions Step one Recognition requires company to determine if the weight of

available evidence indicates that tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit including

resolution of related appeals or litigation processes if any Step two Measurement is based on the largest

amount of benefit which is more likely than not to be realized on settlement with the taxing authority
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As result the Company decreased the liability for net unrecognized tax benefits by $1619 and accounted

for the reduction as cumulative effect of change in accounting principle that resulted in an increase to retained

earnings of $1619 The Company historically classified unrecognized tax benefits in current taxes payable or as

direct offset to deferred taxes to the extent the uncertain tax position impacted net operating loss As result

of the adoption unrecognized tax benefits of $454 were reclassified to long-term income taxes payable

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of January 31 2011 was $546 which includes $0 of

accrued interest related to unrecugniLed income tax benefits which the Company recognizes as component of

the provision for income taxes Of the $546 of unrecognized tax benefits $360 relates to tax positions which if

recognized would impact the effective tax rate not considering the impact of any valuation allowance Of the

$360 $360 is attributable to uncertain tax positions with respect to certain deferred tax assets which if recognized

would currently be offset by full valuation allowance due to the fact that at the current time it is more likely

than not that these assets would not be recognized due to lack of sufficient projected income in the future

The following is roll-forward of the changes in the unrecognized tax benefits

2011 2010 2009

Total unrecognized tax benefits as of beginning of the fiscal year $566 714 $1063

Gross amount of increases decreases in unrecognized tax benefits as result of tax

positions taken during the prior period 119 122
Reduction to unrecognized tax benefits related to settlements with the taxing

authorities 20 29 93
Reduction to unrecognized tax benefits as result of lapse of applicable statute of

limitations 134

Total unrecognized tax benefits as of the end of the fiscal year $546 $566 714

Total unrecognized tax benefits that would impact the effective tax rate if recognized $360 $378 484

Total amount of interest and penalties recognized in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations for the year ended January 31 $7 68

Total amount of interest and penalties recognized in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets as of January 31 $7 20

The company files U.S federal U.S state and foreign tax retums The Company and its subsidiaries are

subject to U.S federal income tax as well as income tax of multiple foreign and state jurisdictions During the

fiscal year ended January 31 2008 the IRS concluded their examination with respect to the January 31 2005 tax

year and concluded survey of the January 31 2006 tax year noting no changes With few exceptions the

company is no longer subject to state or foreign examinations for years prior to fiscal year 2002

The Company does not anticipate any significant increases or decreases to the tax reserves within the next

twelve months

The Companys policy to include interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the

provision for taxes on the consolidated financial statements of income did not change as result of implementing

the new accounting standards
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INCOME TAXES continued

The Company has significant federal and state net operating losses carryforwards available which begin to

expire in varying amounts from January 31 2012 to January 31 2031 The Company believes that the future use

or the amount if any of its loss carryforwards will be substantially restricted as result of changes in ownership

as defined by rules and limitations set out in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue code This would have no

impact on the net deferred tax assets recorded by the Company as full valuation allowance has been established

against these net operating losses

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain manufacturing and office facilities and certain equipment under operating lease

agreements in accordance with accounting guidance for leases Certain leases contain renewal options and some

have purchase options and generally provide that the Company shall
pay

for insurance taxes and maintenance

As of January 31 2011 the Company had future miaimum annual lease obligations net of sublease income

under leases with noncancellable lease terms in excess of one year as follows

Years Ended January 31 Amount

2012 $1515

2013 1379

2014 1339

2015 1009

2016 1001

Thereafter 1361

Total $7604

Total rent expense net of sublease income for all operating leases for the fiscal years ended January 31

2011 2010 and 2009 was $2082 $2734 and $2605 respectively

Contingent Liabilities

Legal

The Company is involved in ordinary routine litigation incidental to the conduct of the companys business

None of this litigation individually or in the aggregate is material or is expected to be material to our business

financial condition or results of operations in any year See Business Environmental Regulations for

description of certain legal proceedings in which we are involved

In April and August 2008 pursuant to Purchase Agreement the Murata Purchase Agreement dated

June 19 2007 between Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd Murata Manufacturing and CD Murata Electronics

North America Inc Murata Electronics as assignee of Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd provided to CD
written notices of claim for indemnification under Article VIII of the Murata Purchase Agreement seeking

indemnity and defense relating to patent infringement claims asserted by SyaQor Inc against Murata Electronics

Murata Manufacturing and the former CD companies now known as Murata Power Solutions Inc MPS
and numerous other defendant parties In these notices Murata Electronics failed to provide any information

regarding the claims made against MPS specifically and failed to adequately state basis for an indemnifiable
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claim under the Murata Purchase Agreement In January 2011 Murata Electronics provided third notice

referencing the prior notices and now stating that judgment had been entered against MPS in the amount of

approximately $18000 and that Murata Electronics had incurred legal fees of approximately $2000 all for

which Murata Electronics was seeking indemnification and payment At this time the Company is not aware of

any information that would indicate its liability for the claimed loss amount continues to contest the validity of

the claim for indemnity and the underlying basis thereof and is defending such claim accordingly We do not

expect that this claim will have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of our

operations

Environmental

The Company is subject to extensive and evolving environmental laws and regulations regarding the

clean-up and protection of the environment worker health and safety and the protection of third parties These

laws and regulations include but are not limited to requirements relating to the handling storage use and

disposal of lead and other hazardous materials in manufacturing processes and solid wastes ii record keeping

and periodic reporting to governmental entities regarding the use and disposal of hazardous materials

iii monitoring and permitting of air emissions and water discharge and iv moaitoring worker exposure to

hazardous suhstances in the workplace and protecting workers from impermissible exposure to hazardous

substances including lead used in the manufacturing process

Notwithstanding the Companys efforts to maintain compliance with applicable environmental

requirements if injury or damage to persons or the environment arises from hazardous substances used

generated or disposed of in the conduct of the Companys business or that of predecessor to the extent the

Company is not indemaified therefor the Company may be held liable for certain damages the costs of

investigation and remediation and fines and penalties which could have material adverse effect on the

Companys business financial condition or results of operations However under the terms of the purchase

agreement with Allied Corporation Allied for the acquisition the Acquisition of the Company the

Acquisition Agreement Allied was obligated to indemnify the Company for any liabilities of this type

resulting from conditions existing at January 28 198o that were not disclosed by Allied to the Company in the

schedules to the Acquisition Agreement These obligations have since been assumed by Allieds successor in

interest Honeywell Honeywell

CD is participating in the investigation of contamination at several lead smelting facilities Third Party

Facilities to which CD allegedly made scrap lead shipments for reclamation prior to the date of the

acquisition

Pursuant to 1996 Site Participation Agreement as later amended in 2000 the Company and several other

potentially responsible parties PRPs agreed upon cost sharing allocation for performance of remedial

activities required by the United States EPA Administrative Order Consent Decree entered for the design and

remediation phases at the former ML Industries Inc NL site in Pedricktown New Jersey Third Party

Facility In April 2002 one of the original PRPs Exide Technologies Exide filed for relief under Chapter 11

of Title 11 of the United States Code In August 2002 Exide notified the other PRPs that it would no longer be

taking an active role in any further action at the site and discontinued its financial participation resulting in pro

rata increase in the cost participation of the other PRPs including the Company for which the Companys
allocated share rose from 5.25% to 7.79%
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In August 2002 the Company was notified of its involvement as PRP at NLs Atlanta Northside Drive

Superfund site NL and Norfolk Southern Railway Company have been conducting removal action on the site

preliminary to remediation The Company along with other PRPs continues to negotiate with NL at this site

regarding the Companys share of the allocated liability

The Company has terminated operations at its Huguenot New York facility and has completed facility

decontamination and disposal of chemicals and hazardous wastes remaining at the facility following termination

of operations in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements The Company is also aware of the existence

of soil and groundwater contamination at the Huguenot New York facility which is expected to require

expenditures for further investigation and remediation The Company is currently investigating the
presence

of

lead contamination in soils at and adjacent to the facility Additionally the site is listed by the New York State

Department of Environmental Conservation NYSDEC on its registry of inactive hazardous waste disposal

sites due to the presence of fluoride and other contaminants in and underlying lagoon used by the former owner

of this site Avnet Inc for disposal of wa.stewater Contamination is present at concentrations that exceed state

groundwater standards In 2002 the NYSDEC issued Record of Decision ROD for the soil remediation

portion of the site ROD for the ground water portion has not yet been issued by the NYSDEC In 2005 the

NYSDEC also requested that the parties engage in Feasibility Study which the parties have conducted in

accordance with NYSDEC approved work plan In February 2000 the Company filed suit against Avnet Inc.

and in December 2006 the parties executed settlement agreement which provides for cost sharing

arrangement with Avnet Inc bearing majority of the future costs associated with the investigation and

remediation of the lagoon-related contamination

CD together with Johnson Controls Inc JCI is conducting an assessment and remediation of

contamination at and near its facility in Milwaukee Wisconsin The majority of the on-site soil remediation

portion of this project was completed as of October 2001 Under the purchase agreement with JCI CD is

responsible for one-half of the cost of the on-site assessment and remediation with maximum liability of

$1750 ii any environmental liabilities at the facility that are not remediated as part of the ongoing clean-up

project and iii environmental liabilities for any new claims made after the fifth anniversary of the closing i.e

March 2004 that arise from migration from pre-closing condition at the Milwaukee facility to locations other

than the Milwaukee facility but specifically excluding liabilities relating to pre-closing off-site disposal JCI

retained the environmental liability for the off-site assessment and remediation of lead In March 2004 the

Company entered into an agreement with JCI to continue to share responsibility as set forth in the original

purchase agreement The Company continues to share with JCI the allocation of costs for assessment and

remediation of certain off-site chlorinated volatile organic compounds in groundwater

In February 2005 the Company received request from the EPA to conduct exploratory testing to

determine if the historical municipal landfill located on the Companys Attica Indiana property is the source of

elevated levels of trichloroethylene detected in two city wells downgradient of the Companys property In 2009

EPA determined that the impact to the two city wells was from sources unrelated to the Companys property The

EPA also advised that it believes the former landfill is subject to remediation under the RCRA corrective action

program The Company conducted testing in accordance with an investigation work plan and submitted the test

results to the EPA The EPA thereafter notified the Company that they also wanted the Company to embark upon

more comprehensive RCRA investigation to determine whether there have been any releases of other hazardous

waste constituents from its Attica facility and if so to determine what corrective measure may be appropriate In

January 2007 the Company agreed to an Administrative Order on Consent with EPA to investigate and
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remediate if necessary site conditions at the facility The Company has timely complied with all required

investigative and remedial actions required by EPA

The Company has conducted site investigations at its Conyers Georgia facility and has detected chlorinated

solvents in groundwater and lead in soil both on-site and off-site The Company has recently initiated further

assessment of groundwater conditions temporarily suspending remediation of the chlorinated solvents which had

been initiated in accordance with Corrective Action Plan approved by the Georgia Department of Natural

Resources in January 2007 modified Corrective Action Plan will be submitted upon completion of the

assessment Additionally the Company has completed remediation of lead impacted soils identified in the site

investigations In September 2005 an adjoining landowner filed suit against the Company alleging among other

things that it was allowing lead contaminated stormwater mnoff to leave its property and contaminate the adjoining

property In November 2008 the parties entered into final settlement agreement pursuant to which the Company

agreed to assess and remediate any contamination on the adjoining property due the Companys operations as

required by Georgia Department of Natural Resources and with the concurrence of the adjoining landowner

The Company accrues reserves for liabilities in its consolidated financial statements and periodically

reevaluates the reserved amounts for these liabilities in view of the most current information available in

accordance with accounting guidance for contingencies As of January 31 2011 accrued environmental reserves

totaled $2431 consisting of $1807 in other current liabilities and $624 in other liabilities Based on currently

available information the Company believes that appropriate reserves have been established with respect to the

foregoing contingent liabilities and that they are not expected to have material adverse effect on its business

financial condition or results of operations

Purchase Commitments

Periodically the Company enters into purchase commitments pertaining to the purchase of certain raw

materials with various suppliers The Company has entered into various lead commitments contracts some

expiring within few months while others continue into February 2012 The estimated commitments are

approximately $76000 in the fiscal year ended January 31 2012 and $1000 during the fiscal year ended

January 31 2013 The Company has also committed to purchase new machinery at an estimated cost of $533 to

be installed within the next year

10 MAJOR CUSTOMER

One customer Emerson Electric Company and Subsidiaries accounted for 9.4% 12.9% and 17.4% of the

Companys consolidated net sales for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

11 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that subject the Company to potential concentration of credit risk consist ptincipally

of trade receivables and temporary cash investments The Company places its temporary cash investments with

various financial institutions and generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited by large customer base and its

geographic dispersion The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers financial condition

and requires collateral such as letters of credit in certain circumstances
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12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair values of the Companys financial instruments at January 31 2011 and 2010 were as

follows

2011 2010

Carrying Carrying

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents 3708 3708 2700 2700

Investments held for deferred compensation plan 321 321

Debt excluding capital leases 55387 54808 141658 107282

Commodity hedges 643 643

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial

instruments

Cash and cash equivalentsthe carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of

these instruments

The fair value of accounts receivable accounts payable and accrued liabilities consistently approximate the

carrying value due to the short term maturity of these instruments and are excluded from the above table

Investments held for deferred compensation plan this asset is carried at quoted market values and as

result the fair value is equivalent to the carrying amount

Long-term debtthe fair value of the Notes was determined using available market prices as of the last date

traded which was January 14 2011 The carrying value of the Companys remaining long-term debt including

the current portion approximates fair value based on the incremental borrowing rates currently available to the

Company for loans with similar terms and maturity

Commodity hedgesthe fair value was determined using available market prices at the balance sheet date

of commodity hedge contracts with similar characteristics and maturity dates

13 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company follows the applicable accounting guidance for accounting for derivative instruments and

hedging activities This guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments

Specifically it requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of

financial position and to measure those instruments at fair value Additionally the fair value adjustments will

affect either equity as accumulated other comprehensive loss income AOCI or net loss income depending

on whether the derivative instrument qualifies as hedge for accounting purposes and if so the nature of the

hedging activity

To qualify for hedge accounting the instruments must be effective in reducing the risk exposure that they

are designed to hedge For instruments that are associated with the hedge of an anticipated transaction hedge

effectiveness criteria also require that it be probable that the underlying transaction will occur Instruments that

meet established accounting criteria are formally designated as hedges at the inception of the contract These

criteria demonstrate that the derivative is expected to be highly effective at offsetting changes in fair value of the

underlying exposure both at inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis The assessment for

effectiveness is documented at hedge inception and reviewed throughout the designated hedge period
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Changes in the fair value of derivative that is designated as cash flow hedge are recorded in accumulated

other comprehensive loss When operations are affected by the variability of the underlying cash flow the

applicable amount of the gain or loss from the derivative that is deferred in equity is released to operations When

the terms of an underlying transaction are modified or when the underlying hedged item ceases to exist all

changes in the fair value of the instrument are included in operations each period until the instrument matures

Derivatives that are not designated as hedges as well as the portion of derivative excluded from the

effectiveness assessment and changes in the value of the derivatives which do not offset the underlying hedged

item throughout the designated hedge period are recorded as current period expense in operations

The Company does not use derivatives for speculative purposes nor is it party to leveraged derivatives

The Company is exposed to credit risk related to its financial instruments in the event of non-performance by the

counterparties As such the Company has policy of only entering into contracts with major financial

institutions When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and offsetting exposure that the derivatives are

designed to hedge the Company has not sustained material loss from these instruments nor does it anticipate

any material adverse effect on its net income or financial position in the future from the use of derivatives

Hedge accounting is discontinued when it is determined that derivative instrument is not highly effective

as hedge Hedge accounting is also discontinued when the derivative instrument expires is sold terminated

or exercised or is no longer designated as hedge instrument because it is unlikely that forecasted transaction

will occur hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of firm commitment or

management determines that designation of the derivative as hedging instrument is no longer appropriate

When hedge accounting is discontinued the derivative instrument will be either terminated continue to be

canied on the balance sheet at fair value or redesignated as the hedging instrument if the relationship meets all

applicable hedging criteria Any asset or liability that was previously recorded as result of recognizing the value

of firm commitment will be removed from the balance sheet and recognized as gain or loss in current period

earnings Any gains or losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive loss from hedging forecasted

transaction will be recognized immediately in current period earnings if it is probable that the forecasted

transaction will not occur

Commodity riskThe Company enters into financial instruments hedges with counterparties to mitigate its

exposure to the volatility of the price of lead which is the primary raw material component of the Company The

agreements are with major financial institutions with maturities generally less than one year The Company

employs cash flow hedge accounting in the treatment of these contracts Changes in the value of the contracts are

marked to market each month and the gains and losses are recorded in other comprehensive loss until they are

released to the income statement through cost of goods sold in the same period as is the hedged item lead The

notional amount of the lead forward contracts as of January 31 2011 and 2010 was $0 and $6907 respectively

Commodity derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges of anticipated lead purchases and scheduled interest

payments respectively The fair values of these derivatives are accumulated in other comprehensive loss in

Equity and are released to earnings during the period in which the hedged items impact earnings

The Company had raw material commodity arrangements for metric tons of base metals at January 31
2011 and 3103 metric tons at January 31 2010
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The following table provides the fair value of the Companys derivative contracts which include raw

material commodity contracts

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 Balance Sheet Location

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Commodity Hedges 643 Other current liabilities

Total fair value $0 643

The Company estimates that $318 of net derivatives gains in AOCI as of January 31 2011 will be

reclassified into earnings in the next twelve months

Amount of Gain Loss
Amount of Gain Loss Reclassified fromAOCI

II

Recognized in AOCI into Income

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 AOCI into Income

Derivatives in Cash Flow

Hedging Relationships

Commodity Hedges $625 $527 58597 $178 51.802 510049 Cost of Sales

14 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has various noncontributory defined benefit pension plans which cover certain employees in

the United States

The Companys funding policy is to make contributions in accordance with U.S laws and regulations

Pension benefits for the Companys defined benefit plans are generally based on employees years of service and

qualifying compensation during the years of employment Plan assets are invested in commingled trust funds

consisting primarily of equity and U.S Government securities

The Company also provides certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees who meet

certain service requirements postretirement benefits through two plans One of these plans was amended on

April 2005 to decrease the life insurance benefits for retirees

Benefit payments for the Companys pension and post retirement plans are expected to be paid as follows

Pension Postretirement

Years Ended January 31 Plans Plans

2012 4505 177

2013 4820 172

2014 5015 159

2015 5177 178

2016 5478 195

20172021 30244 1010
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The tables that follow provide reconciliation of the changes in the plans benefit obligations and fair value

of assets for the fiscal
years

ended January 31 2011 and 2010 and statement of the funded status as of

January 31 2011 and 2010 The measurement dates are January 31 2011 and 2010

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2011 2010 2011 2010

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 81506 72196 2144 1.969

Service cost 1386 1034 71 59

Interest cost 4668 4525 115 126

Actuarial gain loss 5314 7803 237 123

Benefits paid 4175 4052 125 133

Benefit obligation at end of year 88699 81506 1968 2144

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 51151 43603

Actual return on plan assets 6297 9264

Employer contributions 3087 2336 125 133

Benefits paid 4175 4U52 125 133

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 56360 51151

Reconciliation of funded status

Fónded status 32338 30355 1968 2144

Unrecognized actuarial loss 38888 38925 174 66

Unrecognized prior service cost 13 804

Net amount recognized at measurement date at end of

year 6550 8570 $2l55 $2882

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist

of

Accumulated other comprehensive income 38888 38925 187 738
Accrued benefit liability 32338 30355 1968 2144

Net amount recognized at end of fiscal year 6550 8570 $2155 $2882
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Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Components of net periodic benefit cost

Service cost 1386 1034 1181 71 58 67

Interest cost 4668 4525 4847 115 126 129

Expected return on plan assets 4115 3615 5420
Amortization of prior service costs 791 804 871

Recognised actuarial loss/gain 3169 2770 1276

Net periodic benefit cost 5108 4714 1884 $601 $621 $680

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit

obligation as of January 31
Discount rate 5.40% 5.75% 6.60% 5.40% 5.75% 6.60%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% N/A N/A N/A

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost

for the periods ended January 31
Discount rate 5.75% 6.60% 6.35% 5.75% 6.60% 6.35%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% N/A N/A N/A

Determined as of the end of the fiscal year

Determined as of the beginning of the fiscal year

Rate relates to certain employees Some covered employees have benefits unrelated to rate of pay

The Company considered various corporate bond indices rated Aa or higher with duration that is

consistent with the plans liabilities to determine the discount rates at each measurement date The change in the

discount rate is consistent with the changes in the benchmarks considered for the same periods

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets assumption the Company considered the

historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset class as well as the target asset allocation

of the pension portfolio and the payment of plan expenses from the pension trust This resulted in the selection of

the 8% expected long-term rate of return on plan assets assumption for the plans

The Company sponsors two postretirement benefit plans for certain employees in the United States the

Company contributions to one of them are fixed so there is no material trend rate assumption The other plan has

cap on benefits in place The impact of change in the assumed health care cost trend rate is zero as the per

capita claims costs have exceeded the cap since 2004 The reported postretirement benefit obligation does not

reflect the effect of the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 CD provides

prescription drug benefits to some Medicare-eligible retirees but is not expected to qualify for the tax-free

federal subsidy

The accumulated benefit obligation exceeded the plan assets for the two domestic plans at January 31 2011

The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for these plans

were $88699 $85190 and $56360 respectively for fiscal year 2011 At January 31 2010 the projected benefit

obligation accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for these plans were $81506 $79370

and $51151 respectively
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The pension plans have the following asset allocations as of their measurement dates

Actual Percentage of Plan

Assets at

January 31 January 31
2011 2010

ASSET CATEGORY
Equity SecuritiesDomestic 28.30% 30.90%

Equity SecuritiesInternational 13.10% 9.10%

Total 41.40% 40.00%

Debt Securities 48.50% 49.10%

Other 10.10% 10.90%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

The Pension Plans investment policy includes the following asset allocations guidelines

Plans Policy

Target

ASSET CLASS

Fixed Income 47 .00%

Domestic Income 32.00%

International Equity 10.00%

Other 11.00%

Represents pension plan assets that are invested in broadly diversified alternative investment which

consists of 30-40 hedge funds of different styles and asset types equity long/short sovereign debt and

mortgage hedging etc.

The asset allocation policy was developed in consideration of the long-term investment objective of

ensuring that there is an adequate level of assets to support benefit obligations to plan participants secondary

objective is minimizing the impact of market fluctuations on the value of the plans assets Equity Securities

Domestic includes Company Common Stock in the amounts of $87 0.2% of total plan assets and $393 0.9% of

total plan assets at January 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

In fiscal year 2012 the Company expects to make required contributions totaling approximately $8000 to its

pension plans

In addition to the broad asset allocation described above the following policies apply to individual asset

classes for the domestic plans

Fixed income investments are oriented toward investment grade securities rated Baa or higher with

small exposure to high yield and emerging markets debt They are diversified among individual securities

and sectors The average maturity is similar to that of the broad U.S bond market

Equity investments are diversified among individual securities industries and economic sectors

International equity investments are also diversified by country Most securities held are issued by

companies with large market capitalizations Investment in the Companys stock is permissible up to

maximum of 10% at the time of investment
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The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Plans financial instruments

carried at fair value as of January 31 2011 and 2010

January 312011 Total Level Level2 Level

Mutual funds

Equity funds $23.24 $23241

Fixed income funds 27368 27368

Common Stock 87 87

Other Assets 5664
______

5664

Total assets at fair value $56360 $50696 $5664

January 312010 Total Level Level2 Level

Mutual funds

Equity funds $20088 $20088

Fixed income funds 25112 25112

Common Stock 393 393

Other Assets 5558
_______

5558

Total assets at fair value $51151 $45593 $5558

The following table presents reconciliation of changes in the fair value of the Plans Level assets for the

fiscal year ended January 31 2011 and 2010

Balance February 2009 $4295

Purchases of additional investments 1000

Appreciation in fair value of investment 263

Balance January 31 2010 $5558

Purchases of additional investments

Appreciation in fair value of investment 106

Balance January 31 2011 $5664

The fair values presented above were determined based on valuation techniques categorized as follows

Level Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market quoted prices for identical

or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active inputs other than quoted prices that are

observable and market-corroborated inputs which are derived principally from or corroborated by

observable market data

Level Inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or value drivers

are unobservable

Fair value calculations may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values

Furthermore although management believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other
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market participants the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain

financial instruments could result in different fair value measurement at the reporting date

The Company has 401K Plan that eligible employees may contribute to Certain employees are eligible to

participate in various defined contribution retirement plans The Companys contributions under the plans are

based on either specified percentages of employee contributions or specified percentages of the employees

earnings The Companys expense was $0 $855 and $985 for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively

The Company has Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP that covers certain executives Due

to the change of control created by the debt for equity exchange the SERP was paid in full to covered personnel

in the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 which reduced recorded expenses The SERP is non-qualified

unfunded deferred benefit compensation plan Expenses related to this SERP which were actuarially determined

were $1498 $162 and $157 for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The total

obligation for these plans was $0 and $4222 as of January 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Company has Deferred Compensation Plan that covers certain senior management employees and

non-employee members of the Companys Board of Directors With the exception of administration costs which

are paid by the Company this non-qualified plan is funded entirely by participants through voluntary deferrals of

compensation Income deferrals made by participants under this plan are deposited in individual trust known

under current tax law as rabbi trust accounts The Company follows the provisions of accounting guidance

related to deferred compensation arrangements The guidance requires that the accounts of the rabbi trust be

consolidated with the accounts of the Company ii the Company stock be classified and accounted for in equity

in manner similar to the way in which treasury stock is accounted for iii the diversified assets be accounted

for in accordance with accounting standards for the particular asset and iv the deferred compensation

obligation be classified as liability and adjusted with corresponding charge or credit to compensation cost

to reflect changes in the fair value of the amount owed to the participant At January 31 2011 and 2010 the

liability for the Companys Deferred Compensation Plan was $0 and $488 respectively and was included in

other liabilities Due to the change in control created by the debt for equity exchange all balances in this plan

were paid to participants in the fiscal year ended January 31 2011

15 GOODWILL AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

In accordance with accounting guidance related to accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived

assets annually the Company first completes an assessment of its long-lived assets within the various asset

groupings and determines if the carrying value of its long-lived assets within those identified asset groupings

exceeded their fair values The fair value of these asset groupings was determined based upon the cost and

income approach respectively Upon completion of the long-lived asset impairment analysis the Company

assesses the carrying value of its goodwill by using the two step fair value based test in accordance with

accounting guidance related to goodwill and other intangible assets The first step compared the fair value of the

reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill

During fiscal year 2009 the Company determined that there was an impairment of long-lived assets As

result the Company recorded pre-tax asset impairment charge related to one of its closed manufacturing

facilities of $1222 The impairment charge resulted from the Companys inability to sell the site as result of
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15 GOODWILL AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS continued

market conditions This charge is included in the cost of sales on the consolidated statement of operations The

remaining value of the building of $500 is classified as Intangible and other assets net on the balance sheet as of

January 31 2011 and as Assets held for sale on the balance sheet as of January 31 2010

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the fair value of net assets acquired in business

combinations Goodwill is not amortized and is subject to impairment tests Goodwill is tested for impairment on

an annual basis or upon the occurrence of certain circumstances or events Indicators of potential impairment

might include decline of quoted market prices of the Companys stock in active markets andlor continuing

operating losses The Company determines the fair value of its reporting units using combination of financial

projections and discounted cash flow techaiques adjusted for risk characteristics also giving consideration to the

Companys overall market capitalization The fair value of the reporting units is compared to the carrying value

of the reporting units to determine if an impairment loss should be calculated If the book value of reporting

unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit an impairment loss is indicated The impairment loss is

calculated by comparing the implied fair value of the goodwill to the book value of the goodwill If the book

value of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill an impairment loss is recorded

The Companys implied fair value of goodwill is dependent upon significant judgments and estimates of

future discounted cash flows and other factors The Companys estimates of future cash flows include

assumptions concerning future operating performance and economic conditions and may differ from actual future

cash flows Estimated future cash flows are adjusted by an appropriate discount rate at the date of evaluation The

financial and credit market volatility directly impacts the fair value measurement through the weighted average

cost of capital that the Company uses to determine the discount rate and through the stock price that is used to

determine market capitalization Therefore changes in the stock price may also affect the amount of impairment

recorded Market capitalization is determined by multiplying the shares outstanding on the assessment date by

the average market price of the Companys Common Stock over 30-day period before assessment date The

Company uses this 30-day duration to consider inherent market fluctuations that may affect any individual

closing price Market capitalization subsequent to the assessment date is also considered

The Company performs the annual goodwill test in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year for its one reporting

unit Given the recent decrease in market capitalization and continuing operating losses the Company tested for

impairment on July 31 2010 As result the Company first completed an assessment of its long-lived assets

within the various asset groupings and determined there were no impairments

The Company assessed the carrying value of its goodwill by using the two-step fair-value based test at

July 31 2010 in accordance with accounting guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets The first step

compared the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill As the carrying amount

of the reporting unit exceeded its fair value the second step was performed The second step was performed and

determined that the implied fair value of goodwill was in excess of the book value of goodwill and in connection

with this second step the Company recorded non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $59978 representing the

full value of goodwill As discussed in Note to the audited consolidated financial statements Income Taxes as

result of the impairment charge the Company no longer has deferred tax liability related to an indefinite lived

intangible As such for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 the Company recorded an income tax benefit in

the amount of $14245 for the reversal of this deferred tax liability As result the goodwill impairment recorded

net of tax benefits for the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 was $45733
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16 RESTRUCTURING

On February 2009 the Company announced plans to reduce labor costs by reducing its workforce by

approximately 90 employees The Company recorded severance accruals in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009

of $1334 in its consolidated statement of operations as selling general and administrative expenses as result of

these reductions The Company paid most of these costs in fiscal year 2010 with small portion carrying over to

fiscal year 2011

On September 14 2010 the Company announced plans to close its Leola Pennsylvania manufacturing

facility and transfer production to other existing facilities When complete the closure plan will result in the

elimination of approxiniately 85 positions Closure costs incurred during the fiscal year ended January 31 2011

include $434 in severance costs and $1523 in fixed asset impairment charges and $326 in other costs Additional

closure costs of approximately $300 related to move costs and additional severance are expected to be recorded

over the next nine to twelve months

reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability and related activity is shown below

Balance at Balance at

January 31 Provision January 31
2010 Additions Expenditures 2011

Severance $76 434 104 $406

Fixed asset impairment 1523 1523

Other 326 94 232

Total $76 $2283 $1721 $638

17 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA unaudited

Quarterly financial data for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 and 2010 follow

First Second Third Fourth

Year Ended January 31 2011 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Net sales $84703 83835 $87623 $98670

Gross profit 9978 11033 10795 17213

Operating income loss 1.032 59743 526 4194

Net loss income attributable to CD TECHNOLOGIES INC 5604 50680 6445 6583

Loss income per common sharebasic and diluted

Basic 5.42 48.91 6.20 0.92

Diluted 5.42 48.91 6.28 0.92

First Second Third Fourth

Year Ended January 312010 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Net sales $73665 82434 $91210 $88400

Gross profit 5345 10003 13010 9176

Operating loss 5775 1907 555 2.829
Net loss attributable to CD TECHNOLOGIES INC 9758 5616 3.440 6724
Loss

per common share basic and diluted

Basic 9.46 5.44 3.33 6.52
Diluted 9.46 5.44 3.34 6.53
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17 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA unaudited continued

The sum of the quarterly net loss per share applicable to common stockholders does not necessarily agree to

the net loss per share for the year due to the timing of our common stock issuances

18 OPERATIONS BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

The Standby Power Division manufactures and markets integrated reserve power systems and components

for the standby power market which includes primarily telecommunications uninterruptible power supplies

cable and utilities Integrated reserve power systems monitor and regulate electric power flow and provide

backup power in the event of primary power loss or interruption The Standby Power Division also produces

the individual components of these systems including reserve batteries power rectifiers system monitors power

boards and chargers Major applications of these products include wireless and wireline telephone infrastructure

cable television signal powering corporate data center powering and computer network backup for use during

power outages

Summarized financial information related to the geographic areas in which the Company operated at

January 31 2011 2010 and 2009 and for each of the fiscal years then ended is shown below

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 2009

Net sales5

United States $254183 $255214 $297549

China 36094 18885 12763

Other countries 64554 61610 55228

Consolidated totals $354831 $335709 $365540

Long-lived assets

United States 42133 47265 41419

China 34372 31571 29818

Mexico 10569 11654 14265

Other countries 52 79 68

Consolidated totals 87126 90.569 85570

Net sales by geographic area are determined by the location of the customer

19 WARRANTY

The Company provides for estimated product warranty expenses when the related products are sold

Because warranty estimates are forecasts that are based on the best available information primarily historical

claims experience claims costs may differ from amounts provided An analysis of changes in the liability for

product warranties follows

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of period 6481 8069 $11276

Current year provisions net of recoveries 5751 5129 4985

Expenditures 4656 6717 8.199
Effect of foreign currency translation

Balance at end of period 7.576 6.48 8069
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19 WARRANTY continued

As of January 31 2011 accrued warranty obligations of $7576 include $3168 in current liabilities and

$4408 in other liabilities As of January 31 2010 accrued warranty obligations of $6481 include $2511 in

current liabilities and $3970 in other liabilities

Certain warranty costs associated with the disposal of the Motive Division were not assumed by the buyer

and are included in the table above that are associated with this Division which is part of discontinued operations

Current year provisions include $0 from discontinued operations for both fiscal years 2011 and 2010

respectively Expenditures include $155 of which $147 were non-cash adjustments and $2603 of which $939

were non-cash adjustments reflecting updated payment estimates from discontinued operations in fiscal years

2011 and 2010 respectively

20 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended January 31 2011 2010

Cumulative translation adjustment 5189 6000
Accumulated net unrealized holding gain loss on derivatives 306 497
Adjustment to initially apply defined benefit plan standard 4459 4459
Minimum pension liability adjustment 34147 32700

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss attributable to CD Technologies

Inc $43489 $43656

21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On December 23 2010 the Company announced that it had completed the Exchange Offer on the terms and

subject to the conditions in the Companys Registration Statement under the Securities Act

Approximately 98.91% of the outstanding principal amount of the Companys outstanding 2005 Notes and

approximately 97.62% of the outstanding principal amount of the Companys outstanding 2006 Notes for an

aggregate of approximately 97.99% of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes were validly tendered and

not validly withdrawn in the Exchange Offer In exchange for each $1 of principal amount of the 2005 Notes

accepted in the Exchange Offer holders of the 2005 Notes received 113.21 shares of common stock of the

Company In exchange for each $1 of principal amount of the .2006 Notes accepted in the Exchange Offer

holders of the 2006 Notes received 113.14 shares of common stock of the Company Pursuant to the Exchange

Offer we were able to reduce our total debt from approximately $175000 to $50000

Prior to the Exchange Offer AG owned approximately $60500 of the 2005 Notes and approximately

$26600 of the 2006 Notes Following the consummation of the Exchange Offer and the transactions

contemplated thereby AG beneficially owned approximately 65% of the Companys issued and outstanding

shares of common stock with such shares of common stock representing approximately 65% of the voting power

of the Companys outstanding common stock Accordingly following the consummation of the Exchange Offer

and the transactions contemplated thereby AG acquired control of the Company Concurrently and in connection

with the completion of the Exchange Offer AG Bruce Co and the Company entered into an Investors Rights

Agreement that among other things provides such stockholders with certain shelf and piggyback registration

rights with respect to the Companys common stock Additionally in connection with the Exchange Offer the

Company agreed to pay all of the fees and expenses incurred by AG and Bruce Co. which at the time of

consummation of the Exchange Offer were approximately $1200
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Additionally the Company has $20000 term loan with Silver Oak Capital L.L.C an affiliate of AG

outstanding as of January 31 2011 During the fiscal year ended January 31 2011 the Company incurred fees of

$29 and interest of $382 related to this term loan

22 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value measurements for financial assets and liabilities relates primarily to the derivative contracts and

investments related to the deferred compensation plan The Company utilizes the market approach to measure

fair value for the financial assets and liabilities The market approach uses prices and other relevant information

generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities The accounting guidance

includes fair value hierarchy that is intended to increase consistency and comparability in fair value

measurements and related disclosures The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that are

used to measure fair value that are either observable or unobservable Observable inputs reflect assumptions

market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent

sources while unobservable inputs reflect reporting entitys pricing based upon their own market assumptions

The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels

Level Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market quoted prices for identical

or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active inputs other than quoted prices that are

observable and market-corroborated inputs which are derived principally from or corroborated by

observable market data

Level Inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or value drivers

are unobservable

There were no assets or liabilities held as of January 31 2011 measured at fair value on recurring basis

The following table represents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis as of

January 31 2010 and the basis for that measurement

2010 Total Level Level Level

Investments held for deferred compensation plan 321 $321

Commodity hedge liabilities 643 643

F-56



CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FiNANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Dollars in thousands except per share data

23 OTHER EXPENSE NET

Other expense net on the consolidated financial statements consist of

2011 2010 2009

Acceleration of vesting on stock compensation and director fees 1359

Loss on early extinguisment of Ableco term loan 1910

Legal and other professional fees not capitalizeable as part of the Exchange offer 4.987

Gain on supplemental retirement plan termination 1647

Total Other Expenses associated wth Exchange offer b609

Environmental costs closed facilities 1498 463

Gain loss on foreign exchange 84 13 1128

Other 808 166 547

Total Other Expenses 8999 $284 $1675
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CD TECHNOLOGIES INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

for the fiscal years ended January 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands

Additions

Balance Additions Reductions Balance

at Charged to Charged to at End

Beginning Costs Other of

of Period Expenses Accounts Translations Period

Deducted from Assets

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Year ended January 31 2011 $94148 $11508 238 $331 $105563

Year ended January 31 2010 84539 10337 708 20 94148

Year ended January 31 2009 73208 4199 7734 602 84539
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